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IN THE JUDICIAL COMMISSION 
OF NEW SOUTH WALES 
CONDUCT DIVISION 

The Honourable Justice Simpson 
The Honourable D H Lloyd QC 
Mr K Moroney AO 

21 April 2011 

Report of an Inquiry by a Conduct Division of the Judicial Commission of 
NSW in relation to Magistrate Jennifer Betts 

1 On 8 July 2009, pursuant to s 15 of the Judicial Officers Act 1986 ("the 

Act"), Mr Gary I Castle, solicitor, complained to the Judicial Commission of 

NSW phe Commission") about a matter that concerned the ability or 

behaviour of Ms Jennifer Betts, a judicial officer within the meaning of the 

Act (''the Castle complainf'). 

2 On 29 October 2009, Mr Peter Maresch similarly complained to the 

Commission about a matter that concerned the ability or behaviour of the 

same judicial officer ("the Maresch complaint"). 

3 Part 6 of the Act sets out the procedures to be followed when such a 

complaint is made. By s 18 the Commission is to conduct a preliminary 

examination of the complaint, and may initiate such inquiries as it thinks 

appropriate. Thereafter, the options available to the Commission are 

limited, in effect, to three. The Commission may, if of the opinion that one 

or more of the conditions set out in s 20(1) is met, summarily dismiss the 

complaint. 

4 If it does not take that course, it may, pursuant to s 21 (1), refer the 

complaint to the Conduct Division, constituted under s 22. 

5 The third alternative .is provided by s 21 (2). Where a complaint is not 

summarily dismissed under s 20, but the Commission thinks that, although 
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the complaint appears to be wholly or partly substantiated, it does not 

justify the attention of the Conduct Division, it may instead refer the 

complaint to the relevant head of jurisdiction. 

6 On 14 December 2009, the Commission determined that neither complaint 

should be summarily dismissed, and that each be referred, pursuant to s 

21 (1), to the Conduct Division. 

The relevant statutory provisions 

7 Division 3 (of which s 22 is the opening section) and Division 4 of Pt 6 of 

the Act contain provisions regulating the exercise of the functions of the 

Conduct Division. 

8 The following provisions of the Act are relevant: 

• s 13, which provides: 

"13 The Conduct Division 
(1) There shall be a Conduct Division of the Commission. 
(2) The Conduct Division shall have and may exercise the 
functions conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other 
Act. 
(3) The functions of the Conduct Division may be exercised by 
3 persons in accordance with Part 6, and not otherwise. 
(4) Schedule 3 has effect with respect to the procedure of the 
Conduct Division."; 

• s 14, which provides: 

"14 Functions of the Conduct Division 
The functions of the Conduct Division are to examine and deal 
with complaints referred to it under Part 6 and formal requests 
referred to it under Part 6A."; 
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• s 15, which provides: 

"15 Complaints 
(1) Any person may complain to the Commission about a 
matter that concerns or may concern the ability or behaviour of a 
judicial officer. 
(2) The Commission shall not deal with a complaint (otherwise 
than to summarily dismiss it under section 20) unless it appears to 
the Commission that: 
(a) the matter, if substantiated, could justify parliamentary 
consideration of the removal of the judicial officer from office, or 
(b) although the matter, if substantiated, might not justify 
parliamentary consideration of the removal of the judicial officer 
from office; the matter warrants further examination on the ground 
that the rnatter may affect or may have affected the performance 
of judicial or official duties by the officer. 
(3) The Commission shall not deal with a complaint (otherwise 
than to summarily dismiss it under section 20) about: 
(a) a matter arising before the appointment of the judicial 
officer to the judicial office then held, or 
(b) a matter arising before the commencement of this Act, 

unless it appears to the Commission that the matter, if 
substantiated, could justify parliamentary consideration of the 
removal of the officer from office. 
(4) A complaint may be made in relation to a judicial officer's 
competence in performing judicial or official duties, so long as the 
Commission is satisfied as to the matters mentioned in subsection 
(2) (a) or (b). 
(5) A complaint may be made in relation to a matter, and be 
dealt with, even though the matter is already or has been the 
subject of investigation or other action by the Commission or 
Conduct Division or by any other body or person. 
(6) Without limiting the foregoing, a complaint may be made in 
relation to a matter, and be dealt with, even though the matter 
constitutes or may constitute a criminal offence (whether or not 
dealt with, or being dealt With, by a court). 
(7) The Commission or Conduct Division may adjourn 
consideration of any matter if it is being dealt with by a court or for 
any other appropriate reason."; 

• s 20, which sets out the bases on which the Commission is required 

summarily to dismiss a complaint 

triviality, frivolity, ambiguity, or 

unwarranted.); 
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• s 21, which provides: 

"21 Reference of complaint to Conduct Division or head of 
jurisdiction 
(1) A complaint made to the Commission in accordance with 
this Act shall, if it is not summarily dismissed, be referred to the 
Conduct Division. 
(2) The Commission may however refer a complaint to the 
relevant head of jurisdiction if the Commission thinks that, 
although the complaint appears to be wholly or partly 
substantiated, it does not justify the attention of the Conduct 
Division. 
(3) A reference under subsection (2) may include 
recommendations as to what steps might be taken to deal with the 
complaint. "; 

• s 22(1) and s 22(6) which provides: 

"22 Constitution of Conduct Division 
(1) The Commission shall appoint a panel of 3 persons to be 
members of the Conduct Division for the purpose of exercising the 
functions of the Division in relation to a complaint referred to the 
Division." 
(6) One panel may deal with 2 or more complaints, if the 
Commission considers it appropriate in the circumstances."; 

• s 23, which provides: 

"23 Examination of complaint by Conduct Division 
(1) The Conduct Division shall conduct an examination of a 
complaint referred to it. 
(2) In conducting the examination, the Conduct Division may 
initiate such investigations into the sUbject-matter of the complaint 
as it thinks appropriate. 
(3) The examination or investigations shall, as far as 
practicable, take place in private."; 

• sub-s 24(1) and sub-s 24(2), which provide: 

"24 Hearings by Conduct Division 
(1) The Conduct Division may hold hearings in connection with 
the complaint. 
(2) A hearing may be held in public or in private, as the 
Conduct Division may determine."; 
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• s 25(1), which provides; 

"25 Powers of Conduct Division concerning evidence 
(1) For the purposes of a hearing in connection with a 
complaint: 
(a) the Conduct Division and the Chairperson have the 
functions, protections and immunities conferred by the Royal 
Commissions Act 1923 on commissioners and the chairman of a 
commission appointed under that Act, and 
(b) that Act, with any necessary adaptations, applies to any 
witness summoned by or appearing before the Division in the 
same way as it applies to a witness summoned by or appearing 
before a commissioner under that Act."; 

• s 26, which provides: 

"26 Dismissal of complaint by Conduct Division 
The Conduct Division shall dismiss a complaint to the extent that 
the Division is of the opinion that: 
(a) the complaint should be dismissed on any of the grounds 
on which the Commission may summarily dismiss complaints, [see 
s 20] or 
(b) the complaint has not been substantiated."; 

• s 28, which provides: 

"28 Substantiation of complaint 
(1) If the Conduct Division decides that a complaint is wholly or 
partly substantiated: 
(a) it may form an opinion that the matter could justify 

. parliamentary consideration of the removal of the judicial officer 
complained about from office, or 
(b) it may form an opinion that the matter does not justify such 
consideration .and should therefore be referred back to the relevant 
head of jurisdiction. 
(2)· If it forms an opinion referred to in subsection (1) (b), the 
Conduct Division must send a report to the relevant head of 
jurisdiction setting out the Division's conclusions. . 
(3) A report under subsection (2) may include 
recommendations as to what steps might be taken to deal with the 
complaint."; 

• s 29, which provides: 

"29 Reports to Governor 
(1) If the Conduct Division decides that a complaint;s wholly or 
partly substantiated and forms an opinion that the matter could 
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justify parliamentary consideration of the removal of the judicial 
officer from office, it must present to the Governor a report setting 
out the Division's findings of fact and that opinion. 
(2) (Repealed) 
(2A) A copy of the report must be furnished forthwith to the 
Minister. 
(3) The Minister shall lay the report or cause it to be laid before 
both Houses of Parliament as soon as practicable after the report 
is presented to the Governor. 
(4) The Minister may present the report to the Clerks of both 
Houses of Parliament when Parliament is not sitting, and 
thereupon the report shall for all purposes be deemed to have 
been laid before both Houses of Parliament, but the Minister shall 
nevertheless lay the report or cause it to be laid before both 
Houses of Parliament as soon as practicable after Parliament 
resumes. 
(5) A report presented to the Clerk of a House of Parliament 
may be printed by authority of the Clerk of the House and shall for 
all purposes be deemed to be a document published by order or 
under the authority of the House. 
(6) A copy of any report presented to the Governor shall also 
be furnished forthwith to the Commission and, after it has been 
laid before each House of Parliament, to the complainant. 
(7) (Repealed) 
(8) A copy of any report referred to in this section shall also be 
furnished to the judicial officer concerned."; 

• s 31, which provides: 

"31 Extension or partial dismissal of complaint 
(1) In dealing with a complaint about a judicial officer, the 
Commission or Conduct Division is not limited to the matters 
raised initially in the complaint, and the Commission or Division 
may treat the original complaint as extending to other matters 
arising in the course of its being dealt with. 
(2) If, in dealing with a complaint about a judicial officer, 
matters which might constitute grounds for a complaint about 
another judicial officer come to the attention of the Commission or 
Conduct Division, it may treat the original complaint as extending 
to the new matters. 
(3) A power to dismiss a complaint (whether summarily or not) 
includes a power to dismiss a part of a complaint."; 

• s 36, which provides: 

"36 Release of information 
(1) The Conduct Division may give directions preventing or 
restricting the publication of evidence given before the Division or 
of matters contained in documents lodged with the Division. 
(2) A person who makes a publication in contravention of a 
direction under this section is guilty of an offence· punishable, upon 
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conviction, by a fine not exceeding 100 penalty units or 
imprisonment for a period not exceeding one year, or both."; 

• s 41, which provides: 

"41 Removal of judicial officers 
(1) A judicial officer may not be removed from office in the 
absence of a report of the Conduct Division to the Govemor under 
this Act that sets out the Division's opinion that the matters 
referred to in the report could justify parliamentary consideration of 
the removal of the judicial officer on the ground of proved 
misbehaviour or incapacity. 
(2) The provisions of this section are additional to those of 
section 53 of the Constitution Act 1902." 

9 Also relevant is s 53 of the Constitution Act 1902, which provides: 

"53 Removal from judicial office 
(1) No holder of a judicial office can be removed from the 
office, except as provided by this Part. 
(2) The holder of a judicial office can be removed from the 
office by the Governor, on an address from both Houses of 
Parliament iri the same session, seeking removal on the ground of 
proved misbehaviour or incapacity. 
(3) Legislation may lay down additional procedures and 
reqUirements to be complied with before a judicial officer may be 
removed from office. 
(4) This section extends to term appOintments to a judicial 
office, but does not apply to the holder of the office at the expiry of 
such a term. 
(5) This section extends to acting appointments to a judicial 
office, whether made with or without a specific term." 

Section 53 was entrenched in the Constitution Act by referendum in 1995. 

* * * 

10 The power conferred upon the Parliament to remove a judicial officer on 

the relevant grounds is in no way punitive, and the proceedings in the 

Conduct Division are not to be regarded as disciplinary. The jurisdiction is 

entirely protective. It is designed to protect both the public (from judicial 

officers who are guilty of misbehaviour rendering them unfit for office, or 

suffering from incapacity to discharge the duties of office), and of the 

judiciary (from unwarranted intrusions into judicial independence). 
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11 . On 8 February 2010 the Commission appointed a panel of three persons 

to be members of the Conduct Division for the purposes of exercising the 

functions of the Conduct Division in relation to each of the two complaints. 

12 On 8 March 2010, in circumstances and for reasons which it is not 

necessary to explore, the Commission reconstituted the Conduct Division, 

appointing a panel of 3 persons, as follows: 

The Honourable Justice Carolyn Simpson 

The Honourable David Lloyd QC 

Mr Ken Moroney AO 

13 The Crown Solicitor has been appointed to assist the Conduct Division in 

performing its functions. Mr Jeremy Gormly SC, and Ms Gail Furness 

(subsequently SC) were appointed as counsel assisting the Conduct 

Division. Mr Phillip Soulten SC was retained to represent the judicial 

officer, instructed by Messrs McLachlan Thorpe Partners, Lawyers. 

14 From time to time the Conduct Division was provided with information and 

material conceming each complaint. Pursuant to s 23, on the basis of that 

material, it commenced an examination of each complaint. On 13 May 

2010 pursuant to s 24, it decided to hold a hearing in connection with the 

complaints. On 25 January 2011, pursuant to s 24(2), it determined that 

the hearing would be held in private. Pursuant to s 36, it gave directions 

preventing or restricting the publication of evidence given before the 

Conduct Division or of matters contained in documents lodged with the 

Conduct Division. Those restrictions remain current unless and until, 

pursuant to s 29(3), this report is laid before the Houses of Parliament. 

15 The judicial officer was notified that, pursuant to s 31, the Conduct Division 

had determined to treat the original complaints as extending to other 

matters which had earlier arisen. .Initially, objection was taken on her 

behalf to that course, but the objection was withdrawn. In addition to the 
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Castle and Maresch complaints, the Conduct Division considered 

complaints that had earlier been made by Mr Jack O'Regan and Ms Julie 

Passas ("the O'Regan/Passas complainf') and by Mr Richard Farago ("the 

Farago complaint"). Each of these had previously been considered by the 

Commission. Pursuant to s 20(1)(h), the O'Regan/Passas complaint had 

been dismissed; pursuant to s 21(2), the Farago complaint had been 

referred to the Chief Magistrate. Each of the four complaints concerned 

the manner in which the judicial officer conducted certain proceedings in 

the Local Court. 

16 The O'Regan/Passas complaint and the Maresch complaint were 

formulated by individuals not legally qualified, and were in somewhat 

diffuse terms. In order to afford the judicial officer procedural fairness, the 

Crown Solicitor and counsel assisting the Conduct Division particularised 

each of the four complaints, specifying with some precision what was 

alleged to be the proper characterisation of each instance of conduct 

under consideration. 

17 On 25 January 2011, the hearing commenced, with the Conduct Division 

receiving evidence provided to it by counsel assisting, and evidence 

provided on behalf of the judicial officer. In accordance with arrangements 

previously made, the Conduct Division then adjourned the hearing to the 

week commencing 21 March 2011. That was done to enable the judicial 

officer to undertake a course of medical treatment previously 

foreshadowed, and thereafter to provide evidence concerning her capacity 

to discharge the functions of a judicial officer. 

18 The evidence provided to the Conduct Division consisted of a bulky folder 

of agreed documents, a statement sworn by the judicial officer (together 

with significant additional documents), sworn statements made by two 

serving magistrates (Mr Dennis Burdett and Mr Anthony Marsden) and one 

retired magistrate (Mr Peter Norton), and reports of Dr Jonathan Phillips 

and Dr Peter Klug. In addition, the judicial officer, Dr Phillips, Dr Klug and 

. Mr Marsden gave oral evidence. Further documents were tendered during 
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the hearing, and were marked as exhibits. The folder of material included 

both transcripts and sound recordings of each of the proceedings in 

question. 

19 Pursuant to s 23(2) of the Act, and after the first day of hearing, and thus 

having heard the sound recordings of each of the four hearings, the 

Conduct Division initiated a further investigation. This was largely to 

obtain some indication of the extent to which these four instances were 

representative of the judicial officer's conduct, or were aberrational. The 

investigation consisted of a random sampling of sound recordings of 

hearings over which the judicial officer has presided. The Conduct 

Division has not itself listened to any of the sound recordings. Instead, 

counsel assisting, and senior counsel who represented the judicial officer, 

listened to that random selection of sound recordings. An Agreed 

Statement of Supplementary Facts was put before the Conduct Division, 

which is relevantly in the following terms: 

"Some tapes of full days' proceedings were reviewed from March, 
May and to July 2008 at Ryde Local Court and tapes of full days' 
proceedings were reviewed from 10 February 2010, 10 March 
2010 and 5 May 2010. at Parramatta Local Court. No substantial 
departures from acceptable judicial conduct were revealed by the 
review. The Magistrate worked diligently in order to deal with the 
matters before her and, in a number of matters heard in the three 
days in 2010, she demonstrated sensitivity and understanding of a 
high order." (Ex C) 

* * * 

20 It will be necessary shortly to tum to the detail of the complaints and the 

evidence. Before doing so, however, it is convenient to note the potential 

outcomes of the Inquiry. The first task of the Conduct Division is to 

determine whether or not the complaints are (or, in this case, any of them 

is) wholly or partly substantiated. If any is not substantiated, the Conduct 

Division is obliged to dismiss that complaint or part thereof (s 26(b)). The 

Conduct Division is also obliged to dismiss a complaint if it is of the opinion 
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that it should be dismissed on any of the grounds, specified in s 20, on 

which the Commission may summarily dismiss a complaint. 

21 Sections 28 and 29 are of importance. Paraphrased, they provide that, (i) 

where the Conduct Division finds that a complaint is wholly or partly 

substantiated, but forms the opinion that (notwithstanding that the 

complaint is substantiated) the matter does not justify Parliamentary 

consideration of the removal of the judicial officer from office, and should 

therefore be referred back to the relevant head of jurisdiction, it must send 

a report to that person, setting out its conclusions, which may include 

recommendations as to what steps might be taken to deal with the 

complaint; (ii) where, however, having found the complaint substantiated, it 

forms the further opinion that the matter could justify Parliamentary 

consideration of the removal of the judicial officer from office, it must 

present to the Governor a report setting out its findings of fact and that 

opinion, and provide a copy of that report to the Minister (the Attorney 

General), the Commission and the judicial officer. 

22 The Act does not specify in what circumstances a complaint may be found 

to be substantiated. 

23 The references in s 28 and s 29 to "Parliamentary consideration of removal 

of the judicial officer ... from office" are references to the very limited 

circumstances in, and the equally limited bases upon, which a judicial 

officer may be removed from office. These derive from s 53 of the 

Constitution Act, set out above. 

24 As provided by s 41 (2) of the Act, the provisions concerning removal of a 

judicial officer contained in s 41 (1). are additional to the Constitutional 

provision. That means that s 53 cannot be invoked unless and until a 

Conduct Division of the Commission has made a finding, under s 28 of the 

Act, that the matter could justify parliamentary consideration of the removal 

of the judicial officer from office. 
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25 In accordance with s 28 and s 29 of the Act, if the Conduct Division were 

to find anyone or more of the present complaints wholly or partly 

substantiated, it would then be necessary for it to consider further whether 

or not the circumstances are such as to warrant consideration by 

Parliament of an address to the Govemor, seeking removal of the judicial 

officer from office, on the basis of either or both of proved misbehaviour or 

incapacity. Thus, the Act distinguishes between substantiation of a 

complaint, and a finding that the circumstances are such as to warrant 

Parliamentary consideration of the exercise of the powers conferred by s 

53. The Act gives no direction as to what amounts to sUbstantiation of a 

complaint. 

26 Put more simply, the effect of s 29 of the Act in combination with s 53 of 

the Constitution Act is that the question the Conduct Division must 

determine is whether, on the basis of the facts found, the circumstances 

are capable of establishing misbehaviour or incapacity (or both) warranting 

or justifying removal from office. In considering that question it is well for 

the Conduct Division to bear in mind that: 

"The independence of the judiciary is, to a very substantial degree, 
dependent upon the maintenance of a system in which the 
removal of a judicial officer from office is an absolutely 
extraordinary occurrence.": 

The Honourable Justice Vince Bruce v The Honourable Terence Cole 

(1998) 45 NSWLR 163 at 166E. 

The relevant facts 

27 The judicial officer is a magistrate of the Local Court. For the balance of 

this report she will be referred to as "the magistrate". She was appointed 

to that position in October 1994, and has held office continuously since 

that date. She has served in a variety of locations performing all of the 

functions of a Local Court magistrate. 
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Personal circumstances 

28 The magistrate's response to the complaints depended heavily upon her 

personal circumstances over a number of years. It is therefore necessary 

to deal, in some detail, with those circumstances. 

29 The magistrate was bom on 9 July 1955. She is now 55 years of age. 

She has a 17 year old son, bom in 1993. After a history of working in 

various capacities in the law, including 2"'h ye.ars in Hong Kong (1992-

1994), she was appointed to the magistracy on 24 October 1994. She has 

served in that role since, in various locations. On her appointment she 

was allocated to the Burwood Local Court. 

30 At the end of 1995, she became aware that she was in need of assistance 

in coping with single motherhood and a challenging career. She suffered 

significant anxiety. She sought medical advice and was prescribed an 

anti-depressant, and also consulted a psychologist. This was not the first 

time she had done so. She had consulted both a psychologist and a 

psychiatrist in Hong Kong and was prescribed short-term medication (see 

report of Dr Phillips, para 92). She continued to take medication as 

prescribed from 1995 until the end of 2008, when, without medical advice 

or supervision, she began "weaning herself off" it. By January 2009she 

had ceased taking any medication. 

31 In 2002, while presiding at the Bankstown Local Court, she was subject to 

a death threat, which was treated as credible. In June 2009 an uncle was 

killed in a motor vehicle accident in particularly distressing circumstances. 

The magistrate suffered numerous symptoms following this event. 

32 In February 2007 the magistrate was allocated to the Ryde Local Court. 

The court sat three days each week. It was a busy court. Security was· 

minimal, and some incidents occurred. The workload at the court was 

heavy. 
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33 On occasions the magistrate has encountered verbal aggression from 

litigants. It appears that she has also encountered some difficulties in 

relating to professional colleagues. 

34 In evidence was a history, provided by the current Chief Magistrate, 

recording occasions on, and circumstances in, which successive Chief 

Magistrates had felt it necessary to counsel the magistrate. Several of 

these involve what was repeatedly described as "unapproved" absence 

. from judicial education functions which were said to be "mandatory". On 

each of these occasions, the magistrate was debited with recreation leave, 

or was retrospectively granted leave without pay. On another occasion, 

the Chief Magistrate had cause to speak to the magistrate about a 

complaint by another magistrate about her behaviour, specifically bad 

language used in common areas and in front of staff. 

35 At the request of the Conduct Division, and by agreement between the 

legal representatives, the magistrate was comprehensively examined by a 

psychiatrist, Dr Jonathan Phillips. In a report dated 25 October 2010, Dr 

Phillips recommended that the magistrate undertake a course of treatment 

with a consultant psychiatrist expert in managing workplace problems. 

The magistrate accepted that advice and embarked on a course of 

treatment with Dr Peter Klug, who has also provided a comprehensive 

report. 

36 It was in order to enable that treatment to be given that the hearing was 

adjourned in January, until March. It is convenient here to detail some of 

the results of the psychiatric examinations. 

37 Following his consultations with the magistrate which took place over two 

days in August and September 2010, Dr Phillips reported to the Crown 

Solicitor. At that time, he considered that the magistrate was "moderately 

depressed" and "moderately anxious", and initially withdrawn. 
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38 . Dr Phillips saw his task as being to determine why the magistrate had 

acted in an "unprofessional" manner on the four occasions in question; he 

considered it vital to determine whether she was suffering from a 

diagnosable psychiatric disorder, whether she had done so in the past, 

and whether she had a personality trait dysfunction or a frank personality 

disorder, and whether there were other factors that might explain the 

manner in which she related to others. 

39 Dr PhiJIips concluded that he did not have sufficient information to 

determine whether the magistrate suffered any recognisable psychiatric 

disorder while in Hong Kong, but concluded that, if she did, it was of 

relatively low intensity, brief, and in circumstances of stress. 

40. He considered that the history showed that the magistrate began to 

experience psychiatric symptoms and stress in 1995, and that these were 

of a depressive nature. 

41 Dr Phillips considered (para 103) that there was little doubt that the 

magistrate suffered increasing depression spectrum symptoms during 

2009, possibly as a consequence of failing to take anti-depressant 

medication. The fact that she had responded positively to a particular drug 

suggested strongly that there were biological underpinnings to her 

depressive disorder. He considered it unlikely that she developed any 

significant abnormality of personality function and stated "with certainty" 

that she does not have any currently diagnosable personality disorder. 

42 He did consider that the issue of "professional bumout" called for attention. 

He thought that the demands of the busy Local Court system, from which. 

the magistrate had never had a major break, had had a significant impact 

on her psychological health. 

43 He considered (at para 112) that there was strong clinical evidence of an 

adjustment disorder with depressive mood, chronic type. He considered 

(para 117) that there was a causal connection between her psychological 
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condition and her conduct. In those circumstances Dr Phillips made the 

recommendation for psychiatric treatment to which reference has already 

been made. 

44 Dr Klug reported on 18 March 2011. He had access to Dr Phillips' first 

report. The history taken by Dr Klug was substantially in accordance with 

that taken by Dr Phillips. Dr Klug's view was that the magistrate: 

" has probably suffered from a recurrent adjustment disorder 
with mixed features of anxiety and depression which has followed 
a course of exacerbations and remissions." (p 5) 

He said that an adjustment disorder, although a major mood disturbance, 

is nevertheless a significant psychiatric entity characterised by excessive 

. distress and/or dysfunction in response to specific stressors. In later re­

stating his opinion, he added the word "chronic" to the diagnosis. 

45 Dr Klug's opinion, as the Conduct Division perceives (and as he did also) 

is completely consistent with the findings of Dr Phillips. 

The complaints 

46 There is little, if any, dispute about the primary facts. After the decision of 

the Conduct Division under s 31 to treat the complaints as extending to 

other matters, four separate instances of conduct by the magistrate were 

considered. Each involves the conduct of the magistrate in the hearing of 

matters that had come before her. Each was sound recorded, and the 

recordings were available to the Conduct Division. It is convenient to deal 

with them in chronological order. 
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(i) the O'Regan/Passas complaint (August 2003) 

Background 

47 On 7 March 2003 an Apprehended Violence Order was made in the 

Burwood Local Court, by consent, against Ms Julie Passas and in favour 

of Ms Emma Brooks-Maher. Ms Passas and Ms Brooks-Maher were both 

local government councillors. It appears that local police acted on behalf 

of Ms Brooks-Maher. It also appears that Ms Pass as was then legally 

represented. The magistrate was not involved in the making of that order. 

The proceedings the subject of the complaint 

48 On 15 August 2003 Ms Passas made an application for revocation of the 

Apprehended Violence Order. On this occasion she appeared 

unrepresented. Ms Brooks-Maher, who contested the application for 

revocation, was legally represented, by a Mr McLaughlin. The transcript of 

the proceedings makes it plain that the magistrate had, and had' read, a 

document outlining the grounds upon which Ms Passas sought revocation. 

It may be inferred that the magistrate took the view that what were 

identified as grounds for revocation were more appropriate to an 

application for an order in favour of Ms Passas against Ms Brooks-Maher. 

She asked Ms Passas if she had sought to take out any complaint, to 

which Ms Passas replied: 

"Your Worship, I don't know if you are aware I'm a Local 
Government Councillor and it's been very stressful --" 

The magistrate interrupted and told Ms Pass as that she was not 

concerned with her position, she wanted to know on what basis she was 

making the application for revocation. She asked again if she had 

considered taking out her own complaint. There was some discussion 

which it is not necessary here to record. Ms Pass as said that she had 

proof that Ms Brooks-Maher had no reason to fear her and then made 
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mention of the fact that police had taken out the interim Order, but had 

ceased their involvement. She said she had spent thousands of dollars 

and was "in the hands of the court". She said that she had a witness 

present, and that she had paperwork from police officers that should prove 

that Ms Brooks-Maher was dishonest and had no fear of Ms Passas. 

49 Mr McLaughlin intervened and made some submissions, and the 

magistrate then spoke again directly to Ms Passas. After making some 

other submissions, Ms Passas asked, rhetorically, why the police had 

"washed their hands of the issue". The magistrate replied: 

"Probably because they have better things to do Ms Passas." 

50 After another brief exchange, the magistrate said: 

"Look, I'm not here to answer your questions. This is not a 
government forum; okay?" 

51 Ms Passas asked who would answer the questions, to which the 

magistrate replied: 

"Just listen to me ma'am. I'm suggesting your grounds for 
revocation do not comply with what is required. There's no 
change' in circumstances; okay? The incident complained of is 
nothing. If you have genuine concerns about the other lady, you 
can take out your own complaint." 

52 Ms Passas said that she was not afraid of Ms Brooks-Maher, and that she 

had a witness present. She said again that Ms Brooks-Maher had no fear 

of her. The magistrate said: 

"Ma'am, the complaint originally was admitted or --" 

53 Ms Passas interrupted, saying "without --"; it may be inferred that she 

wished to point out to the magistrate that consent was given to the making 

of the Order but without admissions. The magistrate said: 
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"Listen to me, please. Don't butt in, I know, without admissions of 
any liability or fault by you, you consented to an order for --" 

54 The magistrate then referred to the order that had been made, which, she 

said, was in force for 12 months from the date it was made. Ms Passas 

said: 

"So, your Worship, she can follow me and come to me where I am. 
Where is the fear? This is not the Australia I know. This is not the 
justice that I was brought up with. Thank you, your Worship." 

The magistrate said: 

"Look, there's no votes to be gained by making your little speech 
from your platform there, ma'am." 

55 Ms Passas complained that she had not been given the opportunity to 

provide her evidence. The magistrate interrupted and said: 

"I have not dealt with the matter, ma'am. Do you wish to hear me 
further, or do you wish to make another political statement?" 

56 Ms Passas said it was not a political statement. The magistrate said: 

"If you want to whinge, you whinge outside. I've got many people 
here I have to deal with --

I resent spending one more second on your matter. You have not 
outlined sufficient grounds, no change of circumstances." 

57 Ms Passas said that she had no legal experience, and the magistrate 

dismissed the application for revocation. 

58 Ms Passas asked for the opportunity to ask why the order was taken out or 

to show proof of her assertion that Ms Brooks-Maher had no fear of her. 

The magistrate said: 

"Ma'am, get out of this courtroom, ma'am, please. It is not my 
function to do all that; okay?" 
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59 Mr McLaughlin asked to be heard, to which the magistrate replied that she 

declined to make any application (sic) in relation to costs. 

60 At that point a Mr O'Regan, who, presumably, had been seated in the 

court, said: 

''You've been denied justice." 

61 The, magistrate ordered him to "come back here" and asked who he was. 

He gave his name as "Jack O'Regan"; the magistrate asked him to repeat 

what he had said. Mr O'Regan said: 

"And I'm disgusted to see the way that lady had been treated. She 
came here to present a case on her own. She got no help and she 

" 

62 The magistrate told him that she suggested that before anybody came into 

court, they should take appropriate legal advice. She asked Mr O'Regan if 

he had any legal training; he said he did not but that he had "a good sense 

of justice". The magistrate said: 

"Well, make sure you get your' facts right in relation to it. The 
matter has been determined because there's no proper ground as 
in accordance with the legislation. Your friend --" 

63 Ms Passas said that the magistrate had not allowed the grounds to be 

submitted. Mr O'Regan began to say something else. The magistrate 

ordered him to go downstairs to get somebody to try to explain "to these 

people who are holding up this court". She then said: 

"Otherwise I'll have you both charged with'contempt of this court." 

64 The full transcript of the proceedings, together with the sound recording, is 

Annexure A to this report. 

65 The first complaint that was made. about this matter was made by Mr 

O'Regan on 16 August 2003. He wrote to "Chief Magistrate" at the 
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Burwood Local Court. In his initial paragraph he somewhat misstated the 

facts, but not in any way that bears upon the present issues. Among other 

things, Mr O'Regan wrote: 

"I felt that the brutal way Julie Passas was treated, and the way 
things were changed around in Emma Brooks-Maher's favour, was 
contrary to expected courtesies, help and Justice. This complaint 
is limited to the way Julie Passas was treated." 

On 20 July 2004, Mr O'Regan made a further complaint, along the same 

lines. 

66 On 21 July 2004 Ms Passas also made a complaint, on a form provided by 

the Commission. (It is reasonable to infer that she had previously 

complained in some other form.) 

67 It is unnecessary to reproduce the terms of those complaints. 

68 At a meeting of 11 October 2004, the Commission determined, pursuant to 

s 20(1)(h) of the Act, that each complaint be summarily dismissed. 

(ii) the Farago complaint (June 2007) 

Background 

69 This complaint concerns a hearing that took place on 22 June 2007. A Ms 

Claire Simpson was charged with negligent driving. She was represented 

by a solicitor, Mr Richard Farago. It was Mr Farago's intention to argue 

that the driving by Ms Simpson that gave rise to the charge took place on 

private property and not, as was essential for the charge to succeed, on a 

road or "road related area". The argument he proposed to put involved 

questions of legal principle and precedent. 

70 In fact, the matter first came before the magistrate on 1 June 2007, when 

Mr Farago announced his appearance and explained the nature of the . 
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defence. The magistrate asked Mr Farago if he had any legal authority for 

the point he wished to make. He said that he did, but that he did not then 

have spare copies. The magistrate then said: 

"If you're able to get copies before the next occasion." (emphasis 
added) 

to which Mr Farago replied that he would do so. The magistrate then listed 

the matter for 22 June. 

The proceedings the subject of the complaint 

71 On 22 June, the transcript records, the proceedings opened with the 

magistrate saying: 

''The matter was adjourned to today. Legal argument was 
foreshadowed in relation to the question of rove (Sic - road) 
related area. I requested that any submissions to be relied upon 
to be forwarded to the court well before today. I don't consider 
1.34 yesterday being well before today." (emphasis added) 

Mr Farago said that he did not recall the words "well before today". The 

magistrate then said: 

"Well let's think of it. I sat till quarter past five yesterday ... And 
nothing was sent to the prosecution at all." 

The magistrate asked why not; Mr Farago said that he had copies for the 

prosecution. The transcript records that the magistrate then said: 

"You expect them to spend time today when she's got another 
hearing as well. It's just general courtesy. This has been 
foreshadowed since 1 June. It's been from the outset, rove (sic -
road) related area ... you know that's been foreshadowed and I 
get this when I leave last night. I took it home, read it in my own 
time. The prosecutor was handed a copy by me at 11.30 because 
she hadn't heard anything and now you're going to now expect me 
to make a ruling on it. Buckley's and none, I can tell you now. It's 
not good enough - professional courtesies ... I'm going to start Mr 
Stewart's matter then I'll get on to yours; okay?" 
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72 Mr Farago said that the authorities would normally be handed up at the 

hearing, but the magistrate had asked for them earlier. The magistrate 

replied: 

"Yes I know I asked for them so we can try and save time today, 
because I am not a machine. I work every day. 9.30 I started 
today, when am I supposed to consider this. If you fax it through 
yesterday at 1.30 and I sat till quarter past five last night. When is 
the prosecution going to have time to consider what you've written 
if you're going to throw it.in front of her face at 12 o'clock today. 
So I'm asking any practitioner if they're going to rely on law to give 
the courtesy to the court and to the other side whoever it is, 
likewise the prosecution, if they're relying on any legal argument to 
provide the court with a copy and the other side well before the 

. hearing dates, so court time does not need to be taken up with off 
the bench in my chambers for five hours okay. That's the point I 
was making." 

The full transcript of the proceedings, together with the sound recording, is 

. Annexure B to this report. 

73 It is noted that, when the argument proceeded, the magistrate accepted 

the submissions made by Mr Farago and dismissed the charge against Ms 

Simpson. 

74 By letter dated 4 October 2007 Mr Farago complained to the Commission. 

He enclosed a copy of the transcript of 22 June. He said that, as soon as 

the matter was called on, the magistrate's attitude was "immediately 

aggressive" and that she raised the issue of· having received the 

authorities only the day before. He said that she would not listen to his 

explanation. He said that when the matter was reached, the magistrate 

maintained her "initial belligerence" towards him. He said that he felt the 

way she behaved towards him was: 

" ... an unwarranted abuse of her position and extremely unhelpful 
to the perception of a client whose expectation of a judicial officer 
was for that person to behave in a civilised and courteous 
manner." 
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He said that the delay in making the complaint was occasioned by delay in 

obtaining the transcript. 

75 In accordance with s 18 of the Act the Commission conducted a 

preliminary examination of the matters of which complaint was made. It 

determined that the complaint should not be dismissed, but be referred, 

pursuant to s 21 (2), to the relevant head of jurisdiction, the Chief 

Magistrate of the Local Court. Both Mr Farago and the magistrate were 

notified of this decision. The Chief Magistrate spoke at length with the 

magistrate concerning the findings of the Commission. 

(iii) the Castle complaint (June 2009) 

Background 

76 The Castle complaint concerns a hearing in the Local Court at Ryde which 

took place on Friday, 29 June 2009. The proceeding was an appeal 

brought by Ms Amy Cooper, then 18 years of age, under cI 18(1)(c) of the 

Road Transport (General) Regulation 2005 against the suspension of her 

provisional driving licence. She was represented by Mr Castle, a solicitor. 

Suspension had followed automatically upon Ms Cooper having been 

detected twice, within the space of a month, exceeding the speed limit. On 

each occasion, the offence had occasioned the accumulation of demerit 

points; on one occasion, because it occurred during a holiday period, the 

demerit points otherwise applicable were doubled. Since Ms Cooper's 

licence was a provisional one, the second offence resulted in its automatic 

suspension. The Road Transport (General) Regulation 2005 permits a 

driver subject to automatic suspension to appeal against the suspension, 

and confers a discretion upon a magistrate to confirm or disallow the 

suspension. This was the appeal before the magistrate the subject of the 

proceedings that give rise to the Castle complaint. 
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The proceedings the subject of the complaint 

77 The proceedings commenced with Mr Castle announcing his appearance, 

and telling the magistrate that his client requested referral to a programme 

called Traffic Offenders' Rehabilitation Program. Her Honour replied in 

terms that are indistinct on the sound recording, but which caused Mr 

Castle then to request an adjournment for two weeks. The magistrate did 

not respond to that application. Mr Castle told the magistrate that his client 

had "fairly pressing reasons" for needing her licence. He said that, if the 

magistrate was not prepared to adjoum, he was "happy" to have the matter 

dealt with then. The magistrate said that she would hear evidence from 

Ms Cooper, and then "may consider any further application that Mr Castle 

might make". 

78 As Ms Cooper was called to the witness box, Mr Castle asked if he could 

tender some "testimonials". The magistrate said "not at the moment", and 

swore Ms Cooper. 

79 Thereafter, as the sound recording demonstrates, the magistrate engaged 

in what can only and fairly be described as domineering and bullying 

behaviour. 

80 After Ms Cooper was sworn and identified, Mr Castle began his 

examination in chief. It was immediately taken over by the magistrate, 

who interrupted Ms Cooper in virtually every answer. It is unnecessary to 

reproduce the whole of the exchange. (A full transcript is annexed to this 

report.) Some extracts will give the flavour (all questions were asked by 

the magistrate): 

"[p 5/130] 
Q. 97 in an 80 is what the camera got you at, okay. Those 
signs clearly say 80. Did you see the signs? 
A. I don't know. 

Q. Of course .you didn't. You don't know that you saw the 
signs. You have to establish evidence to my satisfaction that you 
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are a fit and proper person to have a licence. The explanation for 
this does not cut it, okay? 
A. Okay. 

Q. All right? 
A. Yes. 

Q. You can't use the cruise control defence because there 
isn't one there. You are the one who has the control of the 
vehicle. Okay, you are now in the city. Get the cruise control off. 
You are the one who can see the speedometer right in front of 
you. You are the one who has your eyes opening out to see what 
the speed limit signs are because they do change, especially on 
major roads like that, from 100 to 110 to 100 to 80 to 90 whatever. 
A. .I'm not allowed to do 110. 

[p6/117] . 
Q. You are the one that has lodged an appeal. You have to 
establish that you are a fit and proper person to have your licence 
restored to you. 
A. I am a fit and proper person. 

Q. No, you're not. I'm saying (indistinct) on one offence, okay. 
You've got two speeding offences within a month of one another. 
A. Okay. 

[p 7/14] 
Q. It's not good, is it? 5.04pm on Saturday,the 11th of April, 
Victoria Road, Rydalmere, 79 in a 60 zone. What the hell is going 
on there? 
A. Okay. The road on Parramatta changes from a 60 zone to 
a 70 zone. 

Q. It is never a 79 zone, is it? Or an 80 zone, is it? Do you 
agree with that? 
A. May I continue? 

[133] 
Q. That's half a kilometre. You've got no idea about the road 
rules, do you, ma'am? You've got no idea that your responsibility 
is to ensure that you and only you comply with the road rules when 
you are behind the wheel of your car. It is not a hill, like you're 
gOing to be racing down there. It's a slight slope, okay. Now, 79 -
81 to 79 is what the police got you at, okay. They put 79 on the 
ticket, the lesser amount. That's still way above the 70 zone if you 
thought it was a 70 zone, right. That's a 60 zone, the area in 
which you were caught speeding. (Indistinct) 70 zone, 500 metres 
up the road. That's a half kilometre. That does not condone your 
actions. Why weren't you in a position to understand you were 
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travelling at 79? Once again, ignoring the signs; you didn't see the 
60 zone sign. They are there. 
A. 

[p 8/122J 
Q. I don't give a licence back to young people because they 
want to have' it back for .their own convenience. You've got to 
demonstrate why - there's nothing exceptional in any of these 
offences. I n fact, your explanation leaves a lot to be desired. It 
clearly demonstrates to me you just don't have a clue about your 
responsibilities, okay. Why do you need a licence? 
A. Because I've lots of responsibility. I help out --

Q. Don't we all? Don't we all? You've got two speeding 
offences within one month of each other very early in your driving 
career. That's not good enough. What do you do for a living? 
A. I look after children. 

[p 10/117J 
Q. Once again it's another difficulty you have created for 
yourself. Why do we have a demerit point system, ma'am? You 
teli me. 
A. To ensure - well, I think first of all most - it's a revenue 
raising thing, but to make sure --

Q. No, no, no. Exactly. Mr Castle has put his head in his 
hand. That's a disgusting response. That's the newspaper 
response, okay. You've committed two offences. Why shouldn't 
you pay a fine for committing those two offences --
A. I agree--

Q. Shut-up, please, ma'am. I'm going to talk to you now and 
you listen hard. That response is another .black mark against you, 
okay - 'Revenue raising'. That is the most ridiculous thing any 
person can say to anybody else. All right? Why, in smaller 
pOints? (sic) I will tell you. It's pretty simple. To act as some sort 
of checking mechanism for all of us to ensure that we keep to the 
road rules when we are behind the wheel of a car, to make sure 
we're going to be safe drivers, and if we're not safe drivers, if we 
inadvertently are not concentrating and have one offence, we'll 
have three points deducted, or whatever the points are. And then 
we know 'Okay, for me I've got nine more to go. I must make sure 
- my licence is very important to me. I must make sure I do not 
lose it. But more importantly, I don't want to kill somebody out 
there on the road.' That's the reason why we have demerit points, 
okay. Do you understand now? Forget about revenue raising; 
that's a disgusting response. Gee, if I had the power to increase it, 
I WOUld. Three months' inconvenience, and you think you're God's 
gift, do you? 
A. No, I don't. . 
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Q. Well why are you here wasting my time, because that's 
exactly what you are doing. You've got no idea. You have clearly 
demonstrated that by your own answers you've got no idea why 
we have road rules. You seem to think you're exceptional. You're 
not. 
A. I don't. 

Q. You're explanations are pitiful. I don't mean to embarrass 
you, but they are pitiful, and that answer there, I think everybody 
wa" thinking 'My god, what is this young lady doing? Putting 
herself deeper and deeper in a ditch?' Exactly, you don'!. Okay, 
so you work at Gladesville. You live at Linley Point, so that's not a 
massive journey. Okay, church commitments; unfortunately other 
people are going to have to help you out there. You don't deserve 
to be on the road. And hopefully you are going to learn how 
important your licence is to you, which obviously didn't think about 
on 14th of March when you had your cruise control on gOing 
through the Eastern Distributor, or did you, on Victoria Road at 
Rydalmere, think about the consequences of the possibility of 
losing your licence? Double demerit points. You were aware of 
that. It was Easter time. 

[p 12119J 
Q. It is a bus trip away. You might have to get two buses -
get the bus from Linley Point down Burns Bay Road into 
Gladesville street, Hunters Hill, then you hop on the 506. Easy. 
Fair dinkum. If you were born 80 years ago you'd have to walk 20 
miles to school every day. Gosh knows how you're going to be 
treated. 
A. At ah, night-time, late at night, there is no public transport--

Q. There's a train, isn't there? 
A. -- at 11 o'clock at night. 

Q. Yeah, I know, but other arrangements have to be made. 
You have - you knew about all these commitments when you 
blatantly drove well in excess of the speed limit .. , You knew full 
well of your commitments and you didn't care, you didn't think of 
them and now you're asking me to think of them. No, I'm not 
gOing to, because I have no guarantee you're not going to 
continue to offend again because you just think 'revenue raising'. 
That's a pitiful response. 
A. They are there to protect us, but I believe that the demerit 
point system --

Q. Shut your mouth because I don't think it's going to do any 
good. Mr Castle is really aiming for you to be quiet. You have 
your own views on that. The speed cameras are there. They do 
pick up people who offend who breach the law. 
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[p 14/122J 
[Q.J Now why is it that young people seem to think that since 
they live one suburb away from where they work that that 
inconvenience is going to be too great for them to bear? Welcome 
to the real world. We are spoilt, this generation, very, very spoilt. 
She seems to think she is hard done by by incurring 9 points - 'it's 
the car's fault', 'it's the hill', 'huge hill in Victoria Road'; I don't think 
so. That's never going to be an explanation. "Double demerit 
paints - she was aware of it. It was Easter time. No merit 
whatsoever. 

[p 15/18J 
HER HONOUR: She'll have to arrange somebody else to 
drive the car. It's taking place as of now, 5 to 10. 
MR CASTLE: As you please, your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: Ms Cooper, where did you park your car? 
We'll escort you to make sure you don't drive it. 

" 

Although these extracts give some sense of the nature of the hearing, a 

full appreciation can only be gained by listening to the tape recording. The 

complete transcript, together with the sound recording, is Annexure C to 

this report. 

81 Mr Castle's initial written complaint included the following: 

"At the outset, when I mentioned my appearance, [the magistrateJ 
made it known, without hearing any representations from me 
and/or evidence by client that it was extremely unlikely that the 
appeal would be successful. 

[The magistrateJ refused my client's application for enrolment in 
the Traffic Offender's Rehabilitation Program and when I, on 
behalf of my client, requested an adjournment for two weeks, [the 
magistrateJ made it known to me in no uncertain respect that my 
client's application had no prospect of success unless my client 
could satisfy her that, having regard to the circumstances in 
relation to my client's accumulation of demerit points, the appeal 
should be allowed. 

Whilst my client was in the witness box, [the magistrate J 
harangued and bullied my client and on separate occasions told 
her to 'shut up' and to 'shut your mouth'. 
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[The magistrate] severely berated my client for a response to a 
question posed to her by the Magistrate as to the reason for the 
existence of double demerit weekends. My client's response was, 
'revenue raising' which given, may not have been the response 
that the Magistrate was looking for, was a truthful response in 
circumstances where my client was under oath. 

Further, my client gave evidence of her requirement for a driving 
license (sic) in order to travel to work and attend at university, [the 
magistrate] offhandedly dismissed my client's sworn testimony 
stating, contrary to my client's evidence, that there was adequate 
public transport, in circumstances where the Magistrate clearly 
could not have known the frequency and times that my client was 
required to travel in order to meet her work and study 
commitments. 

Further, as my client was entering the witness box, I offered to 
tender some character references, which included a reference 
from an ernployer stating my client was likely to lose her job if she 
lost her license (sic). [The magistrate] refused the tender of those 
references at that stage and then dismissed the appeal without 
seeking their tender. 

In my view, my client was not only denied natural justice in being 
refused the opportunity to have her appeal heard in a fair and 
unbiased manner, but was subjected by [the magistrate] to the 
most outrageous abuse and bullying from the Bench that it has 
ever been my misfortune to. encounter. 

As an indication of the measure of the abuse and intimidation my 
client suffered in the witness box, two legal practitioners ... 
followed me out of Court and expressed their outrage at [the 
magistrate's] treatment of my client and urged, notwithstanding my 
resolve in any event to do so, that I lodge a formal complaint with 
the Commission ... " 

The description of the hearing given by Mr Castle is entirely supported by 

the sound recording. 

(iv) the Maresch complaint (October 2009) 

Background 

82 Mr Maresch had been issued with a Parking Infringement Notice by the 

Lane Cove Council. The infringement alleged was "stop in Loading Zone". 
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83 On 3 September 2009, in accordance with streamlining procedures 

established in the Local Court, Mr Maresch filed a "written notice of 

pleading" (Ex E) signifying his intention of pleading not guilty to the charge. 

84 Mr Maresch was not asked to, and did not, indicate on the form the nature 

of the defence he proposed to raise. The magistrate listed the matter for 9 

October. Mr Maresch appeared unrepresented. 

85 The magistrate had presided over many such matters, and was aware of 

the practice of the Council, which was, in parking matters, to photograph 

the allegedly offending vehicle. She anticipated that a photograph would 

be available, which would, or might, prove the offence, and prompt Mr 

Maresch to reconsider his plea of not gUilty. 

The proceedings the subject of the complaint 

86 The proceedings on 9 October opened with the Sergeant (presumably a 

police prosecutor) saying that the matter had been put over for the 

prosecution to obtain photographs which had been requested but not yet 

provided. The magistrate told Mr Maresch that she understood that he 

was intending to plead not guilty and that she had brought him to court 

because she thought that the Council had a photograph of him (his 

vehicle) in the loading zone. She said: 

"Now, Mr Maresch, the photograph has been taken, but it's not 
with the prosecution file. If that photograph shows your vehicle in 
the loading zone and you're not a vehicle that supposed to be in a 
loading zone you will be found guilty, okay? So I'm not sure what 
the basis of your written plea of not guilty is, okay? ... It is a 
passenger vehicle sedan, which is not supposed to be in a loading 
zone anyway." 

87 Mr Maresch replied that the vehicle was a passenger vehicle sedan, but 

that it was towing a trailer; he said that under the regulations he was 

permitted to park a vehicle "principally constructed for carrying goods", that 
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he needed a trailer for his business, and that he parked in loading zones 

quite often. 

88 The magistrate said that: 

"The only thing in the ticket is the sedan. They don't mention the 
trailer in there and the photograph is not here, okay?" 

She suggested that it might be in Mr Maresch's interest to make 

representations to the Council and the matter was stood down for further 

inquiries to be made. To this point there could be no valid complaint about 

her conduct. 

89 On resumption, the Sergeant told the magistrate that she had received, by 

email, some photographs, which showed that there was no trailer on the 

vehicle and that the prosecution was instructed to proceed. The 

magistrate asked Mr Maresch if he had had a look at the photographs; he 

said he had. She said: . 

"I know, but there's no trailer there. Let's not go to the trailer 
excuse for being in a loading zone." 

(As it later emerged, at this point the magistrate had not seen the 

photographs. The assertion she made was therefore made without 

foundation.) 

90 Mr Maresch said that he objected ''to the actual condition of the photos". 

The magistrate made it clear that she was not listing the matter for hearing 

on that day; that it had been listed in order to ascertain "what the situation 

was"; that if the photographs showed a trailer present, the Sergeant had 

power to withdraw the charge without the need for Mr Maresch to return. 

She then said: 

"She's got the photographs. They're not in colour. She hasn't 
spoken to the officer who issue<;J the ticket, and the photographs 
don't show the sign. That officer is able on a hearing to give 
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evidence of where the sign is ... But that photograph clearly shows 
there's no trailer, okay, so your defence using trailer is not going to 
go - take you very far, okay? So really, I wanted you to come to 
court to tell me what is your defence. You've done that, and it 
appears that the prosecution evidence is there was no trailer 
attached to it, okay? ... So if your vehicle is parked there as a 
sedan in the loading zone, you will be found guilty, okay? ... So 
what do you want to do? Plead guilty now with an explanation as 
to why you blatantly parked your sedan in that loading zone or 
what?" 

Mr Maresch began to say something, but the magistrate cut him off, and 

said: 

"It's an offence of strict liability, sir, okay? .. , You are not a lawyer, 
okay? ... And I've had a gutful of people such as yourself coming 
to this court pleading not guilty, having hearings and getting found 
guilty as soon as they open their mouth. That incurs costs on the 
community having the officers here, court time taken up, so that's 
why I wanted you to come today to give me your explanation as to 
why you are pleading not guilty." 

91 Mr Maresch again attempted to say something, but the magistrate said: 

"Just listen to me. I haven't finished yet, okay? I am trying to 
save you time. If the matter is set down for hearing and you're 
found guilty after all the evidence is given, the fine will be far 
greater than it was issued to you by the officer, okay? I can fine 
you up to $2,200. The fact that you have got a particular view is 
your own business, okay? I'm trying to assist you because you 
haven't got legal representation. I'm not going"to list the matter for 
hearing unless there's a valid defence. That's what you have told 
me - 'I had a trailer attached.' The prosecution have the 
photograph which clearly shows no trailer, so that defence may not 
be available to you. You have now had an option of seeing that 
photograph which may refresh your memory as to the 
circumstances of you being in that position on the 21 st of April. If 
you wish to plead guilty, I can deal with it now. If you wish to plead 
not guilty and subsequently found guilty, it may be well and truly a 
lot bigger fine. I don't know." 

92 Mr Maresch then asked if the magistrate would be hearing the matter. She 

said she WOUld. Mr Maresch said: 

"Well, I guess I might as well plead guilty, then, you know ... With 
respect to you your Honour, you know, you might have had a 
gutful, using your words, of people coming and pleading not guilty, 
but you haven't seen those photos, you weren't in the car." 
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The magistrate replied: 

"I don't need to see them. I'm just trying to manage ... the court 
time, sir ... which I need to do." 

93 Mr Maresch again began to say something. The magistrate said: 

"Shut - be quiet, please. I need to manage court time because we 
are listing matters into end of February, many months down the 
track and I'm trying to bring that back and ensure that those 
matters listed for hearing are genuine pleas of guilty, pleas of not 
guilty after people have had appropriate legal advice. A lot of 
people such as yourself come before the court thinking -- pleading . 
not guilty." 

Mr Maresch twice said: 

"Such as myself?" 

94 The magistrate told him not to interrupt her. Mr Maresch said: 

''You don't know me. You don't know me." 

The magistrate said: 

"Don't interrupt me, otherwise you will wait until after I do the other 
hearing, okay? Do not interrupt me again, thank you ... I'm trying 
to assist you. You can wait ... You can wait. You can wait. You 
are showing no respect to me. I'm trying to assist you, sir, and get 
you out of here instead of incurring further costs for yourself ... if 
you are subsequently found guilty after pleading not guilty." 

Mr Maresch said: 

"In the process you insult me without even knowing me, okay." 

The magistrate said: 

"Sir, you show respect to the court, otherwise you will be held in 
contempt." 
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95 The following exchange then took place: 

"MR MARESCH: I'm here and I'm showing respect --

HER HONOUR: No, you're not. 

MR MARESCH: -- but I'm being told you've had a gutful of 
people like me, all right. That's what you're saying - you've hada 
gutful of people like me without even knowing me. 

HER HONOUR: I've requested you not to interrupt and you 
keep interrupting. If you're going to interrupt anymore I will wait 
until the end of the next hearing, okay. What do you want to do, 
plead guilty with an explanation or what? 

MR MARESCH: Well, if you're handing the matter, your 
Worship, I'll plead guilty, okay. 

HER HONOUR: 
wish to--

MR MARESCH: 

HER HONOUR: 

MR MARESCH: 

You do it on your own volition, sir. Do you 

No, I don'!. 

-- plead guilty with an explanation? 

I'm doing it under duress and I'll plead guilty. 

HER HONOUR: You're making a joke of this. The matter will 
be set down for hearing on the 8th of December before me. 8th of 
December at 1 Dam. 

MR MARESCH: I plead guilty. 

HER HONOUR: No, I'm not going to accept your plea on that 
basis, sir. You're not going to hold me to ransom. The matter will 
be listed for hearing before the court. The court record has 
indicated what you've said, sir. There is no point laughing and 
shaking your head --

MRMARESCH: Oh, dear. 

HER HONOUR: -- saying 'I am going to wish to plead guilty 
under duress'; I will not accept a plea of guilty on those 
circumstances. The matter will be dealt with as a hearing on 
Tuesday, the 8th of December at 1Oam. 

MRMARESCH: Oh dear, oh dear, oh dear. 

HER HONOUR: Be here by 10 o'clock, thank you. The court 
record will note that he's just gone off mumbling under his breath." 
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The full transcript is Annexure 0 to this report. As with the previous 

matters, the full flavour of the conduct of the proceedings can only be 

obtained from the sound recording. The sound recording will form part of 

Annexure D. 

96 On 29 October 2009, after receiving advice from the Chief Magistrate's 

office, Mr Maresch, in a letter directed to "To Whom it May Concern", and 

received by the Commission on 4 November, complained of the 

magistrate's conduct of the hearing. He recounted some of what had 

occurred during the hearing, including that part of the exchange in which 

the magistrate indicated, without having seen it, that the photograph was 

proof of his guilt. He described her manner as "belligerent, insulting". 

* * * 

97 At this point it might be observed that, in each case, the conduct of which 

complaint was made fell well below the basic standards of acceptable 

judicial conduct. 

98 Other than the Farago complaint, which was essentially of gross 

discourtesy, and unfairness to a legal practitioner (but not unfairness in the 

outcome of the proceedings, or in the decision making process), the 

complaints are of conduct that call into question the impartiality of the 

magistrate, and, importantly, her capacity to discharge that most basic 

function of a member of the judiciary, to afford a fair, dispassionate and 

impartial hearing to litigants. 

The particularisation of the complaints 

99 It will be recalled that s 15 of the Act permits any person to make a 

complaint "about a matter that concerns the ability or behaviour of a 

judicial officer". Each complaint may properly be seen as concerning the 

behaviour of the magistrate. The conduct involved also raises questions 

about her ability to conduct judicial proceedings in a'n appropriate manner. 
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100 As indicated above, in order to assist the magistrate to respond to the 

complaints, specific aspects of each incident were particularised, with the 

characterisation which, it was proposed, ought to be placed upon the 

magistrate's conduct. In each case, what was alleged was supported by 

extensive transcript references. It is sufficient here simply to record the 

general allegations, as refined in the particulars of complaint provided to 

the magistrate. A copy of the particularised complaint is Annexure E to 

this report. 

The s 26 determination: is any complaint substantiated? 

The Q'Regan/Passas complaint 

"use of intemperate language." 

The Farago complaint 

Discourtesy. 

The Castle complaint 

(a) the magistrate pre-judged the matter; 

(b) use of intemperate language; 

(c) the magistrate was rude, offensive and bullied Ms Cooper while she 

was giving evidence; 

(d) the magistrate did not permit Mr Castle an adequate opportunity to 

make submissions; 

(e) the magistrate did not conduct the hearing fairly. 
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The Maresch complaint 

(a) the magistrate pre-judged the evidence; 

(b) the magistrate used intemperate language to Mr Maresch; 

(c) without justification, the magistrate threatened Mr Maresch with, 

firstly, having to wait for his matter to be heard, and, secondly, with 

being charged with contempt; 

(d) the magistrate did not conduct the hearing fairly. 

101 At this point it may be observed that, in the view of the Conduct Division, 

and for reasons that follow, each of these particulars is made out. So 

. much was not, in the end, contested on behalf of the magistrate. In final 

oral submissions, her senior counsel said: 

"It is accepted that there will be substantial substantiated 
complaints. We accept that the magistrate's conduct in various 
respects will allow a conclusion that the complaints are 
substantiated in various respects, including various significant 
respects." (T 250) 

Despite this general acknowledgement, senior counsel did not specify in 

what respects the complaints were conceded to have been sUbstantiated. 

102 The argument put on behalf of the magistrate was, essentially, that her 

medical condition is the foundation for what is now conceded (on her 

behalf) to be quite unsatisfactory and unprofessional conduct. Particularly 

is that contention made in respect of the Castle and Maresch complaints; 

in each case, the conduct of which complaint is made took place during 

the time that the magistrate's condition was, without medical supervision, 

unmedicated. 
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103 With respect to the O'Regan/Passas and Farago complaints, a further, or 

alternative, response was made: this was, in effect, that each of those 

complaints had previously been dealt with by the Commission, the first 

dismissed, and the second referred to the Head of Jurisdiction. Senior 

counsel therefore invoked s 20(1 )(d) and s 20(1 )(e) as a basis for the 

Conduct Division not to form the relevant opinion that would result in a 

report to the Governor that the conduct could justify parliamentary 

consideration for the removal of the magistrate. Section 20(1)(d) and s 

20(1)(e) respectively require the Commission summarily to dismiss the 

complaint if the matter to which the complaint relates occurred at too 

remote a time to justify further consideration, or that there is or was 

available a satisfactory means of redress or dealing with the complaint. 

Each of those provisions is available to the Conduct Division to dismiss a 

complaint which has been referred to it (s 26). 

104 Notwithstanding the concession made by senior counsel, the magistrate 

(as will appear below) was unable to bring herself to adopt it. 

Nevertheless, the concession, plainly made on instructions, means that, in 

making its findings of fact in respect of the particulars, the Conduct 

Division can be brief. Those findings are: 

(i) the O'ReganlPassas complaint (intemperate language) 

105 The language of the magistrate was plainly intemperate. This can be seen 

in the following extracts: 

"Probably because they have better things to do Ms Passas ... 

Look, I'm not here to answer your questions. This is not a 
government forum; okay? 

Look, there's no votes to be gained by making your little speech 
from your platform there, ma'am. 
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... or do you wish to make another political statement? 

If you want to whinge, you whinge outside ... 

I resent spending one more second on your matter ... 

Ma'am, get out of this courtroom, ma'am, please. It is not my 
function to do all that; okay? 

Well, make sure you get your facts right in relation to it .. ." 

106 The level of intemperateness is best gauged by hearing the sound 

recordings. These show that the tone of voice, as well as the language 

used, was intemperate. 

107 This complaint is sUbstantiated. 

(ii) the Farago complaint (discourtesy) 

108 The magistrate was discourteous, to an extreme degree, to Mr Farago. 

Moreover, she was unfair in that her attack upon him was based upon a 

false factual premise - that is, that she had, on 1 June 2007, directed him 

to provide his authorities "well before" the date fixed for hearing. The 

entire exchange between Mr Farago and the magistrate was characterised 

by gross discourtesy on her part. It is unnecessary to take up further time 

in quoting specific passages from the transcript. 

109 Again, the tone of voice heightened the perception of discourtesy that is 

evident even in a reading of the transcript. 

110 This complaint is substantiated. 
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(iii) the Castle complaint 

There are various particulars of this complaint, each of which needs to be 

considered. 

111 ~(a~) __ ~p~re~-~iu~d~g~m~e~n~t 

The Conduct Division is satisfied that the magistrate plainly pre-judged the 

issues before her. When Mr Castle said that his client had ''fairly pressing 

reasons" for a licence, she replied "won't do it ... won't get it ... ", and "The 

explanation for this does not cut it, okay?" 

112 When Ms Cooper said that she was "a fit and proper person", the 

magistrate said: 

"No, you're not. I'm saying (indistinct) on one offence, okay. 
You've got two speeding offences within a month of one another." 

113 l!(b-!J.) __ -'!.in!.!:te",m~p~e~ra~t",e-"Ia""n",g""u,,",a~g~e 

Although the entire exchange with Ms Cooper was intemperate, there were 

some specifically glaring examples. These include: 

"Big deal, is what I'm going to say to you, okay ... " 

"That's a disgusting response ... " 

"Shut up, please, ma'am. I'm going to talk to you now and you 
listen hard." 

" ... and you think you're God's gift, do you?" 

''Your explanations are pitiful ... " 

''You're a very, very foolish young lady ... " 

"Shut your mouth because I don't think it's going to do you any· 
good ... " 
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114 1-"( C<L) _--,b",u,-!!lI~yi,,-,nJ::1g 

Many of the remarks extracted above also constitute bullying. The sound 

recording reveals that Ms Cooper was not permitted to complete any 

answer, and her solicitor, Mr Castle, was given no opportunity to elicit from 

his client the evidence he wished to adduce. 

115 ",( d""),------"n""o,-,a",d""e",g",u",a",te"-",o",pp""o""rt",u",n.!!ituy""t,,,,oC!m,-""a",ke~s-,!u",bmC!.!!!is""s",io~n-""s 

The transcript and sound recording demonstrate that Mr Castle did not 

have any opportunity to make the submissions he sought to make. 

116 This complaint is substantiated. 

(iv) the Maresch complaint 

There are various particulars of this complaint, each of which needs to be 

considered. 

117 ....,( a"")_....Jp""r""eC,J-j""u",dg",m=e=nt 

It is quite plain on the transcript and sound recording that the magistrate 

had pre-judged Mr Maresch's guilt. She told him that the photograph 

"clearly shows" that no trailer was attached to his sedan, so that his 

defence was not going to take him very far; she asked him if he wished to 

"plead guilty now with an explanation as to why [he] blatantly parked [his] 

sedan" in a loading zone; she said that she had had a "gutful" of people 

such as Mr Maresch pleading not guilty and being found guilty. 

118 ....,(b~) __ ~in"'te""m~p~e~ffi~t~e~la~n.!!g""u~a~g~e 

The "gutful of people" comment is plainly intemperate, as was the earlier 

direction to Mr Maresch not to interrupt her (given the tone in which it was 

made). 
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119 ~(d~)~~fa~i~rn~e~s~s~in~th~e~h~ea~r~in~g 

The Conduct Division accepts that the whole of the transcript shows that 

the hearing was grossly unfair. 

120 This complaint is sUbstantiated. 

121 As can be discemed from the sound recordings, the treatment of each of 

the litigants in question, and of Mr Farago, was characterised by a level of 

aggression and hostility quite alien to the proper conduct of judicial 

proceedings. 

122 The consequence of these findings is that, pursuant to s 26(a), the 

Conduct Division must consider whether any complaint ought to be 

dismissed on any of the grounds specified in s 20. 

123 Senior counsel urged that the Passas complaint ought to be dismissed on 

the basis provided by s 20(1 )(d), that is, that it occurred at too remote a 

time to justify further consideration, and that it had previously been 

summarily dismissed by the Commission. 

124 The Conduct Division appreciates the force of that submission. If it stood 

alone, the Passas complaint would not warrant further consideration. It 

warrants further consideration because of subsequent conduct on the part 

of the magistrate. 

125 Senior counsel also urged that the Farago complaint ought to. be 

dismissed on the basis provided by s 20(1)(e), that is, that an alternative 

satisfactory means of redress (ie referral to the Head of Jurisdiction) was 

available and had in fact been used. 

126 One aspect of the Farago complaint that distinguishes it from the other 

three complaints is that, while it involved gross discourtesy, and was likely 
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to bring the administration of justice into disrepute, the unfaimess was to a 

legal practitioner, and was not reflected (and could not reasonably be 

perceived as having been reflected) in the outcome of the proceedings. 

(The charge against Mr Farago's client was dismissed.) 

127 The Conduct Division considers that the Farago complaint, if it stood 

alone, would not warrant Parliamentary action under s 53 of the 

Constitution Act . . That does not mean, however, that the evidence relevant 

to that complaint is to be disregarded. The evidence conceming the . 

proceedings remains releilant in the determination under s 28 that must be 

made in respect of the other complaints: 

128 The Conduct Division has found that each complaint is substantiated. 

What that means is that the conduct alleged in each complaint has been 

established, and that in each case, it warrants the characterisation placed 

on it in the particularisation. What remains to be considerj3d is whether 

any of the conduct proved constitutes misbehaviour, or establishes 

incapacity, and, if so, whether it could justify action by the Parliament 

under s 53 of the Constitution Act. 

129 The Conduct Division makes the following findings: 

(i) in the Passas hearing, the magistrate used language that was 

intemperate, to a significant degree, and over a prolonged period of 

time; 

(ii) in the Cooper hearing, the magistrate used intemperate language to 

a gross degree, over an extremely prolonged period of time, pre­

judged the issues committed to her for determination, was rude, 

offensive and bullying, and denied Mr Castle, as legal 

representative for Ms Cooper, an adequate opportunity to make 

submissions and failed to conduct the proceedings fairly; 
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(iii) in the Maresch hearing, the magistrate pre-judged issues committed 

to her for determination and used intemperate language repeatedly; 

(iv) in the Simpson hearing (the Farago complaint), the magistrate was 

discourteous to Ms Simpson's legal representative, Mr Farago; 

(v) in each case, the conduct was such as to create a perception in a 

fair-minded observer that justice was not being administered fairly, 

or according to law, and thus to bring the administration of. justice 

into disrepute; 

(vi) at the time of the Cooper (the Castle complaint) and Maresch 

hearings the magistrate had, unwisely, ceased use of medication 

without medical advice or supervision; 

(vii) that the absence of medication was operative in (although not the 

sole cause of) her unsatisfactory conduct in those hearings; 

(viii) that, shortly before the Cooper hearing the magistrate had suffered 

a family bereavement in a road trauma, and that this was partly 

operative upon her unsatisfactory conduct in that case; 

(ix) that the magistrate has resumed medication; to the extent that her 

unsatisfactory conduct was attributable to her unmedicated medical 

condition, that circumstance no longer applies. 

130 The Conduct Division further notes that the evidence establishes that in 

respect of the Passas and Castle complaints, actual injustice can be seen 

to have been done in the sense that each hearing proceeded to a 

determination in the absence of a duly conducted judicial hearing. That is 

not the case in respect of the Maresch hearing, in which the issues were 

ultimately determined by another magistrate, or in the Farago matter 

where the matter proceeded to final hearing before the magistrate, with a 

ruling in favour of Mr Farago's client. 
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The s 28 determination 

131 The next step in the sequence is to determine, under s 28, whether or not 

the matter could justify parliamentary consideration of the removal of the 

magistrate from office. Section 53 of the Constitution Act permits removal 

of a judicial officer on only two grounds - proved misbehaviour, or (proved) 

incapacity. Neither term is defined either in the Constitution Act, or in the 

Act. Thus, whether the matter justifies parliamentary consideration of 

removal from office depends, firstly, upon whether or not the conduct 

under consideration: 

(i) amounts to misbehaviour; or 

(ii) evidences incapacity; or 

(iii) both . 

. 132 A question arises in the mind of the Presiding member of the Conduct 

Division concerning. the entity to which, under s 53, misbehaviour or 

incapacity must be proved. That is, to whom must misbehaviour or 

incapacity, under s 53, be proved? Is it the Parliament, or the Conduct 

Division? There are powerful reasons to consider that it is the Parliament. 

133 By entrenching s 53 in the Constitution Act, the people of NSW have 

committed to the Parliament the ultimate decision when removal of a 

judicial officer is under consideration. There are two limbs to a decision 

under s 53: 

• has misbehaviour/incapacity been proved? 

• if so, is the misbehaviour or incapacity of sufficient magnitude for the· 

Parliament to seek removal of the judicial officer from office by the 

Governor? 
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134 There is nothing in s 28, s 29, or s 41 of the Act that establishes that the 

function of deciding whether misbehaviour or incapacity is proved has 

been delegated to the Conduct Division. What the Conduct Division is 

required to do is decide whether "the matter could justify parliamentary 

consideration of a removal of the judicial officer": that is, that the conduct in 

question could amount to misbehaviour, or could establish incapacity; 

and, if so, whether the misbehaviour or incapacity is of sufficient 

magnitude that could justify consideration of removal. 

135 Some support for that view is to be gained from reference to s 72 of the 

Constitution of Australia, which is essentially replicated in s 53. There can 

be no doubt that the entity to whose satisfaction misbehaviour or 

incapacity must be proved is the Parliament. That is, if for no other 

reason, because there is no body equivalent to the Commission or a 

Conduct Division in a position to make those judgments. 

136 That view does not entirely reflect what has happened on previous 

occasions. In the limited number of cases which have been referred to a 

Conduct Division, the Conduct Division has itself determined misbehaviour 

or incapacity: see, for example, Report of the Conduct Division to the 

Governor regarding complaints against The Hon Justice Vince Bruce, 15 

May 1998, in which each member of the Conduct Division found either 

misbehaviour, or incapacity, or both, proved. No attack was made on that 

position in the application for judicial review of the decision contained in 

that report: see Bruce v Cole (1998) 45 NSWLR 163. 

137 It will, therefore, be appropriate that the Conduct Division express its own 

views, while noting that the ultimate decision is that of the Parliament. 

138 It is the view, however, of the Honourable D H Lloyd QC that whilst the 

ultimate decision as to whether the judicial officer should be removed is a 

matter for Parliament, the Conduct Division is charged as a fact-finding 

body with the function of deciding whether misbehaviour or incapacity has 

been proved. In another way, the Parliament should have a report before 
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it setting out the Division's opinion that the matters referred to in the report 

could justify parliamentary consideration of the removal of the judicial 

officer on the ground of proved misbehaviour or incapacity. Each House of 

Parliament would then consider whether it should address the Governor. 

139 There is some support for this view in the obiter remarks of Chief Justice 

Spigelman (at 202) and of Justice Priestley (at 207) in the case of Bruce v 

Cole. Mr Lloyd QC derives further support for this view from s 41 of the 

Judicial Officers Act, noted at para [8] above, which states that a judicial 

officer may not be removed from office in the absence of a report of the 

Conduct Division that sets out the Division's opinion that the matters 

referred to in the report could justify parliamentary consideration of the 

removal of the judicial officer "on the ground of proved misbehaviour or 

incapacity" (emphasis added). The Conduct Division could not, it seems, 

set out such an opinion unless it had in fact found the misbehaviour or 

incapacity to have been proved. 

140 In other words, Mr Lloyd QC is of the opinion that incapacity or 

misbehaviour must first be proved to the Conduct Division. It is then the 

role of the Parliament to find whether misbehaviour or incapacity has been 

proved, as the material before each House will not necessarily be the 

same as that which was before the Conduct Division. As Justice Priestley 

noted in Bruce v Cole (at 207), there is no reason why a House should not. 

take into consideration events bearing on the incapacity of the judicial 

officer which have taken place since the giving of evidence before the 

Conduct Division. The parliament must then decide whether it would or 

should address the Governor seeking the removal of the judicial officer on 

the ground of proved misbehaviour or incapacity. 

141 Mr Moroney has expressed a preference for the view of the Presiding 

. member. 
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Misbehaviour 

142 There has in the past (in the context of the Constitution of Australia, which, 

in s 72, contains a provision in terms relevantly identical to s 53) been a 

debate about the reach of the term "misbehaviour" where applied to 

potential removal of a judicial officer. That debate has primarily concerned 

whether the provision extends to misbehaviour. in circumstances not 

directly relevant to the discharge of judicial functions: see, for example, the 

Reports of a Parliamentary Commission of Inquiry Re: The Honourable 

Justice L K Murphy, 19 August 1986. 

143 In this case, all the conduct alleged to be misbehaviour is directly 

connected with the discharge of judicial functions, and the 1986 debate is 

irrelevant. There have (fortunately) been relatively few other occasions on 

which what is encompassed in the notion of judicial misbehaviour has had 

to be considered. 

144 The Conduct Division considers that, as in the 1986 Report just 

mentioned, the word "misbehaviour" ought to be given its ordinary 

meaning. It means, simply: 

"to behave badly" (Macquarie Dictionary Online); 

"bad behaViour, improper conducf' (Oxford English Dictionary) 

"to behave badly or wrongly; to conduct oneself improperly" 
(Oxford English Dictionary) 

145 An interesting and helpful discussion of what constitutes judicial 

misconduct is to be found in The Hon Justice James Thomas AM: judicial 

Ethics in Australia, 3rd ed (2009) LexisNexis Butterworths, Chapter 3 and 

Chapter 4. 

146 The Conduct Division respectfully agrees with and adopts the views of the 

learned author at 4.6: 
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"Nothing negates justice more directly and visibly than the judge 
who lacks the primary judicial requirement of ability and desire to 
hear both sides. My conclusion is that a judge who repudiates this 
essential judicial quality affords a serious case of misconduct, and 
the misconduct could be serious enough to justify removal. Of 
course one would need a convincing accumulation of instances to 
reach such a conclusion, but the gathering of such evidence would 
be quite possible." 

147· The learned author quoted Francis Bacon, in 'Of judicature' in Essays, 

Civil and Moral, 1625: 

"Let not the judge meet the cause half way, nor give occasion to 
the party to say his counselor proofs were not heard." 

In the following paragraphs Mr Thomas discusses the impact of offensive 

remarks and judicial bullying. 

148 All of this is particularly pertinent to the present Inquiry. 

149 Even more direct guidance as to proper behavioural standards of judicial 

office is to be found in the Guide to Judicial Conduct (Second Edition), 

published for The Council of Chief Justices of Australia by the Australasian 

Institute .of Judicial Administration Incorporated (2009). At P 3 are stated 

three basic principles against which judicial conduct should be measured. 

They are: 

"Impartiality; 

Judicial independence; and 

I ntegrity and personal behaviour." 

Three main objectives of the principles are stated as: 

". To uphold public confidence in the administration of justice. 

• To enhance public respect for the institution of the 
judiciary; 

• To protect the reputation of individual judicial officers and 
of the judiciary." 
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150 These are expanded, or explained, in Chapter 4, as follows: 

"4 CONDUCT IN COURT 

4.1 Conduct of hearings 
It is important for judges to maintain a standard of behaviour in 
court that is consistent with the status of judicial office and does 
riot diminish the confidence of litigants in particular, and the public 
in general, in the ability, the integrity, the impartiality and the 
independence of the judge ... 

... the entitlement of everyone who comes to court - litigants and 
witnesses alike - to be treated in a way that respects their dignity 
should be constantly borne in mind ... 

A judge must be firm but fair in the maintenance of decorum, and 
above all evenhanded in the conduct of the trial ... 

4.2 Participation in the trial 
... A judge must be careful not to descend into the arena and 
thereby appear to be taking sides or to have reached a premature 
conclusion." 

151 In 1988, in Queensland, a Parliamentary Judges Commission of Inquiry 

("the Commission of Inquiry") was established by statute (Parliamentary 

(Judges) Commission of Inquiry Act 1988 (Qld)) specifically for the 

purpose of inquiring into the conduct of two named judges, one of the 

Supreme Court of Queensland, and one of the District Court of 

Queensland (see First Report of the Parliamentary Judges Commission of 

Inquiry, undated (''the First Report")). 

152 The function of the Commission of Inquiry, in relation to each judge, was to 

advise the Legislative Assembly whether: 

" ... any behaviour of [the judge] constitutes such behaviour as, 
either of itself or in conjunction with any other behaviour, warrants 
his removal from office as a Judge .:." (s 4) 

153 It is apparent that. no equivalent of s 41 of the Act or s 53 of the 

Constitution Act applied. Queensland Supreme Court judges, by two 

separate Acts of Parliament (the Supreme Court Act 1867 (Qld), s 9, and 
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the Constitution Act 1867-1978 (Old), s 15 and s 16) held office "during 

good behaviour". 

154 On that basis, in the First Report, which was concerned with the behaviour 

of the Supreme Court judge, the members of the Commission of Inquiry 

concluded that: 

" ... whatever other powers exist to remove judges, the Legislative 
Assembly may exercise its power to address the Crown for the 
removal of a judge on the ground of misbehaviour." (the First 
Report, para 1.5.5) 

155 The members of the Commission of Inquiry considered what constitutes 

misbehaviour in that context. They wrote: 

"1.5.9 ... before. an opinion can be reached that behaviour of a 
Judge of a Supreme Court warrants his removal from office, the 
behaviour must be such that, having regard to all the relevant 
surrounding circumstances, no right thinking member of the 
community could regard the fact of its having taken place as being 
consistent with the continued proper performance by the judge of 
judicial duties, and hence with the holding of judicial office. Put 
another way, if the behaviour is such that, in the circumstances, 
the judge would, in the eyes of right thinking members of the 
community, no longer be fit to continue to remain a judge, then the 
judge has fallen below the standard demanded of members of the 
judiciary. 

1.5.10 The members oHhe Commission [of Inquiry] therefore are 
required to apply community standards in their task of forming an 
opinion as to whether any behaviour of [the judge] warrants his 
removal from office as a Judge of the Supreme Court. The 
Commission [of Inquiry] recognises and accepts that the 
community requires the standards of behaviour of the judiciary to 
be set and maintained at a very high level indeed. Judges 
themselves, as well as the community, expect that the standard of 
behaviour of members of the judiciary should be a very high one. 
On the other hand, to adopt too stringent a standard, or too 
pharisaical an approach, would imperil the independence of the 
judiciary, which would be eroded if a judge might too readily be 
removed from office. Moreover, there may be judicial mis 
behaviour which ought not to be condoned, and indeed may be 
deserving of censure, even severe censure, but which would not 
warrant the removal of a judge from office. Questions of degree 
may be involved, and minds may differ in making what is in effect 
a moral and social judgment on such a matter. 
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1.5.12 The Commission [of Inquiry] is of course; aware that the 
final decision whether an address should be presented for the 
removal of [the judge] rests with the Legislative Assembly, but the 
Commission [of Inquiry] is. charged with the responsibility of 
considering whether his behaviour would warrant removal." 

156 These remarks are equally apposite to the conduct of any judicial officer, 

and are relevant in the consideration by the Conduct Division in the 

discharge of its obligations under s 29 of the Act. 

157 In the opinion of the Conduct Division, in each of the Q'Regan/Passas, 

Castle and Maresch complaints, misbehaviour has been proved. There 

are, of course, grades and variations of misbehaviour. Whether 

demonstrated misbehaviour warrants parliamentary consideration of 

removal of a judicial officer from office depends upon the gravity of the 

misbehaviour, and, in some cases at least, the extent (if any) to which 

conduct of the kind is repeated. A single instance of even serious 

misbehaviour may not reach the necessary threshold; on the other hand, 

repeated instances of less serious misbehaviour may do so .. The Conduct 

Division is of the view that the misbehaviour here in question does reach 

the requisite level of gravity. The finding that misbehaviour has been 

proved encompasses the lesser finding that the conduct is such that the 

Parliament could find misbehaviour proved. 

Incapacity 

158 In his work on Judicial Ethics, Mr Thomas (op cit) considers the question of 

incapacity at 4.52. However, his consideration is brief and is limited to 

physical incapacity or mental incapacity caused through, for example, 

alcoholism, drug dependency, senility or debilitating illness. The Conduct 

Division considers that incapacity within the meaning of s 53 extends 

beyond physical or mental incapacity caused by an identifiable disorder 

(such as senility). That emerges when the question "incapacity for what?" 

is asked. In the view of the Conduct Division, it is incapacity to discharge 

the duties of judicial office in a manner that accords with recognised 
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standards of judicial propriety. These standards are those referred to by 

Mr Thomas, and in the publication by the Council of Chief Justices, and 

. include affording a fair hearing to all litigants, avoiding offensive remarks 

and bullying, and maintaining, in the court room, the decorum that 

enhances respect for the judicial decision-making process, and, 

accordingly, the resultant decisions, and, in general, the administration of 

law. 

159 Failure by a judicial officer to adhere to these standards will inevitably 

cause litigants and observers to lose faith in, and respect for, the decision­

making process, and the resultant decisions, and bring the administration 

of justice into disrepute. 

160 A related question was considered in Stewart v Secretary of State for 

Scot/and (HL, 22 January 1998), in which the House of Lords considered 

the meaning of the word "inability" in s 12 of the Sheriff Courts (Scotland) 

Act 1971, which enabled the removal of a sheriff Oudicial officer) from 

office "by reason of inability, neglect of duty or misbehaviour". Lord 

Jauncey of Tullichettle, who spoke for all members of the House of Lords, 

said: 

"Section 12 is concerned with the removal of a Sheriff Principal or 
Sheriff who is unfit for office. This is a provision which is directed 
to the proper administration of justice, not to the benefit of 
individual holders of the office. It is in the public interest that 
members of the Shrievalty should be fit for the office which they 
perform and this objective must be borne in mind when the section 
is being construed ... Section 12 deals with other cases of 
unfitness and is, in my view, intended to cover all those cases 
where a Sheriff does not retire voluntarily but is unfit for 
performance of his dUty." 

161 There is, in the opinion of the Conduct Division, no relevant distinction 

between the word "inability" and the word "incapacity". The Conduct 

Division considers the ruling in Stewart to be of significant guidance. 
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162 In this case it is to be remembered that the magistrate has now held office 

for close to 17 years. It would be difficult to see four individual instances of 

unjudicial conduct or even misbehaviour (without more), in a 17 year 

career, as proof of incapacity. For that determination, it is necessary to 

look further. 

163 An essential quality of a judicial officer is an appreciation of what 

constitutes proper judicial conduct, and what does not. The absence of 

that quality is apt to signify incapacity to discharge the judicial functions. 

164 The absence of that quality does not carry, as a necessary concomitant, 

that every proceeding in which the judicial officer is involved is affected, or 

that every decision made by that judicial officer is flawed, or even 

questionable. 

165 The issue for the determination of the Conduct Division is whether it has 

been shown that the magistrate lacks the capacity to carry out her judicial 

function. It is important also to remember that the issue is present and 

future incapacity. Past incapacity, if proved, is relevant only insofar as it 

casts light on present and future capacity, or incapacity. 

166 Three questions immediately present themselves. First, is there an 

explanation for all or any of these instances of unsatisfactory conduct? If 

so, does that explanation bear upon the magistrate's present or future 

capacity to discharge the duties of her office? Does the magistrate's 

attitude to her conduct on these four occasions give any indication of her 

capacity in the future to discharge her judicial functions appropriately? 

167 The Conduct Division accepts that the medical evidence provides some 

explanation for what occurred that gave rise to the Castle and Maresch 

complaints. Each of these events occurred at a time when she had 

unwisely (as it turned out) ceased taking her anti-depressant medication. 

Further, the Castle matter involved breaches of road traffic rules at a time 
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very shortly after the death of her uncle in a road accident, an event which, 

the Conduct Division accepts, had a substantial impact on her. 

168 No such explanation is available in respect of the Q'Regan/Passas or 

Farago complaints. 

169 The medical evidence provides some basis for the argument advanced on 

behalf of the magistrate that, by reason of the resumption of medication, 

and the treatment regime provided by Dr Klug, any incapacity that gave 

rise to the 2009 complaints has ceased: 

170 Dr Phillips considered that the magistrate made significant improvement, 

with the help of the psychologist she consulted in 1995, but suffered major 

stress and a set-back when confronted with a death threat. (There is a 

difficulty with this: Dr Phillips initially gave the date of the death threat as 

13 August 2007. In her statement, the magistrate gave the date as 13 

March 2003. Dr Phillips accepted that 13 August 2003 was the date the 

magistrate gave him. The difference in the months is immaterial, but the 

difference in years - 2003-2007 - is not.) In 2009, having scaled down her 

anti-depressant medication, the magistrate again developed psychiatric 

symptoms. The death of her uncle in that year was a significant factor in 

the re-emergence of those symptoms. 

171 Dr Phillips observed (at para 115) that the magistrate had: 

" ... only recently developed insight into her aberrant behaviour" 

and that she expressed distress and remorse that she had acted as she 

did. The "aberrant behaviour" was behaviour aberrant from the judiCial 

norm, and not from her own ordinary behaviour. 

172 Dr Phillips reviewed the magistrate on 8 March 2011, at the request of the 

Conduct Division. He reported that, by then, she was "symptomatically 

improved", was "barely symptomatic", and that such symptoms as she had 
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did not reach a threshold for any diagnos~ble psychiatric disorder. Dr 

Phillips considered it unlikely (assuming continued compliance with the 

treatment regime to be determined by Dr Klug) that her behaviour would 

become problematic with the risk that she might actinappropriately in the 

discharge of her duties. 

173 Dr Klug said that the symptoms were in substantial but not complete 

remission. He recommended that the magistrate remain under the care of 

a psychiatrist for ongoing treatment and for more intensive treatment in the 

event of any deterioration. He saw the likelihood of recurring inappropriate 

behaviour as low if not negligible. 

174 In evidence, Dr Phillips acknowledged (T 20) that a person who has a 

biological depression (as he had previously found the magistrate had) is 

less resilient to stressors and therefore at risk of exacerbation of the 

disorder. 

175 At the conclusion of his evidence, Dr Phillips said; 

" I see the magistrate as being properly treated and as being 
pretty much asymptomatic at the present time and believing that 
insight will be much improved now that she is non depressed, it 
would be my view that she could continue in a professional role 
and the public could be reasonably protected in her continuing to 
work." (T 41 ) 

176 Dr Klug accepted that, because he had characterised the condition as 

"recurrent", repetition was likely. He said: 

''The fact that she has got a recurrent condition makes it more 
likely for her to have further such episodes statistically speaking 
than if she had had no episodes in the past at all." 

177 All of these circumstances, including ExC, which resulted from an 

investigation of other hearings by the magistrate, not the subject of 

complaint, tend to suggest that the magistrate does not lack the capacity to 
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function appropriately as a judicial officer. There are, however, other 

considerations, to which reference will shortly be made. 

The magistrate's attitude to the matters the subject of the complaints 

. 178 The Conduct Division considers that the most significant additional factor 

bearing upon the question of incapacity is the magistrate's own attitude to 

her conduct. In this respect, her various responses, and most particularly 

he oral evidence, are of grave concern. 

179 The magistrate's attitude to her behaviour can be traced through the 

various responses she has made to the Commission, to what she has told 

Dr Phillips and DrKlug, what is contained in her sworn statement, and the 

oral evidence she gave in the Inquiry. 

(i) the O'ReganlPassas complaint (intemperate language) 

180 The magistrate was notified by the Commission of the complaints by Mr 

O'Regan and Ms Passas by separate letters dated 23 July 2004. She was 

invited to respond. This was almost a year after the event. The magistrate 

responded by letter dated 24 August. At that time she did not have 

available to her any court papers or transcript. She pointed out the 

difficulty of addressing the issues raised in the complaints. She recounted 

her recollection of the circumstances of the hearing. Of the application to 

revoke the Apprehended Violence Order she said: 

"There was no merit that I saw in the application to revoke and it 
was eventually dismissed." 

She also referred to the difficulty of dealing with unrepresented litigants . 

. She launched something of an attack upon Ms Passas, saying: 

"It appears that she has complained to everyone in relation to all 
her court proceedings. She has unsuccessfully applied for 
Ashfield Council to pay her costs. She and Mr O'Regan also seem 
to blame some sort of dark forces for her failure to be reelected ... " 
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181 She dealt with some other matters that are not presently relevant, and then 

wrote: 

"I do not wish to respond to any thing else in Mr O'Regan's and 
Mrs Passas' complaint ... it is up to them if they think that some 
form of conspiracy has taken place. I do feel that my reputation 
has been sullied by their rantings and ravings ... " 

She said that she was willing to provide a further response after having 

had access to the court papers and the transcript. They were supplied, 

and she provided the further response by letter dated 14 September 2004. 

She referred to some of the history of the application, and extracted 

legislation that provides that a court may decline to hear an application for 

revocation if satisfied that there has been no change in circumstances. 

She said: 

"I was satisfied that there was no change in the circumstances 
accordingly dismissed the application." 

She did: 

" ... concede that my choice of words could have been better in the 
circumstances ... " 

182 In her statement she adhered to her initial responses to the Commission, 

and described Mr O'Regan's complaint as making "outlandish claims". 

She said that the sound recording showed that Ms Passas' demeanour 

was "excitable" (para 105). With respect to the particular that alleged that 

her response to Ms Passas "probably because they've got better things to 

do, Ms Passas" was intemperate, she quoted a dictionary definition of 

"intemperate" as: 

"not temperate, unrestrained, unbridled, lack of moderation or due 
restrainf' (para 116) 
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and denied that her response was in any way intemperate. She continued 

to deny that any part of her conduct during the course of that hearing was 

intemperate. She did accept that she could have used "more felicitous 

language" but expressed the opinion that Ms Passas had been engaging 

in a "frivolous" waste of the court's time (para 135). 

183 Notwithstanding her counsel's general concession about the complaints, 

the magistrate maintained, even in her oral evidence, that she had not 

been intemperate or immoderate in the way she dealt with the application. 

She was asked by her counsel: 

"Q. Do you still think that actually you didn't do anything too 
bad here?" 

She replied: 

"A Look, the benefit of hindsight of course is a wonderful 
thing. For some reason that I still don't understand she responded 

. to my first question, 'Well, I don't know if you understand but I am 
a member .of Ashfield council'. For the life of me I don't 
understand why someone would want to say something like that 
unless they want some form of special treatment, and that's the 
interpretation I took by responding to that question in that way. As 
I said before, the benefit of hindsight is a wonderful thing, but after 
seeing the letter from [the Commission] it gave me a better idea of 
what is required. I don't know why they don't forward more 
information to judicial officers when matters are' summarily 
dismissed. It's not helpful." 

This last was a reference to a distinction in the letters finalising the matters 

sent to Mr O'Regan and Ms Passas, and to the magistrate. The answer 

was hardly responsive, and amounted to turning the attack upon the 

Commission itself. 

184 In cross-examination the magistrate demonstrated a degree of 

obstructiveness and inability, or refusal, to direct her mind to the issues 

about which she was being questioned. For example, she was asked if it· 

were incumbent upon her as a magistrate to listen to an application made 
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by an unrepresented litigant. That is a simple question with only one 

correct answer. She replied: 

"It is not as simple as that, Mr Gormly." (T 116) 

When asked further about this, she said: 

"She didn't respond to that, and that's what we do find in a lot of 
unrepresented people. They do not have the ability to focus on 
what's on point and I was endeavouring to get her back on point 
because it was just using up valuable court time. Yes, we do have 
a role in relation to unrepresented people, but we are not their 
lawyer and that's the difficulty because there is no assistance 
available for people such as Mrs Passas at that time and still isn't, 
with the reduction of services by the department of Attorney 
Generals." (T 117) 

185 Finally, in respect of this matter, she said: 

"I dealt with the matter appropriately according to the law, bearing 
in mind all this was represented and indicated any hearing would 
take four days and it would be a rehashing of the original 
application, which is not the same grounds as a revocation 
application." (T 119) 

186 She accepted that certain references to Ms Passas making speeches, and 

votes, were "inappropriate and sarcastic". 

187 She continued to refuse to accept that her comments had been 

"intemperate", but did agree to "inappropriate". 

(ii) the Farago complaint 

188 A copy of this complaint was forwarded to the magistrate on 12 October 

2007. On 17 October 2007 she provided her first response. She recorded 

some of the factual background of the matter, and then said: 

"It appears that Mr Farago's complaint is all about his perception of 
my dealing with him. Time at court was spent to give him time to 
read the Police brief and he did not appreCiate what a Prima Facie 
case submission really means when he tried to call his client. 

- e, 1 -

.... 



There is no basis for his complaint and it appears that he is trying 
to save face with his client. 

It is my practice to request legal practitioners to assist the Court to 
reduce issues to save valuable court time ... This was all 
explained to Mr Farago on 1st June, 2007 when I requested any 
authorities to be forwarded to the court well before the hearing 
date ... " 

189 On 5 February 2008 the magistrate provided her second response. She 

repeated something of a history, including her assertion that she had, on 1 

June: 

"requested that any authorities being relied upon be forwarded to 
the court well before [22 June]." 

She then said: 

"Mr Farago complains that I did not give him the opportunity to 
explain why the authorities were sent late. In my view, there was 
nothing to be gained by wasting court time in hearing such an 
explanation ... 

I concede there was robust discussion between Mr Farago and 
myself in relation to the matter ... 

In my view, Mr Farago appears to be trying to save face with his 
client by making such a claim. In my view, there is not substance 
to it." 

190 It is quite plain from the transcript of 1 June that, when the magistrate said, 

in her second response, that she had directed, or requested, that any 

authorities be forwarded to the court "well before" the hearing date, she 

perpetuated her original error. As the transcript of 1 June reveals, she had 

merely asked that the authorities be provided "before the next occasion". 

This was done - the day before the hearing. Mr Farago had complied with 

the direction given. There was no reason, from what the magistrate said 

on 1 June, for him to divine that she had intended their provision at some 

.earlier time. In her statement, the magistrate denied she was discourteous 

"in any way" to Mr Farago, and, again, referred to a dictionary definition of 

"discourteous". She said that she was direct and blunt, but not 

discourteous. 
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191 In her oral evidence she steadfastly maintained this position. She 

characterised her conduct as "direct and quite forthright in my displeasure 

in the use of court time that day" (T 142). She explained in the following 

way: 

"He provided them before the hearing date so he did comply with 
my request. However, I inferred that he would understand the 
reasoning behind my request and would make sure, since he had 
them on the day, that it would get to me sooner rather than later. 
So that was my disappointment when he forwarded to the court 
because he had them available on 1 June and I expected them to 
be lObbed on my desk the week after." (T 144) 

192 Contrary to the position maintained by the magistrate, the Conduct 

Division is of the view that her treatment of Mr Farago was,· indeed, 

discourteous. The discourtesy is exacerbated by the fact that the 

magistrate was, in fact, in error in believing that she has specified "well 

before" the hearing as being the time at which the authorities were to be 

provided. Had she listened to Mr Farago, she may have understood that 

he had not disobeyed her direction to be as she later perceived it. He was, 

as it happened, correct. 

(iii) the Castle complaint 

193 Like Mr Farago, ·Mr Castle is a solicitor, and was able to formulate his 

complaint rather more precisely than Mr O'Regan, Ms Passas or Mr 

Maresch. The complaint Mr Castle made was that the magistrate; 

"(1) told [Ms Cooper] ... to 'shut up' and 'shut your mouth'; 

(2) bullied and harangued [Ms Cooper]; 

(3) did not afford [Ms Cooper] the opportunity of a fair and 
proper hearing; and 

(4) did not determine the appeal properly on its merits" 
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He provided more elaborate details of the complaint. 

194 The magistrate provided her initial response in a letter dated 3 August 

2009. It is not apparent that, at this time, the magistrate had avaUable to 

her a transcript of the proceedings, although she did have, and provided to 

the Commission, a copy of the court papers. 

195 The magistrate wrote: 

''The onus is upon the appellant to satisfy the court that she is a fit 
and proper person. I have to hear evidence from the appellant first 
before any references are handed up. Mr Castle failed to do so at 
the end of Ms Cooper's evidence. 

It appears that this complaint has been motivated by a 
disappointed client and at the urging of two other legal 
practitioners ... " 

196 By letter dated 28 November 2009 the magistrate provided a further 

response. By this time she had had the opportunity of listening to the 

sound recording of the proceedings. She wrote: 

"1. I have had the opportunity of listening to the cd of the court 
proceedings ... and at the outset I can only say that it clearly 
shows that I, at times, was rude and discourteous to her. I regret 
this Sincerely. 

2. I made some comments during Ms Cooper's evidence that 
clearly should not have been made at that time if at all. I regret 
that also. 

3. Mr Castle complains that I did not grant him an 
adjournment for his client to attend the Traffic Offenders 
Programme. That is a decision that is within a court discretion to 
make. There is no basis for this complaint. 

4. Mr Castle complains that I did not grant him an 
adjournment for twei weeks. He gave no reasons for such a 
request and his application was refused. [The magistrate then 
referred to the Chief Magistrate's Practice Note 1 of 2001 in 
relation to adjournments.] 

9. . .. Each matter is dealt with on its merits. 
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11. In my view Ms Cooper's matter was dealt with on its merits. 
There is no basis for his complaint in this regard. 

12. Of concern to me are the words I used. I was shocked 
when I heard the cd and am very embarrassed by it. I have since 
taken steps to ensure that nothing like this ever happens again. I 
have sought professional help in relation to dealing with the stress 
of being a judicial officer and have put in place procedures and 
changes to how I run the court. 

13. I have no explanation for my words other than I succumbed 
to the accumulation of 'judicial stress'." 

The magistrate attached some unsolicited letters of appreciation from 

litigants and their relatives in other cases she had conducted. 

197 ·In her sworn statement the magistrate adhered to the responses of 3 

August and 28 November, and went further. She said that she was 

"appalled" by some of the things she had said and apologised 

unreservedly. However, she denied the allegation that she had pre-judged 

Ms Cooper's application; she acknowledged that the word "blatantly" 

should not have been used, and that her comment "big deal" was "uncalled 

for and intemperate"; she accepted that she "certainly" should not have 

told Ms Cooper to "shut up" or said to her "you think you're God's gift do 

you?". However, she denied that her conduct amounted to bullying, and 

she denied that she did not penmit Mr Castle an adequate opportunity to 

make submissions. She concluded by saying that she was "very 

embarrassed" by what she had said to Ms Cooper and that much of what 

she said should not have been said. She said she was sure she would 

never say such things again. 

198 In her oral evidence the magistrate continued to reject the proposition that 

she had pre-judged the matter. She did accept that she had used 

intemperate language and cited "blatantly" and "shut up" as the basis for 

that acceptance. She declined to accept that her conduct was "bullying", 

but accepted that she was "overbearing". She accepted that on occaSions, 
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her conduct had not been "judicial". She did not accept that she had 

denied Mr Castle an adequate opportunity to make submissions. 

199 Her evidence under cross-examination was somewhat more detailed. She 

was, for example, asked about the request by Mr Castle for a two week 

adjournment, following the magistrate's negative response to the 

preceding request for referral to the Traffic Rehabilitation Offenders 

Programme. She said that the Chief Magistrate's Practice Direction 

required applications for adjournment to give "cogent and compelling 

reasons", and said that Mr Castle had given no reason. She accepted that 

an adjournment for two weeks could not be perceived as an adjournment 

for the purpose of attending that programme, and therefore that it could be 

expected that Mr Castle had some other reason for that application. Her 

position remained that Mr Castle had given no reasons for that application. 

200 It is quite clear, in the opinion of the Conduct Division, that the magistrate 

forestalled any attempt by Mr Castle to give reasons for his application. 

She interrupted him by asking for representation from the RTA (Roads and 

Traffic Authority) and then turned her attention to Mr Castle again, and to 

the substance of the application. In the view of the Conduct Division, it is 

unfair of the magistrate to suggest that it was Mr Castle's failure to give 

reasons for the application for the two week adjournment that deflected her 

from considering it. She accepted that she should not have said to Ms 

Cooper ''the explanation for this does not cut it, okay?" (T 166). She said 

that was because it was "not judicial" and "not appropriate to say that at 

any time" (T 167). When pressed as to why that was not appropriate, she 

referred to the .Ianguage - presumably the colloquial nature of the 

language - and rejected the proposition that that statement conveyed to 

Ms Cooper that the magistrate had already rejected her explanation. She 

agreed (T 177) that telling Ms Cooper to "shut up" involved preventing Ms 

Cooper from responding to the criticism that the magistrate had just made 

of her. She agreed that that was inappropriate. However, when asked if 

that was in breach of her judicial obligations, she merely replied: 
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·''That is not for me to judge: (T 177) 

When pressed further on the same question, she said: 

'Well, that is another difficult question to answer what are judicial 
obligations. Yes, by being rude, totally inappropriate, yes, 
definitely." (T 177) 

Ultimately, when pressed, she did make that concession. 

201 In respect of her comment: 

"You're explanations are pitiful"; 

she accepted that that was in breach of her judicial obligations because it 

gave an indication that the magistrate took an adverse view of Ms 

Cooper's answers and that that was an inappropriate time to convey that 

information. 

(iii) the Maresch complaint 

202 The complaint made by Mr Maresch was, in substance, that, even in 

proceedings in which he was not involved, the magistrate was "extremely 

aggressive", "had little patience with matters of detail or substance", and 

that, in his case, her manner was "belligerent, insulting" and that she 

decided his guilt before seeing any evidence. 

203 The magistrate's first response regarding this complaint was made by 

letter dated 17 November 2009. She had not then heard the sound 

recordings. She wrote: 

"As you are aware courts are very busy and a lot of court time is 
. taken up with unrepresented defendants who have pleaded not 
guilty and are subsequently found guilty after giving evidence. 
There is no provision for legal advice to be given to such persons 
and the courts are limited in what they can tell defendants in 
relation to the legal aspects of their respective cases. This 
gentleman was upset that his explanation of parking with a trailer 
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attached to his car was not borne out by the photographic 
evidence. My attempts to explain things to him were futile. In the 
future I will list everything for hearing and let the hearings take 
their course." 

Her second response to the Commission was made by letter dated 28 

November (in conjunction with her response to the Castle complaint). 

Even at that time, she did not have a transcript or sound recording. She 

said that Mr Maresch was a very difficult man to deal with, and she 

believed that she acted in good faith in giving him the opportunity of seeing 

any photographs that existed in order to enable him to obtain the benefit of 

a plea of guilty if that is what he wished to do. To her earlier 

communication she added that she. had subsequently disqualified herself 

from hearing Mr Maresch's matter. She wrote: 

"15. On occasions in the past defendants have raised issues in 
Court which could affect whether the prosecution proceeds or not. 
On occasions the prosecutor has sought instructions and 
subsequently withdrawn a Court Attendance Notice. This has 
meant that a potential hearing was able to be dealt with more 
appropriately with less expense to the community and 
inconvenience to the defendant. 

16. Mr Maresh (sic) was a very difficult man to deal with. 

18. I believe that I acted in good faith in giving Mr Maresh (sic) 
the opportunity of seeing any photograph to enable him to get the 
benefit of a plea of guilty if that is what he wished to do. This 
would save court time and expense for the community as well as 
result in a lesser fine for him. 

23. I reject Mr Maresh's (sic) claims 'before I'd been given a 
chance to speak, and without looking at the photos, Betts said that 
the photos were proof of my guilt'. I did not look at the photograph 
at any stage." 

She again referred to the difficulties of dealing with unrepresented litigants, 

and the burdens so placed upon courts. 

204 On 4 December 2009, after having been provided with the sound recording 

of the proceedings, the magistrate provided a third response. She said: 
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"I did, regretfully, make the comment 'I've had a gutful of people 
such as yourself coming to court pleading not guilty .. .' I regret 
this. I endeavoured to explain what I meant later on when he 
interrupted me and I was unable to do so." 

She denied having told Mr Maresch to "shut up", pointing out that the 

. transcript records her saying "Shut, be quiet". She rejected Mr Maresch's 

claim that she had decided his guilt before any evidence was presented. 

She said she did not hear any evidence nor did she ever look at the 

photograph. 

205 She also wrote: 

"I reject Mr Maresh's (sic) claim that I decided his guilt before any 
evidence was presented. I did not hear any evidence nor did I 
ever look at the photograph ... " 

206 On 9 December the magistrate wrote again .to the Commission, advising 

that the charge had been heard in the Ryde Local Court by another 

magistrate and that Mr Maresch had been found guilty but the charge was 

dismissed under s 10(1)(a) of the Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Act 

1999. She said that she had been advised that Mr Maresch had relied 

upon the ''trailer'' explanation and suggested to the Council officer that the 

photograph had been "photoshopped" taking. out the trailer. She then 

wrote: 

"I am still at a loss as to why this gentleman complains that I 
allegedly coerced him into a plea of guilty and then refused to deal 
with it ... that just does not make sense. The transcript clearly 
outlines why I could not deal with his plea 'under duress'. I guess 
he is now happy that I did not deal with it!" 

207 In her sworn statement, she adhered to these responses, and repeated 

that she should not have told Mr Maresch that she had "had a gutful of 

people" like him. She denied pre-judgment; she accepted that the "I've 

had a gutful" comment was intemperate. She denied unfaimess in the 

proceedings. In her oral evidence she said that she believed that she 

dealt with the matter fairly because she gave him the opportunity of seeing 
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the photograph and had rejected his offer to plead guilty under duress. 

She continued to deny pre-judgment. 

208 These responses by the magistrate afford the Conduct Division little cause 

to believe that the magistrate has even the most basic appreciation of the 

judicial function. Even when confronted with incontrovertible evidence, in 

the form of sound recordings, of her misconduct, she failed to recognise or 

acknowledge the implications of that misconduct. The failure to recognise 

the pre-judgment convincingly established in the Castle and Maresch 

matters represents an incapacity to understand (and therefore adhere to) 

proper standards of judicial conduct. That incapacity is present and 

permanent. 

209 Both Dr Phillips and Dr Klug maintained that the magistrate had developed 

insight into her admittedly unsatisfactory behaviour. Dr Phillips 

distinguished between "emotional" and "intellectual" insight, and was of the 

view that the magistrate had developed both. 

210 Some limited portions of their eyidence are of relevance to the issue 

presently under consideration. Dr Phillips said (at T 20) that a person 

suffering from biological.depression (as he found the magistrate to be) is 

less resilient to stressors and therefore at risk of an exacerbation of the 

disorder. He said (at T 26) that, if a person in a role such as that of a 

magistrate had personality characteristics of combativeness, irritability or 

impatience, and those characteristics were moderately deeply ingrained 

and manifest much of the time, then fulfilling the professional role of a 

magistrate would become difficult. If, on the other hand, that combative 

style of interaction were episodic and· particularly based in mood disorder 

then, he considered, it would be of less concern because more easily 

treated. He accepted (at T 29), in effect, that insight is the key to 

forecasting future conduct. He gave his conclusion (at T 41): 

" ... looking at the issue in a medical psychiatric sense ... I see the 
magistrate as being properly treated and as being pretty much 
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asymptomatic at the present time and believing that insight will be 
much improved now that she is non depressed, it would be my 
view that she could continue in. a professional role and the public 
could be reasonably protected in her continuing to work." 

211 Dr Klug (at T60) agreed with the proposition that the condition from which 

the magistrate suffers is a recurrent one, not in complete remission, and 

therefore it is more likely that she will have further episodes in the future 

than if she had no history of this'kind of behaviour. 

212 The Conduct Division accepts the medical evidence that, from a 

psychiatric point of view, the magistrate has gained insight into her 

conduct. That insight was not apparent in her oral evidence. Certainly, 

absent from her evidence was any insight into the quality of her conduct 

measured against the standards of judicial propriety. Her evidence . 

disclosed a worrying lack of appreciation of the judicial role, and, more 

particularly, of her established failings in that regard. The hostility that 

permeated each of the hearings under consideration also surfaced in the 

Inquiry. 

213 On the. other hand, there is evidence, which the Conduct Division accepts, 

that the magistrate does in fact function in the judicial role. 

Statements and evidence of professional colleagues 

214 Of course, it is a feature of the judicial role that (except in appellate courts) 

the judicial officer's conduct in court is unobserved by judicial colleagues. 

None of the judicial colleagues who provided statements was able to 

comment upon the magistrate's conduct whilst in court. 

215 Mr Dennis Burdett had worked with the magistrate at the Blacktown Local 

Court for almost three years between January 2004 and December 2006. 

He was the co-ordinating magistrate. Mr Burdett wrote of some 

operational difficulties in the work environment (due to asbestos removal). 

He described the magistrate as: 
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"friendly, pleasant, always punctual and very conscientious 
compassionate, considerate and understanding ... " 

He was previously unaware that she had suffered from depression. 

216 Mr Peter Norton had known the magistrate since 1974 when she 

commenced employment as a junior clerk at the Redfern Local Court. 

Even then, he formed the view that she was: 

" ... strong willed, competent and determined." 

217 Mr Norton was Chief Magistrate of the Burwood Local Court from 1994 to 

2000, during part of which period the magistrate also served at Burwood. 

Mr Norton found her to be: 

" ... an extremely determined, efficient and hardworking magistrate 
" 

218 During that time, Mr Norton said, he received no complaints from any of 

those involved about the magistrate's conduct. 

219 Mr Marsden, who was currently working with the magistrate at the 

Parramatta Local Court, was the only colleague able to give 

contemporaneous evidence. He has been co-ordinating magistrate at 

Parramatta since January 2008. There are five courts in that complex. 

The magistrate has been posted to that court since January 2010. Mr 

Marsden found her to be "a very valuable member" of the court, 

demonstrating a sound and current knowledge of the laws of evidence and 

civil and criminal law. He said that she interacts well with other members 

of staff. 

220 Notwithstanding the evidence that the magistrate does, at times, function, 

and functions judicially, the Conduct Division has concluded that incapacity 

has been proved. That is because she has demonstrated a failure to 
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understand quite basic concepts of judicial behaviour. That finding, of 

course, encompasses the lesser finding that the evidence could be found 

by the Parliament to be sufficient to prove incapacity. 

221 Ultimately, the standard of misbehaviour or incapacity which will result in 

the removal of a judicial officer from office is a matter for the Parliament, 

with the assistance of the expertise of the Commission and applying 

contemporary community standards. The Conduct Division has decided, 

pursuant to s 28(1 )(a) that the matters considered herein could justify 

parliamentary consideration of the removal of the magistrate from office on 

either of the available grounds, that is, proved misbehaviour or incapacity. 

222 The Conduct Division wishes to emphasise that this report ought not be 

taken as the expression of opinion that the magistrate ought to be 

removed from office. That is a matter peculiarly within the province of the 

Parliament. 

Report to the Governor 

223 The Conduct Division finds: 

• the complaints of Mr O'Regan and Ms Passas are substantiated; 

• the complaint of Mr Farago is substantiated; 

• the complaint of Mr Castle is substantiated; . 

• the complaint of Mr Maresch is substantiated; 

• misbehaviour has been proved; 

• it would be open to the Parliament to find that misbehaviour has been 

proved; 
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• incapacity has been proved; 

• it would be open to the Parliament to find that incapacity has been 

proved; 

• the misbehaviour found proved could justify Parliamentary 

consideration of the removal of the judicial officer; 

• the incapacity found proved could justify Parliamentary consideration of 

the removal of the judicial officer. 

224 The Conduct Division so reports to the Governor. 

The Honourable Justice Simpson 

The Honourable D H Lloyd QC 

********** 
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1 MR McLAUGHLIN: McLaughlin, I appear for the complainant. 
2 The defe.ndant, as I understand it, is outs i de. It's the 
3 defendant's appl ication to have the compl'ainant's AVO set 
4 aside. 
5 
6 HER HONOUR: Oka1' that is matter number 25, Jul ie Passas. 
7 
8 MR McLAUGHLIN: Yes. 
9 

10 HER HONOUR: Have her ca I led, p I ease. 
11 
12 MR McLAUGHLIN: appear for Ms Brooks Maher. I indicate 
13 it's contested, but there is an app I i cat ion (i nd i st i nct) 
14 tOday. 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
?2 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
3.4 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 

HER HONOUR: Wei I, the reasons outlined in the appl ication 
are really, I would have thought, to issue one's own 
complaint not to seek to have this one be revoked 

MR McLAUGHLI N: If that, your Worship, then I'll 

THE COURT OFFICER: Ms Passas is before the court, your 
Worship. 

HER HONOUR: Yes, Ms Passas. Now, Ms Passas, do you have 
any solicitor appearing for you today? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, your Worship. 

HER HONOUR: Now, the orders were made at this court 'on 
7 March. 

THE DEFENDANT: That's correct. 

HER HONOUR: By consent. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Worship: 

HER HONOUR: And you were represented at that time? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Worship. 

43 HER HONOUR: The appl ication to revoke the order now is on 
44 the grounds set out in the appl ication. Have you sought to 
45 take any complaint out against Ms Brooks Maher yourself? 
46 
47 THE DEFENDANT: Your Worship, I don't know if you're aware 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 

that I'm a f oca I government counse I lor and it's been very 
stressTu J - -

HER HONOUR: I'm not - I'm not concerned with your 
position, ma'am. 

THE DEFENDANT: Well, I was 

HER HONOUR: I want to know on what basis are you making 
this application. Have you considered taking out your own 
complaint against Ms Brooks Maher - yes or no? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, your Worsh i p . I just want to 

15 HER HONOUR: Well, that's probably the - no; that's 
16 probably the thing you need to dQ, because the basis on 
17 which you're asking this to be revoked is because you have 
18 been subject to harassment. That's not SUTTicient reason 
19 to have th i s matter revoked, espec i a I I Y when you have 
20 consented to the order in the Tirst place. 
21 
22 THE DEFENDANT: The order, your Worship, that - when I 
23 came down to the counter downstairs, I sought some advice 
24 Trom the magistrate. I have paperwork here Trom the police 
25 and I was led to bel ieve today that I could - the pol ice 
26 would be here. I do have evidence, and iT the court 
27 permits me to -~ 
28 
29 HER HONOUR: No, there's not a question Tor evidence at 
30 this stage, ma'am. The reason why you're seeking to have 
31 the order that you consented to to be revoked is because of 
32 problems you say you had with the other person's behaviour. 
33 That, itself, would really be grounds Tor initiating your 
34 own complaint against her; do you understand? 
35 
36 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, but I don't want to take up the 
37 court's time on these type of things. I know that there is 
38 sUTficient evidence - I do haVe it - that this lady does 
39 not have any reason to Tear me.. I have a - I'm ta I ki ng 
40 about the reason I came'to the court to have it revoked. 
41 have proof that she has no reason to fear me. 
42 
43 The police initially had taken out the interim order, 
44 and I cannot understand why now the police have washed 
45 their hands of the issue, and I have to go back again and 
46 seek I ega I - pay I ega I money. I have pa i d thousands of 
47 dollars and I'm in the hands of the court . 
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11 
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13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 

.. 33 ! 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

I have a witness here. .I have paperwork from the 
pol ice officers, what occurred on the day, that should 
prove that this lady is dishonest and has no fear of me 
whatsoever. 

I am not here to take up hours and days off busy 
courts and I do not have any more finances to pay 
barristers. 

MR McLAUGHLI N: Your Worsh i p, can I make some remarks? 

HER HONOUR: Yes, Mr McLaughlin. 

MR McLAUGHLIN: The fact of the matter is that the AVO 
that was consented to in March of this year was on the 
basis of a statement made - that is, "You're dead" -
following a council meeting. Now, that was consented to 

THE DEFENDANT: Without admission 

MR McLAUGHLIN: -- and, in my respectful submission, 
pursuant to s!Jbsection (4)(a) section 562F, as your Worship 
would know, in order to entertain any revocation 
application, there must be a change in circumstances. That 
is the basic allegation upon which the AVO orders were 
made. 

Can I just indicate that, in my respectful submission, 
my reading of the grounds are actually somewhat different, 
and, if anything, nothing has occurred. You have a 
crossing of the paths in a toi let, apparently. There is 
certainly nothing in there which would suggest any 
harassment or any other simi lar activity on behalf of my 
cl ient. You have an alleged smirking and you have one of 
the groundS referr i ng to my c I i ent be i ng scared. 

So the difficulty, as I see it, for the defendant is 
that there has been no change in circumstances and indeed 
the grounds actually refer to my client being scared. So 
what the defendant now puts is, with respect, inconsistent 
with the grounds filed. So my submission is that it is 
clear that, pursuant to that subsection, this is an 
appl ication that the court should decline to hear. 

And I should also indicate this: my instructions are 
that any hearing would take in excess of four days and 

.15/8/03 4 
Transcript produced by Merrill Legal Solutions 

137 



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

there' d be a number of' witnesses ca I I ed . 

F?r those reasons, I ask that it be struck out today, 
and I'm also instructed to put def'endant on notice that 
certainly a costs appl ication wi II be made should the 
matter proceed and the def'ence are not successf'ul in having 
the AVO revoked; but, in my respectful submission, it 
doesn't get that far. 

HER HONOUR: Ms Passas, your appl ication says that you're 
seeking to have the order made by consent in March revoked 
on the basis, "I am being harassed by the complainant." 
That is a COPS entry in relation to what happened at the 
Downing Cent.re and really there's nothing there that I can 
see apart from a perce.ived smirk. 

THE DEFENDANT: Your Worship, I cannot understand today 

HER HONOUR: Courts are open. Courts are available for 
any members of the pub I i c to attend. 

22 THE DEFENDANT: I understand that, but, your Worship, this 
23 lady says she f'ears me, she's terrif'ied of'me, and she 
24 comes down to an area in a place that she knows I will be 
25 there. She was not a witness. She wasn't a party to the 
26 proceedings. And I am somewhat shocked and so upset that 
27' I'm hearing of' cost hearings. I bel ieve that the pol ice 
28 rang through the inter i m order. How come now th i sis a 
29 civi I case between Mrs Brooks Maher and myself? That's why 
30 I have no I ega I representat i on . 
31 
32 What is happening here, your Worship? I do not 
33 understand this. Why have the police washed their hands of 
34 the issue? They initially--
35 
36 HER HONOUR: .Probably.because they've got better things to 
37 do, Mrs Passas. 
38 
39 THE DEFENDANT: I can understand that. Wei I, why did not 
40 the police advise Mrs Brooks Maher to take out a civil AVO? 
41 
42 HER HONOUR: Just (indistinct). 
43 
44 THE DEFENDANT: Now the pol ice have washed their hands of 
45 it. 
46 
47 HER HONOUR: Look, I'm not here to answer your questi.ons . 
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This is not a government forum; okay? 

THE DEFENDANT: Who answers them, your Worship. 

HER HONOUR: Just listen to me, ma'am. I'm suggesting 
that your grounds for revocation do not comply with what is 
required. There's no change in circumstances; okay? The 
incident complained of is nothing.. If you have genUine 
concerns about the other lady, you can take out your own 
complaint. 

THE DEFENDANT: I'm not saying I'm afraid of her, your 
Worship, but with what I have, the documentation I have a 
witness, if he could address the court --

HER HONOUR: No, I'm not concerned with what happened on 
that day; okay? This is not a day where we need witnesses. 

THE DEFENDANT: But this lady is not in fear of me. She 
would not follow me to a place that she had no business to 
be at. 

HER HONOUR: 
to or the --

Ma'am, the complaint originally was admitted 

THE DEFENDANT: Without --

HER HONOUR: Listen to me, please. 
without admissions of any I iabil ity 
consented to an order for --

Don't butt in, I know, 
or fault by you, you 

THE DEFENDANT: I had no more money for barristers, your 
Worship. 

HER HONOUR: For whatever reason, ma'am, I'm not concerned 
with it - for a period of 12 months; that is that you not 
engage in conduct that intimidates her or any other person 
having a domestic relationship with her, not to stalk her, 
and not assault, molest, harass, threaten or otherwise 
interfere with her. That is the order that was made and 
that is the order that is in force as of 12 months from 
7 March 2003. 

THE DEFENDANT: SO, your Worship, she can follow me and 
come to where I am. Where is the fear? This is not the 
Austral ia I know. This is not the justice that I was 
brought up with. Thank you, your Worship . 
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1 
2 HER HONO\JR: Look, there's no votes to be ga i ned by mak i ng 
3 your little speech rrom your platform there, ma'~m. 
4 
5 THE DEFENDANT: Your Worship, I'm not given the 
6 opportunity to show what I have. I'm led to believe the 
7 police took out the AVO. Now, I have legal representatives 
8 here --
9 

10 HER HONOUR: I have not dealt with the matter, ma'am. Do 
11 you wish to hear me further or do you wish to make another 
12 po lit i ca I statement? 
13 
14 THE DEFENDANT: It's not a political statement, your 
is Worship. I have 
16 
17 HER HONOUR: If you want to whinge, you whinge outside. 
18 I've got many people here I have to deal with --
19 
20 
21 

THE DEFENDANT: WeI I, this is why I --

22 HER HONOUR: resent spending one more second on your· 
23 matter.. You have not out I i ned suffi c i ent grounds, no 
24 change or ci rcumstances .. 
25 
26 THE DEFENDANT: I'm not an experienced legal person --
27 
28 HER HONOUR: The application is revoked. 
29 
30 THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, your Worship. 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

HER HONOUR: The application is dismissed to revoke. I'm 
not satisried there's any change of circumstances being 
outl ined. 

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, your Worship, but you will not 
give me the chance to ask why it was taken out or to show 
you proof that th i s woman has no fea r? 

HER HONOUR: Ma 'am, get out of th i scourtroom., rna' am, 
please. It's not my function to do all that; okay? 

MR McLAUGHLIN: Your Worship, can I be heard? 

HER HONOUR: I decl ine to make any application in relation 
to cost, Mr McLaughl in; okay? Both parties are excused. 
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15 
16 

MR O'REGAN: You've been denied justice. 

HER HONOUR: Sir, you just come back here, thank you, sir. 

MR O'REGAN: Yeah, 1'1 I come back. 

HER HONOUR: Who are you? Who are you, sir? 

MR O'REGAN: My name is Jack O'Regan. 

HER HONOUR: And what did you just say to me? 

MR 0' REGAN: And I'm disgusted to see the way that lady 
has been treated. She came here to present a case on her 
own. She got no help and she (indistinct) --

17 HER HONOUR: Sir, I suggest that before anybody comes to 
18 this court, they get appropriate legal advice in relation 
19 to what they're doing. 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 

MR O'REGAN: 

HER HONOUR: 

MR O'REGAN: 

HER HONOUR: 

MR O'REGAN: 
justice. 

I beg your pardon? 

You have no legal training, I take it? 

No which? 

You have no legal training? 

No, that's true, but I have a good sense of 

HER HONOUR: Well, make sure you get your facts right in 
relation to it. The matter has been determined because 
there's no proper ground as in accordance with the 
legislation. Your friend --

THE DEFENDANT: 
submitted. 

. MR 0' REGAN: 

You haven't allowed the grounds to be 

But may I just say this: please give 
41 me one --
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

HER HONOUR: Go downstairs. Get somebody downstairs to --

MR O'REGAN: I apologise, just give me one minute. 

HER HONOUR: -- try and explain to these people who are 
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holding up this court. Otherwise I'll have you both 
charged with contempt of this court. 

lan, take them downstairs, get - get somebody 
downstairs to explain it to them. 

MR McLAUGHLI N: Just for the record. 

HER HONOUR: Mr McLaughlin, you foreshadowed the 
application for costs. I 'mdeclining any appl ication for 
costs. You're both. excused. 

MR McLAUGHLIN: Yes, thank you. 

HER HONOUR: Yes, the next matter? 

THE COURT ADJOURNED ACCORDINGLY 
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1 HER HONOUR: The matter was adjourned ror today. Legal 
2 argument was roreshadowed in relation to the question or 
3 "road-related area". I requested that any submission to be 
4 rei ied upon to be rorwarded to the court wei I berore today. 
5 I don't consider 1.34 yesterday being well berore today. 
6 
7 MR FARAGO: I don't remember you say i ng "wei I berore 
8 today", your Honour. You asked for --
9 

10 HER HONOUR: Well, let's (indistinct) I sat ti II quarter 
11 past 5 yesterday. 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

MR FARAGO: Yeah. 

HER HONOUR: Okay? 

17 MR FARAGO: WeI I, in fact the reason it wasn't sent 
18 earl ier was that I mistakenly 
19 
20 HER HONOUR: And nothing was sent to the prosecution at 
21 a II? 
22 
23 MR FARAGO: No, that's correct. 
24 
25 HER HONOUR: We I I, why not? 
26 
27 MR FARAGO: Wei I, I've got copies for the prosecutor. 
28 
29 HER HONOUR: Yeah, I know, but do you expect her to spend 
30 time tOday when she's got another hearing as well? It's 
31 just general courtesy. This has' been roreshadowed since 
32 1 June. It's been 'From the outset "road - re I ated a rea" , 
33 being the car park at the vet's shop allegedly. I don't 
34 know. I haven't seen any facts, but, you know, that's been 
35 foreshadowed, and I get this when I leave last night, took 
36 it home, read it in my own time. 
37 
38 The prosecutor was handed a copy by me at 11.30, 
39 because she hadn't heard anything, and no doubt you're 
40 going to expect me to make a ruling on it. Buckley's and 
41 none, I can tell you now. It's not good enough -
42 professional courtesies. 
43 
44 
45 

MR FARAGO: (Indistinct) . 

46 HER HONOUR: I'm going to start Mr Stewart's matter then 
47 I ' I I get on to yours; okay? 
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1 
2 MR FARAGO: But, the authorities would normally get handed 
3 up at the hearing, your Honour. You asked ror them earl ier 
4 than that. 
5 
6 HER HONOUR: Yes, I know. ! asked ror them so we could 
7 try and save time today because I am not a machine. work 
8 every day. 9.30, I started today. When am I supposed to 
9 consider this ir you fax it through yesterday at 1.30? And 

10 I sat to quarter past 5 last night? When is the 
11 prosecution going to have time to consider what you've 
12 written ir you're going to throw it in rront of her race at 
13 12 o'clock today? Not at al I. 
14 
15 So I'm asking any practitioner; if they're going to 
16 rely on law, to give the courtesy to the court and to the 
17 other side, whoever it is; I ikewise the prosecution, if 
18 they're relying on any legal argument, to provide the court 
19 with a copy and the other side well before the hearing date 
20 so court time does not need to be taken up with being off 
21 the bench in my chambersror five hours; okay? That's the 
22 point! was making. 
23 
24 
25 

MR FARAGO: ! was trying to explain to you that --

26 HER HONOUR: This matter wi I! be stood down unti I I can 
27 deal with the other matter. 
28 
29 MR FARAGO: Can I just explain why it was as late as it 
30 was? I did try to explain that to you. 
31 
32 HER HONOUR: No, there's no need. I'm going to start the 
33 other matter because it has priority. It's an earl ier 
34 ofrence. We wei I get to your case whenever we can, 
35 Mr Farago. 
36 
37 MR FARAGO: Not berore 2 o'clock. 
38 
39 HER HONOUR: Not before, I can sarely say, 2 o'clock, 
40 thank you. 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46· 
47 

MR FARAGO: Thank you. 

(Matter stood down) 

(Matter resumed) 
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1 
2 
3 
4· 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9· 

10 
11 
12 
13 

MR FARAGO: quite often, your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: Well, the procedure normally is, if you're 
going to just rely on a legal point, that sometimes it's a 
good idea to get a copy of the brief first, which has been 
avai lable since 12 noon. It's now 3 o'clock. 

MR FARAGO: Yeah. 

HER HONOUR: We I I, i was on 
argument on that point only, 
would not be in dispute. 

the understanding it was legal 
that the prosecution case 

14 MR FARAGO: You didn't make any direction to that effect 
15 when it was 
16 
17 
18 

HER HONOUR: Do need to? 

19 MR FARAGO: Wei I, I don't know. 
20 
21 HER HONOUR: . Do I need to? 
22 
23 MR FARAGO: It's not for me to say, really. 
24 
25 HER HONOUR: Oh, Mr Farago, look, it's 3 o'clock. This 
26 matter is not going to be finished today if you want all 
27 the witnesses; okay? 
28 
29 
30 

MR FARAGO: beg your.pardon? 

31 HER HONOUR: You've been here since 12 noon. You've now 
32 got a copy of the statement, which have been available 
33 since 12 noon. You're not sure whether you want the 
34 witnesses called or not. 
35 
36 MR FARAGO: I'm qu ite happy for them not to be ca I led .. 
37 was asked if I required any of the witnesses to be called. 
38 I would have thought· that's a matter for the prosecution, 
39 but our attitude is that --
40 
41 HER HONOUR: What case is before me apart from the 
42 prosecution case? Either the witnesses give evidence or 
43 the statements be handed up with consent. 
44 
45 MR FARAGO: Yes, well --
46 
47 HER HONOUR: I can't proceed on nothing 
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1 
2 MR FARAGO: That's--
3 
4 HER HONOUR: Do you get it? 
5 
6 MR FARAGO: Yes, I do, your Honour. 
7 
8 HER HONOUR: It '.s not a matter for the prosecut j on. It's 
9 a matter for you to assist the court. Otherwise we' I I go 

10 through the process of cal ling each of the witnesses and 
11 .the matter wi II adjourned to some time in 
12 September/October, part-heard. 
13 
14 MR FARAGO: Yeah. Well, I'm agreeable to proceeding 
15 without there being any prosecution witnesses. 
16 
17 HER HONOUR: Wei I, that means you've got to be able to 
18 consent to the statements being handed up. 
19 
20 MR FARAGO: Yes, well, There's also --
21 
22 HER HONOUR: Otherwise what evidence do I have? 
23 
24 MR FARAGO: I beg your pardon? 
25 
26 HER HONOUR: Otherwise what evidence do I take account of? 
27 
28 MR FARAGO: That's so. I mean, there are photos as well 
29 which show 
30 
31 HER HONOUR: Look, I'm just go i ng to go ofr bench so you 
32 can read what you've been given, get i nstruct·j ons from your 
33 cl ient, and then we can be in a better position. But I'm 
34 not impressed with the fact you've been here for three 
35 hours, have not even bothered to look to rind out what was 
36 there in the prosecution brief; okay? 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 

MR FARAGO: This statement is --

HER HONOUR: You're wasting the court's time, Mr Farago. 

(Matter stood down) 

(Matter resumed) 

46 THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: Your Honour, for the purpose of the 
47 case I'm tendering a ticket book. 
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1 
2 HER HONOUR: Yes, that will be admitted and marked 
3 exhibit 1 by consent. 
4 
5 EXHIBIT #1 POLICE TICKET BOOK 
6 
7 THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: A statement of Constable Luke 
8 Hayman from (indistinct) Pol ice. 
9 

10 HER HONOUR: Dated 22 June 2007. That will be admitted as 
11 exhibit 2, thank you. 
12 
13 EXHIBIT #2 STATEMENT OF CONSTABLE LUKE HAYMAN, 
14 DATED 22/6/07 
15 
16 
17 
18 

THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: 
to 35 inclusive. 

A notebook entry F391670, pages 31 

19 EXHIBIT #3 NOTEBOOK ENTRY F391670 PAGES 31 TO 35 INCLUSIVE 
20 
21 THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: The (indistinct) of the driving 
22 (indistinct), eight photographs. 
23 
24 
25 
26 

HER HONOUR: 
exhibit 4. 

Yes, the eight photographs wi I I admitted as 

27 EXHIBIT #4 EIGHT PHOTOGRAPHS 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 

HER HONOUR: Just pardon me one moment, thank you. 

THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: Thank you. 

33 .. HER HONOUR: Mr Farago, I apprec i ate the on I y issue is 
34 whether the area in which the coil ision occurred was a road 
35 or road-rei ated area? 
36 
37 MR FARAGO:. Yes. 
38 
39 HER HONOUR: Thank you. 
40 
41 Are you seeking to cal I your cl ient in relation to 
42 that? 
43 
44 
45 

MR FARAGO: Yes, yes, I would I ike to do that. 

46 HER HONOUR: Just pardon me one moment while I finish 
47 reading the material . 
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1 
2 Yes, Ms Simpson, please come to the witness box, thank 
3 you, ma'am. Now, Ms Simpson, do you wish to take an oath 
4 to God or do you wi sh to make an ar'fi rmation, wh i ch is a 
5 prom i se to te I I. the truth? 
6 
7 MS SIMPSON: A prom i se . 
8 
9 <CLAIRE SIMPSON, arfirmed: 

10 
11 HER HONOUR: Q. Okay, just take a seat there, thank you, 
12 and please speak up loudly and clearly towards that 
13 microphone in front of you. 
14 
15 <EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR FARAGO: 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 

MR FARAGO: Q. Your ful I name is 

.HER HONOUR: Actually, Mr Farago, you shouldn't need to 
call the defendant because you're really making a 
submission that there's no prima facie case on the basis 
that the prosecution has not been able to establ ish it's a 
road-related area. You don't get to the defence case until 
the dec i s i on has been made i n re I at i on to the I ega I po i nt . 
you've made. 

MR FARAGO: Well, I think it relates to the --

HER HONOUR: That's it 

31 MR FARAGO: I beg your pardon? . 
32 
33 HER HONOUR: That's what I'm saying. 
34 
35 Q. Okay, Ms Simpson, the legal point that's being raised 
36 is made on the basis that the prosecution have not been 
37 able to establish that the area in which the col I ision 
38 occurred was a road-related area; okay? That's the point 
39 that. your sol icitor is making on your behalf. 
40 
41 Before I can get into the defence case, I have to make 
42 a decision in relation to that; okay? If it's in your 
43 favour, I don't need to hear anyth i ng. I cannot hear 
44 evidence unless it's going to be conceded there is a prima 
45 facie case, and that is the whole point why we're here. 
46 
47 MR FARAGO: 
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1 

2 HER HONOUR: Q. Okay, so I'll just ask you to sit back 
3 down there, thank you, Ms Simpson. 
4 
5 <THE WITNESS WITHDREW 
6 
7 MR FARAGO: In terms or that aspect, your Honour, the 
8 section that is the applicable section is section 42 or the 
9 Road Transport Act. It talks about "negl igent, rurious or 

10 reckless driving" and it talks about - it says: 
11 
12 
13 
14 

A person must not drive a motor vehicle 
negligently on a road or road-related area. 

15 And then the derinition or a "road-related area" in the 
16 Act 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

HER HONOUR: Can 
It's in my desk. 
page, as derined, 

I get my volume 3 on my table, please? 
Volume, 3, yeah. It's opened to the 
I think, in section 4. 

22 Yes, please, continue, thank you, Mr Farago. 
23 
24 MR FARAGO: The "road-related area" means certain things, 
25 (a), (b) and (c), which I don't think are relevant, but 
26 what is relevant is that it means an area that is not a 
27 road and that is open to or used by the publ ic for driving, 
28 riding or parking vehicles. The issue then in terms of 
29 th i s area where the acc i dent occurred io5 whether it rea I I Y 
30 fal Is within that definition or a road-related area. 
31 
32 There are authorities on what those words mean "open 
33 to or used" 
34 
35 HER HONOUR: But the difficulty I've got with some of the 
36 authorities you've sent to me is the fact that they're in 
37 relation to other legislation, where the definition is a 
38 little bit difrerent. 
39 
40 MR FARAGO: The Austral ian Capital Territory one is a 
41 I ittle bit difrerent. 
42 
43 HER HONOUR: Well, isn't that crucial? 
44 
45 MR FARAGO: Well, it may be, it may not be, but let's just 
46 see the - where are we? The wording for the section that 
47 was being determined in relation to that particular matter 
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1 was "an ofr-street parking area" which is not exactly the 
2 same wording, but similar sort of considerations, I would 
3 submit. 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

HER HONOUR: I would have thought the most appropriate 
thing to do is refer to authorities under the same 
legislation or the same terms, the --

9 MR FARAGO: There's not a huge amount of authority on this 
10 very point, but the one authority that does deal with it --
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

HER HONOUR: 
okay? 

MR FARAGO: 

Because they're ta Iki ng about "pub I i c pi ace" ; 

I beg your pardon? 

17 HER HONOUR: That's not what I'm worried about here, 
18 "publ ic place" in the Motor Traffic Act down in the ACT. 
19 It's talking about "publ ic place" means "an off-street 
20 parking area", blah, blah, blah. It's a completely 
21 different conversation, completely different 
22 
23 MR FARAGO: Wei I, I don't think it's completely different, 
24 but 
25 
26 HER HONOUR: It is. 
27 
28 MR FARAGO: -- if you're of that view, 
29 
30 HER HONOUR: It is. We're talking about "road-related 
31 area meaning", meaning that: 
32 
33 It is not a road that is open to or used by 
34 the publ ic for driving, riding or parking 
35 vehicles. 
36 
37 
38 

MR FARAGO: Parking vehicles. 

39 HER HONOUR: Isn't that what the carpark to the vet's is, 
40 a carpark used by the publ ic ror parking vehicles? Are 
41 they exclusive persons that are parking, in the carpark or 
42 the Riverview vet hospital? That's really what you should 
43 be focusing on, Mr Farago, because that's what the 
44 authorities are tending to suggest. 
45 
46 MR FARAGO: The case that does deal with that very section 
47 is the Court of Appeal case Ryan v the Nominal Defendant, 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 

! 33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

and that deals with this issue at some length. 

HER HONOUR: Once again it's not looking at the same 
authority; it's looking at the civi I - the Compensation Act 
or something. 

MR FARAGO: The wording, as "far as I can see, is 

HER HONOUR: The Motor Accidents Compensation Act and the 
Motor Accidents Act, one or them is identical and one or 
them is not. Under the Motor Acc i dents Act "road" is the 
same derinition. It means: 

An area that is opened to or used by the 
pub I i c and is developed "for, and has as one 
of its main uses the driving or riding of 
motor vehicles. 

And really it's "road-related area" that we're concerned 
with here and the derinition under that Act is in identical 
terms to section 3 or the Road Transport (General) Act, 
which is the law that I need to worry about. 

MR FARAGO: Yes. What I think that that case shows is 
that these cases need to be determined on their particular 
racts and the particular "facts are different. Perhaps if I 
could read from "Traffic Ofrences and Accidents", which 
is --

HER HONOUR: A textbook? 

MR FARAGO: Yes. This is what it has to say about this 
question or carparks. It says: 

In ordinary parlance, rew motorists 

HER HONOUR: -- We I I, let's get on to that. When was it 
written? Who is it written by and what is it talking 
about, because I understand that that's talking about 
legislation in other states as wei I as New South Wales? 

MR FARAGO: It's deal ing with the issue that in 
circumstances where the legislation in other states 

HER HONOUR: You're quoting fourth edit-ion, University of 
Sydney library. When was it printed? It doesn't say, on 
what you provided to me. 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

MR FARAGO: 
ava i lable. 

It's the most current edition that's 

HER HONOUR: Fourth edition; I don't know when it was 
printed. It may have been printed in 1910. 

MR FARAGO: I can't say the exact date of its publ ication, 
but it's the current edition that's available. 

HER HONOUR: It may be a current edition, but is it 
current in relation to the current law? That's the 
problem. 

MR FARAGO: Well, I think, yeah, it is by impl ication. 

17 HER HONOUR: No, not - no, it is not a question of saying 
18 "I think it is· --
19 
20 MR FARAGO: I can't prove that, your Honour. You seem to . 
21 be so against· me with this that I'm --
22 
23 HER HONOUR: No, I'm not. I'm suggesting if you're going 
24 to make subm i ss ions to the court, you make sure, if you're 
25 going to quote stuff, you get it right. Number 2, if 
26 you're going to send up copies of textbooks, to ensure that 
27 i tis va lid for today' slaw. 
28 
29 
30 

MR FARAGO: Yeah. 

31 HER HONOUR: Not just hand up photocopies of the front 
32 page and then the pages in between; okay? 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

MR FARAGO: Yeah, yeah. 

HER HONOUR: I'm not going to do the homework for you, 
sir. I don't have the time. 

MR FARAGO: I'm not asking you to, your Honour. They're 
the submissions. In my submission, the particular 
circumstances of this area are such that it's an area that 
the public can have access to but has access to with 
difficulty. It is not an area where the general publ ic 
does have access to. In saying that. I'm not saying that 
the general public cannot get into this area, but it is not 
an area that the·general publ ic do use in terms of being 
able to access this area easi Iy or for their own particular 
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1 uses and, in my submission, because or that, this claim 
2 that has'been brought against the derendant --
3 
4 HER HONOUR: Claim? Claim? 
5 
6 MR FARAGO: -- shouldn't succeed. This complaint that --
7 
8 HER HONOUR: There's not a complaint. It's an al legation. 
9 It's a court attendance notice. It's a charge not a 

10 complaint. 
11 
12 MR FARAGO: This charge that has been brought against the 
13 derendant Simpson should not succeed for that reason. 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31. 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

HER HONOUR: Sergeant, have you had an opportunity or 
looking at the authorities which were provided to you this 
morn i ng by me? 

THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: Yes, your Honour, we have. Your 
Honour, the prosecution would argue that it's a carpark not 
only used by, as such, a limited class of persons, ie, the 
veterinary patients or their owners. It's not restricted 
to customers only at that location. The carpark is open to 
and used by other members of the public. There is another 
business which has its carpark at the back of that location 
as depicted in the last photograph, photograph 8. I'm 
sorry they're not marked but it's the last photograph in 
that bundle which was tendered with the prosecution brier. 

There's no signage displayed anywhere that says that 
it's restricted to the veterinary clinic patients or 
veterinary cl inic cl ients, and I would argue that the area 
is used - open to and used by the public for parking 
vehicles and thererore it's a "road-related area" as 
der; ned by the Austra I i an road ru I es . 

HER HONOUR: Yes, thank you. 

This defendant has pleaded not gui Ity to the 
al legation alleging that she, on 12 January 2007, did 
negl igently drive a vehic.le in the carpark at the rear of 
18 Northwood Road at Northwood. That appears to be the 
carpark behind the Riverview Animal Hospital. 

The prosecution case was tendered by consent. The 
only issue for this court's determination is: was the 
incident occurring on a road-related area. It's certainly 
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1 not a road. Now, "road-related area" is de'fined in the 
2 Road Transport (General) Act as meaning: 
3 
4 (a) an area that divided a road; or 
5 (b) a 'footpath or nature strip adjacent to 
6 a road; or 
7 (c) an area that is open to the publ ic and 
8 designated 'for use by eycl ists or animals; 
9 or 

10 (d) an area that is not a road and that is 
11 open to or used by the pub I i c Tor dr i vi ng, 
12 riding or parking vehicles'--
13 
14 And that really is the critical subsection 
15 
16 or 
17 (e) a shoulder of the road; or 
18 (f) any other area that is open to or used 
19 by the public and that has been declared 
20 under section 15 to be an area to which 
21 specif'ied prOVisions of this Act or the 
22 Regulations apply. 
23 
24 Now section 15 is talking about: 
25 
26 The Minister may deciare by order in the 
27 Gazette --
28 
29' There's no evidence be'fore me that any such declaration has 
30 been made under section 15. So the principal part or the 
31 den nit i on o'f "road - re I ated a rea" that we conf'i ne ou rse I ves 
32 to is Cd) o'f that de'finition o'f "road-related area". 
33 
34 There is no dispute that the de'fendant's vehicle was 
35 parked in the rear of the prem i ses . There's no dispute 
36 also that the vehicle end up down in the gully. The 
37 de'fendant told pol ice, when she was questioned: 
38 
39 Q. Were you the driver o'f the motor 
40 vehicle AFW337 when it col I ided with a 
41 fence and went down an embankment in 
42 the carpark - in the rear carpark o'f 18 
43 Northwood Road, Northwood? 
44 A. Yeah. 
45 Q. Can you tell me what happened? 
46 A. I was parking the car and my 'foot 
47 sl ipped from the brake on to the 
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1 accelerator and then I went through the 
2 renee and at that point I pulled on the 
3 handbrake and then it hit something and 
4 stopped. I think - I think it hit a rock. 
5 I had my seatbe I t on. I don't rea I I Y 
6 remember the rest. 
7 Q. Did you drive motor vehicle AFW337 
8 orten? 
9 A. Yeah, every day. 

10 Q. Was the motor vehicle functioning 
11 correctly berore the collision? 
12 A. Yeah. 
13 Q. When you injured in the coil ision? 
14 A. I don't think so, no. 
15 Q. Was there any other person in your 
16 vehicle at the time? 
17 A. No. 
18 Q. Were you driving in reverse or forward 
19 when the coil ision occurred. 
20 A. Forward. 
21 Q. Did·you put your foot on the 
22 acce I erator I nstead of the b.rake? 
23 A. I had to brake. I think my foot 
24 slipped onto hair or the accelerator as the 
25 car, wei I, it had a rair bit of power and I 
26 think my root was fully on the accelerator 
27 because the engine revved up. 
28 Q. Is there anything else you wish to 
29 say? 
30 A. No. 
31 
32 The defendant was issued with a trarric infringement 
33 notice. The police attended the scene at 1.05pm and made 
34 observations in relation to; the panel of the mesh rencing 
35 at the rear had been knocked over and in the bushland, 
36 dropping away steeply was the green Suzuki Vitara, AFW33Y 
37 [sic], approximately 15, 20 metres down the slope. 
38 
39 Constable Cole spoke with the derendant, and that's 
40 recorded in the orficer's notebook. The vehicle had to be 
41 winched up, back up the slope, and photographs were 
42 subsequently taken a rew days ago and they are exhibit 4. 
43 
44 The animal hospital is on Northwood Road. The 
45 photographs tendered in exh i bit 4 show "C I i ent park i ng at 
46 rear", a blue sign. It's not clear on the evidence whether 
47 that was on there in January. It's certainly there now 
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indicating that client parking at the rear. 

There is a skinny driveway going down to the carpark 
area. At the end of'the carpark area adjacent to the wire 
f'ence is a big blue parking symbol and with an arrow to the 
right, say i ng, "R i ver:vi ew An ima I Hospita I carpark." 

The other photographs show the area of' thecernent 
carpark with marked bays. To the lef't the black bitumen is 
"Other area", which appears to be a carpark f'or an adjacent 
business. 

Looking back from the carpark area towards the back of' 
the vet hosp i ta lis a sign, "P I ease re I i eve your dog before 
entering the hospital", and there's another sign only - "In 
relation to door stafF only, clients please use front 
entrance or rna i n entrance on Northwood Road." That's c I ear 
that the carpark where the defendant's vehicle was parked 
and where she ended up was to the rear of the veterinary 
surgeon's premises. It's not clear what business was 
operating to have cars parked next door. 

The principal submission made on behalf of the 
defendant is that carpark, whi 1st there, was not a public 
carpark as such and· the court is being asked to make a 
narrower interpretatipn of the def'inition of "road-related 
area"; that being that the persons avai lable to park in 
that carpark were of a limited class, being cl ients - and 
no doubt pets - of the veterinary hospital and cl ients of 
the adjacent building at that other part of the carpark. 

I don't really need to worry about the other building, 
though, I feel, and it's suggested on behalf of the 
defendant that since this was not an area which the general 
publ ic was al lowed to be in, that the prosecution has not 
been able to discharge its onus at prima facie level in 
relation to establ ishing sufFicient evidence of' that the 
carpark area was in f'act a road-related area. 

There are some authorities in relation to the matter. 
What has been provided to the court yesterday was the 
Supreme Court of'the Austral ian Capital Territory decision 
of Steven John Winbank v R A Baker, which is a civil matter 
dealt with in the Supreme Court of the Austral ian Capital 
Territory. That was in a residential carpark of a block of 
units. 
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1 The legislation in the ACT is somewhat different to 
2 the legislation in the New South Wales Road Traffic Act, 
3 but one principle that did come out of that case which I 
4 find appropriate is the ruling that the· qual ity of openness 
5 to the publ ic is important, 'chat i-F a distinction can be 
6 made in relation to the carpark of the veterinary hospital 
7 to, say, a carpark of a I arge supermarket cha i n 01- in fact 
8 a I arge or even a sma I I Sl10PP i ng centre. 
9 

10 I know there have been dec i s ions - though, I, i n the 
11 shortness of time, have not had any to do any thinking 
12 about research let alone research - that a McDonald's 
13 carpark has been found to be a road-related area. Class of 
14 persons may be patrons of McDonald's, but people not just 
15 (indistinct) ·as an open interpretation or a wider 
16 i nterpl-etat i on . 
17 
18 I have been asked to make a narrow interpretation of 
19 a "road related area" that this is not - and also it is 
20 pretty isolated. It is not easy to get into. It's quite 
21 a narrow entrance way to that carpark. 
22 
23 The other decision that I have been referred to is 
24 Ryan v Nominal Defendant [2005] NSWCCA, page 59. That's a 
25 decision of 14 March 2005, where the question was the 
26 liabi I ity of the nominal defendant, whether an accident 
27 occurred on a publ ic street and "used by the publ ic" is the 

.28 essential decision to be given in that case. 
29 
30 That referred to a similar description of 
31 "road-related area" under the Motor Accidents Act, and the 
32 equivocal question for the court's decision is: was the 
33 carpark area in which the accident occurred open to or- used 
34 by the publ ic? 
35 
36 It is a factual test, no doubt about that, and. there 
37 is no other evidence before me as to what purpose the 
38 defendant had in being there. The only thing is she put her 
39 foot on the wrong pedal and ended up going forward and 
40 thankfully was able to survive it. I'm not sure what 
41 happened to the car, but can the court be satisfied the 
42 prosecution has discharged its onus by suggesting that the 
43 carpark was a road-related area? 
44 
45 the nom i na I defendant, in that case, was the on Iy 
46 person able to be sued because they couldn't work out an 
47 identified vehicle involved. The court's decision was that 
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the trail-bike was being driven on an unfenced reserve 
adj acent" to the road, not on the road. So it's qu i te c I ear 
why that was round not to be a "road-related area", that it 
was a dirt track" adjacent to a road and ror all intents and 
pu\poses, it was a private area. 

I'm not impressed with textbooks being handed up, when 
I've got no idea when they're made, referring to some cases 
on which mayor may not be helpful. The case of Abrahams 
has been put on page 31 of this textbook, indicating that a 
steel gate stood at the entrance to a privately owned hotel 
carpark, left open during working hours, not used by 
shoppers at nearby shops. I t had an appea I to a lim i ted 
section of the populous. It remained a place open to the 
publ ic because certain members of the public were 
perm i tted, i nd i fferent I y and without d i scr i m i nat i on, to put 
the carpark to that use. 

In Pike v Webb, the Western Australian case: 

The carpark of a hotel was held to be a 
place to which the publ ic were permitted to 
have access. It may be arguable whether 
the difference in the statutory definitions 
give either case the status of being a 
precedent applicable to the current 
defi niti ons. 

Access has gone out of favour. 

Is this private land in which the carpark is? 
Obv i ous I Y it is, be i ng adj acent to the rear of the vet 
hospital. There's no barring publ ic access to that 
carpark, but it's quite clear with the sign "CI ient parking 
at rear" the specific purpose of that carpark was purely 
for the clients of the veterinary hospital. 

Sometimes the law is an ass. I must say the 
definition of "road-related area" certainly is because the 
authorities seem to suggest that since the carpark is 
I imited to a specific class of person or a I imited class of 
person that it's not open to the publ ic. I am bound by 
that ruling, which means that the prosecution have not been 
able to provide evidence that the area in which the 
coIl ision occurred was a "road-related area". Accordingly 
the information is dismissed. 
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Now, the reason why I say it's an ass is because 
either people are al lowed to park there or they're not. If 
they are, they should be duty bound to have the law 
applicable to them in relation to traffic things because 
the other cars are there. It means there could bea big 
coil ision in a carpark such as this and there are no 
remedies avai lable and I find that is absolutely more than 
"assful" [sic}; it's just ridiculous. But on this 
occasion, Mr Farago, I uphold your submission in relation 
to road-related area. The charge is dismissed. Yes, thank 
you. 

MR FARAGO: Thank you. 

THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: 
ticket book? 

Your Honour, cou I d I just have the. 

HER HONOUR: Yes. certainly: if you could just get a 
photocopy of that to replace exhibit. 1. 

THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: Thank you, your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: Thank you. 

THE POLICE PROSECUTOR: (Indistinct). 

HER HONOUR: Yes, you may leave the Bar Table, thank you. 

(Indistinct exchange between Mr Farago and the 
Pol ice Prosecutor) 

HER HONOUR: Look. it is an ass because there was a ... 

THE COURT ADJOURNED ACCORDINGLY 
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HER HONOUR: Yes. 

3 MR CASTLE: Could I mention matter number one on the 
4 applications list, your Honour? Matter of Amy Cooper. 
5 
6 HER HONOUR: Yes, RTA appeal? 
7 
8 MR CASTLE: My name is Castle. 
9 

10 HER HONOUR: Yes, I understand there are two RTA appeals. 
11 I'll deal with those both, now. 
12 
13 MR CASTLE: Your Honour, this is a request for referral to 
14 the traffic (indistinct) rehabilitation offender's program. 
15 
16 . HER HONOUR: (Indistinct) 
17 
18 MR CASTLE: In that case, could I request an adjournment 
19 for two weeks? 
20 
21 HER HONOUR: Representation from the RTA? 
22 
23 MR EURELL: I appear for the (indistinct) E-u-r-e-l-l. 
24 
25 HER HONOUR: Your client urn, is on a P2 licence. I don't 
26 know what the record is, but ah, at least on this occasion 
27 urn, incurred 9 points - two speeding matters. 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 

MR CASTLE: One - one was on a - on a double demerit 
weekend, your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: No excuse, is it? 

34 MR CASTLE: Ah, madam, my client does have fairly pressing 
35 reasons - reasons for a licence. 
36 
37 HER HONOUR: Won't do it - where she does a traffic 
38 attendance in the program 15 times. Won't get it. Okay. 
39 It makes a mockery of the demerit point system if young 
40 people especially (indistinct) think because they need to 
41 get to university or school, or whatever; public transport 
42 is here, available. 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

MR CASTLE: 

HER HONOUR: 

.26/6/09 

University and work, your Honour. 

So what? We all do. Okay. 
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MR CASTLE: 

HER HONOUR: 
P2 licence. 

Urn, your Honour normally (indistinct)--

P-plate drivers are subject to 7 points for a 
Your client has got 9, two speeding matters. 

6 MR CASTLE: Ah, one of them was on a double demerit 
·7 weekend. I appreciate that the first double demerit 

8 was 
9 

10 HER HONOUR: You have said that twice. 
11 
12 MR CASTLE: Yes, well, I think it's fairly significant, 
13 your Honour. 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 

HER HONOUR: 

MR CASTLE: 

No, it's not. 

It's - it's a --

19 HER HONOUR: Twice, she has been in and out of --
20 
21 MR CASTLE: (Indistinct) 
22 
23 HER HONOUR: Don't talk to me when I'm talking to you, 
24 ·okay? Double demerit points are well advertised. But two 
25 times your client has been caught exceeding the speed limit 
26 on a provisional 2 licence. Does she want to kill 
27 somebody? 
28 
29 
30 

MR CASTLE: Um --

31 HER HONOUR: The two (indistinct) , one of those is a 
32 double demerit points period. "So what" is what I am going 
33 to say to her when she gets in the witness box. 
34 
35 
36 

MR CASTLE: She heard 

37 HER HONOUR: She will need to explain to me why she 
38 blatantly committed those two offences and disregarded her 
39 need for a licence, because that's exactly what she has 
40 done. 
41 
42 MR CASTLE: My client is before the court, your Honour. 
43 If your Honour is not prepared to adjourn, I'm happy to 
44 have the matter dealt with now. It appears that --
45 
46 HER HONOUR: I'll hear evidence from Ms Cooper to tell me 
47 exactly the situation behind these two offences. Then I 
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may consider any further application you wish to make. 

MR CASTLE: Do you want me to call Ms Cooper? 

HER HONOUR: Yes. Ms Cooper - Amy Cooper. Just come up 
to the witness box, thank you, ma'am. 

MR CASTLE: Can I tender some testimonials, your Honour? 

HER HONOUR: Not at the moment. Just come up to the 
witness box, thank you, ma'am. Just remain standing there, 
thank you. Now, before giving evidence do you wish to give 
evidence on oath to god or do you wish to make an 
affirmation which is a promise to tell the truth. 

MS COOPER: Oath to God. 

<AMY COOPER, sworn: 

HER HONOUR: Okay, just take a seat, thank you, Ms Cooper. 
Please speak up loudly and clearly towards that microphone 
in front of you. 

MS COOPER: Thank you. 

HER HONOUR: Now the ah, RTA file will be marked 
exhibit 1. 

MR EURELL: I tender that. 

EXHIBIT #1 RTA FILE 

HER HONOUR: Thank You. Yes thank you, Mr Castle? Kathy 
just bring it straight here, don't worry about where the 
exhibits go. Yes, Mr Castle? 

<EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR CASTLE: 

MR CASTLE: Q. Could you please tell the court your full 
name and address? 
A. My name is Amy Cooper. I live at 18 Horton Street, 
Linley Point. 

Q. And you are the defendant in this matter?· 
A. Yes, I am. 

Q. The applicant in this matter. Urn, on the 14th of 
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March 2009 you were convicted of driving a vehicle at more 
than - sorry, by not more than --

HER HONOUR: Q. There was a camera offensive - offended -
the camera detected offensive speed on 14 March 2009 in the 
Eastern Distributor at Darlinghurst, north-bound, 
travelling at 97 in an 80 zone? 
A. Okay. I was not aware that I was speeding at the 
time. 

Q. Why not? 
A. Um, because I would have been driving up from Windsor 
at which point the speed kilometre. limit is l0e kilometres 
an hour, and then I would set the cruise control on 
whatever the speed limit was, but then, you know, after 
driving for a certain period of time 

Q. This is the Eastern Distributor 
A. Yep. 

Q. -- okay. This isn't the city. 
A. Yes, I know, but you can still continue 

Q. (Indistinct) I know, but you're the one responsible 
for. how fast the car goes. 
A. Yes, that's correct. And then after driving for that 
period of time, just - you just keep going, and then I was 
not aware of speeding at lee kilometres per hour. 

Q. 97.in an 8e is what the camera got you at, okay. 
Those signs clearly say 8e. Did you.see the signs? 
A. I don't know. 

Q. Of course you didn't. You don't know that you saw the 
signs. You have to establish evidence to my satisfaction 
that you are a fit and proper person to have a licence. 
The explanation for this does not cut it, okay? 
A. Okay. 

Q. All right? 
A. Yes. 

Q. You can't use the cruise control defence because there 
isn't one there. You are the one who has the control of 
the vehicle. Okay, you are now in the city. Get the 
cruise control off. You are the one who can see the 
speedometer right in front of you. You are the one who has 
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1 your eyes opening out to see what the speed limit signs are 
2 because they do change, especially on major roads like 
3 that, from le0 to 110 to 1e0 to 80 to 90 whatever. 
4 A. I'm not allowed to do 110. 
5 
6 
7 
8 

Q. 
A. 

Yes, I know you're not. 
I'm only a P-plate driver. 

9 Q. I know, but you've done 97 in an 80 zone, okay? 
10 That's why you are her.e today and you are blissfully 
11 unaware that you have committed an offence. That's a real 
12 concern to me. 
13 A. I know. I'm aware that I have committed an offence. 

·14 The reason I'm here is because I've been told that I have 
15 to come to court because of these things. 
16 
17 Q. You are the one that. has lodged an appeal. You have 
18 to establish that you are a fit and proper person to have 
i9 your licence restored to you. 
20 A. I am a fit. and proper person. 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41· 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

Q. No, you're not. I'm saying (indistinct) on one 
offence, okay. You've got two speeding offences within a 
month of one another. 
A. Okay. 

Q. That's very poor, isn't it? Okay. 
A. I don't believe so. 

Q. Now let's talk about the first one. On 14 March you 
drove from Windsor. It was on speed - what do you call it? 
The cruise control. Why didn't you look at the signs? 
A. You have to vary it as you go through, so you adjust 
and then you speed up again during a certain time, and the 
speed limit doesn't stay at 80 the whole way through. 

Q. Get rid of the cruise control, because you have to 
establish yourself a pattern of driving so y6u have control 
instead of thinking the car is going to drive itself, 
because the cruise control is not (indistinct), you are, 
okay. So I suggest quite clearly - I've got a cruise 
control on the cars I have. I don't use it. I want to be 
in control. That's lazy driving. That's just not a good 
excuse, okay. So you struck out on that one. Okay, the 
next one, 11 April 
A. The one --
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Q. 
A. 

Hang on. Hang on. I'll have a look, okay? 
Okay .. 

4 Q. It's not good, is it? 5.04pm on Saturday, the 11th of 
5 April, Victoria Road, Rydalmere, 79 in a 60 zone. What the 
6 hell is going on there? 
7 A. Okay. The road on Parramatta changes from a 60 zone 
8 to a 70 zone. 
9 

10 Q. It is never a 79 zone, is it? Or an 80 zone, is it? 
11 Do you agree with that? 
12 A. May I continue? 
13 
14 Q. I'm asking you the question. Is it; it's not anything 
15 other than a 70 zone from Parramatta to the city on 
16 Victoria 
17 A. The point where I was --
18 
19 Q. No, just answer that question. It's never more than 
20 70, is it? 60,710, school zone is 40. Okay, so why were 
21 you doing 79? 
22 A. I was aware that urn - the point where I was I thought 
23 was a 70 zone. There's very limited signing in that area. 
24 
25 Q. SO that's why you do 79? 
26 A. The point where I was caught was when I was going down 
27 a slope. I was unaware that I had raised above, you know, 
28 the limit, and then when the police caught me at the bottom 
29 of the hill they said that I was doing 79 which I just 
30 thought was very odd, but urn, it was also right before I 
31 changed to a 70 zone. It was about see metres away. 
32 
33 Q. That's half a kilometre.· You've got no idea about the 
34 road rules, do you, ma' am? You've got· no idea that your 
35 responsibility is to ensure that you and only you comply 
36 with the road rules when you are behind the wheel of your 
37 car. It is not a hill, like you're going to be racing down 
38 there. It's.a slight slope, okay. Now, 79 - 81 to 79 is 
39 what the police got you at, okay. They put 79 on the 
410 ticket, the lesser amount. That's still way above the 710 
41 zone if you thought it was a 710 zone, right. That's a 610 
42 zone, the area in which you were caught speeding. 
43 (Indistinct) 70 zone, 5010 metres up the road. That's a 
44 half kilometre. That does not condone your actions. Why 
45 weren't you in a position to understand you were travelling 
46 at 79? Once again, ignoring the signs; you didn't see the 
47 610 zone sign. They are there. 
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A. They are very sparse. 

Q. They are there, ma'am, okay. And you are the one who 
has got the speedometer right in front of you. You don't 
seem to want to look at it. You've got every excuse under 
the sun. You're responsible for these twp - two offences; 
nobody else. 
A. I admit that I'm responsible for them. 

Q. It clearly demonstrates to me - that your own answers 
clearly demonstrate to me, that you have got no 
(indistinct). It's the hill that has caused you to commit 
the offences - the sign see metres up the road saying 713 
which allows you to go to 79! No way. You should go back 
to school. Look at the handbook. Better still, go to the 
morgue and see dead bodies caused by speeding. Maybe then 
you might start looking at the speedometer, keeping an eye 
out for the signs which are there. Sparse or not, they are 
there. Do you understand where I'm coming to? 
A. Yes, I do .. 

Q. I don't give a licence back to young people because 
they want to have it back for their own convenience. 
You've got to demonstrate why - there's nothing exceptional 
in any of these offences. In fact, your explanation leaves 
a lot to be desired .. It clearly demonstrates to me you 
just don't have a clue about your responsibilities, okay. 
Why do you need a licence? 
A. Because I've lots of responsibility. I help out --

31 Q. Don't we all? Don't we all? You've got two speeding 
32 offences within one month of each other very early in your 
33 driving career. That's not good enough. What do you do 
34 for a living? 
35 A. I look after children, 
36 
37 
38 
39 
413 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46· 
47 

Q. 
A. 

Q. 
A. 

Q. 
A. 

Q. 
A. 

. 26/6/139 

Where at? 
Gladesville. I'm a coordinator ata centre. 

You live at Linley Point? 
Yes. 

So that's not too far to get a bus? 
Not at 6.313 in the morning. 

There's buses at 6.313 in the morning. 
From Linley Point? 
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Q. 
A. 

Yes, I.'m sure -­
It's been decreased. 

5 Q. I know, but how far is it? Even if you got a cab - 2 
6 kilometres? 
7 A. More than that. 
8 
9 Q. There's other ways you can get there. You can get a 

10 pushbike and start ridingi can't you? There's other 
11 alternatives that's available to you. It's one suburb 
12 away. Linley Point is over the bridge, isn't it? Then 
13 you've got Gladesville, so it's not as if you're going from 
14 the Hills district where there's absolutely no trains and 
15 buses and it's absolutely chock-a-block. 
16 A. I do spend a lot of time in the Hills district. 
17 That's where my fiance lives. We're planning on getting 
18 married. 
19 
20 (Phone rings in the court room) 
21 
22 HER HONOUR: Sir, get out of this courtroom now and take 
23 that damn phone with you. Is it off? Otherwise I will 
24 take - make sure it's off (indistinct). Anybody else with a 
25 mobile phone, please make sure they are turned off. There's 
26 multiple signs that everybody's ignored - until this 
27 gentleman has certainly ignored. If anymore goes off, I 
28 will confiscate them. It does interfere with recording 
29 equipment. Do not turn any on (indistinct). If I hear that 
30 phone one more time, you will never get it back, okay? 
31 
32 MALE SPEAKER: I got it off. 
33 
34 HER HONOUR: It's off? 
35 
36 MALE SPEAKER: (Indistinct). 
37 
38 HER HONOUR: (Indistinct), okay. I'm trying to do a job 
39 here. It's very important for this young lady. She's 
40 trying to explain to me certain things and it's not helpful 
41 when you have mobile phones going off. 
42 
43 Q. Big deal, is what I'm going to say to you, okay. I'm 
44 playing the devil's advocate here, because the community 
45 have a right just as much as you do in relation to your 
46 appeal. They want me to consider carefully what you are 
47 saying tome, not have somebody who willingly, knowingly 

.26/6/09 9 A COOPER x (Mr Castle) 
Transcript produced by Merrill 'Legal Solutions 



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 

( 18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
36 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
46 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

commit two speeding offences within a month to be back on 
the streets. driving because she lives at Linley Point and 
works at Gladesville. No, sorry. That may be a bit 
inconvenient to get a bus early in the morning; or make 
other alternative arrangements. Boyfriend can then come 
over to see you. 
A. I also have --

Q. Big deal. It's three months. 
A. I also have other commitments at my church in Mosman 
and other 

Q. Once again, it's a public transport trip away, isn't 
it? 
A. And other commitments at the church in Castle Hill. 

Q. Once again it's another difficulty you have created 
for yourself. Why do we have a demerit point system, 
ma'am? You tell me. 
A. To ensure c well, I think first of all most - it's a 
revenue raising thing, but to make sure 

Q. No, no, no. Exactly. Mr Castle has put his head in 
his hand. That's disgusting response. That's the 
newspaper response, okay. You've committed two offences. 
Why shouldn't you pay a fine for committing those two 
offences --
A. r agree --

Q. Shut-up, please, ma'am. I'm going to talk to you now 
and you listen hard. That response is another black mark 
against you, okay - "Revenue raising". That is the most 
ridiculous thing any person can say to anybody else. All 
right? Why, in smaller points? I will tell you. It's 
pretty simple. To act as some sort of checking mechanism 
for all of us to ensure that we keep to the road rules when 
we are behind the wheel of a car, to make sure we're going 
to be safe drivers, and·if we're not safe drivers, if we 
inadvertently are not concentrating and have one offence, 
we'll have three points deducted, or whatever the points 
are. And then we know "Okay, for me I've got nine more to 
go. I must make sure - my licence is very important to me. 
r must make sure r do not lose it. But more importantly, r 
don't want to kill somebody out there on the road." That's 
the reason why we have demerit points, okay. Do you 
understand now? Forget about revenue raising; that's a 
disgusting response. Gee, if r had the power to increase 
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it, I would. Three months' inconvenience, and you think 
you're god's gift, do you? 
A. No, I don't. 

Q. Well why are you here wasting my time, because that's 
exactly what you are doing. You've got no idea. You have 
clearly demonstrated that by your own answers you've got no 
idea why we have road rules. You seem to think you're 
exceptional. You're not. 
A. I don't. 

Q. Your explanations are pitiful. I don't mean to 
embarrass you, but they are pitiful, and that answer there, 
I think everybody was thinking "My god, what is·this young 
lady doing? Putting herself deeper and deeper in a ditch?" 
Exactly, you don't. Okay, so you work at Gladesville. You 
live at Linley Point, so that's not a massive journey. 
Okay, church commitments; unfortunately other people are 
going to have to help you out there. You don't deserve to 
be on the road. And hopefully you are going to learn how 
important your licence is to you, which obviously you 
didn't think about on 14th of March when you had your 
cruise control on going through the Eastern Distributor, or 
did you, on Victoria Road at Rydalmere, think about the 
consequences of the possibility of losing your licence? 
Double demerit points. You were aware of that. It was 
Easter time. 
A. (Indistinct) . 

Q. You are a very, very foolish young lady. If you don't 
get the message now, after today, you never will. Do you 
understand where I'm' coming from? 
A. I do. Yes, I do. 

Q. Do you see any merit in your own application? 
A. No. 

HER HONOUR: Mr Castle, any other questions you wish to 
ask Ms Cooper? 

MR CASTLE: There are other reasons for my client 
retaining her licence which are --

HER HONOUR: Well, she can tell me. 

MR CASTLE: Q. 
A. Yes, I do. 

Do you attend university? 
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MR CASTLE: (Indistinct) your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: Q. Where's your university? 
A. At Macquarie Uni. 

Q. Yeah, a bus trip away, isn't it? It is. 
A. Not exactly. 

Q. It is a bus trip away. You might have to get two 
buses - get the bus from Linley Point down Burns Bay Road 
into Gladesville street, Hunters Hill, then you hop on the 
596. Easy. Fair dinkum. If you were born 80 years ago 
you'd have to walk 20 miles to school every day. Gosh 
knows how you're going to be treated. 
A. At ah, night-time, late at night, there is no public 
transport --

Q. There's a train, isn't there? 
A -- at 11 o'clock at night. 

Q. Yeah, I know, but other arrangements have to be made.· 
You have - you knew about all these commitments when you 
blatantly drove well in excess of the speed limit you 
thought it was, let alone the actual speed limit of 60. 
You knew full well of your commitments and you didn't 
care, you didn't think of them and now you're asking me 
to think of them. No, I'm not going to, because I have no 
guarantee you're not going to continue to offend again 
because you just think "revenue raising". That's a pitiful 
response. 
A. They are there to protect us, but I believe that the 
demerit point system 

Q. Shut your mouth because I don't think it's going to do 
any good. Mr Castle is really aiming for you to be. quiet. 
You have your own views on that. The speed cameras are 
there. They do pick up people who offend who breach the 
law. 
A. That's right. 

Q. They have to pay fines. 
A. (Indistinct). 

MR CASTLE: 
account --

Um, your Honour, I'd like you to take into 

HER HONOUR: Any further questions, because she needs to 
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1 be cross-examined. 
2 
3 MR CASTLE: No, no further questions, your Honour. 
4 
5 HER HONOUR: Yes, any cross-examination, Mr Bueraa? 
6 
7 MR BUERAA: No, thank you, your Honour. 
8 
9 HER HONOUR: Yes, thank you, Ms Cooper. You certainly 

Ie have not demonstrated to me any great due regard for the 
11 road rules at all. You put your head in your hands when 
12 she said "revenue raising". I mean, she is a forthright 
13 ·young woman but a very selfish one. 
14 
15 MR CASTLE: It is a general public consensus, I believe, 
16 your Honour, if it's not shared by you. I'd like you to 
17 take --
18 
19 
2e 

HER HONOUR: What merit is there? 

21 MR CASTLE: -- I'd like you to take into account, your 
22 Honour, that my client has held a licence for two years. 
23 She's had two offences. They were both committed 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
4e 
41 
42 
43 
44 

HER HONOUR: In a month. Within a month. 

MR CASTLE: committed in close proximity of each other 
and - and - and - and 

HER HONOU~: And the explanation is given. 

MR CASTLE: -- I'd ask you to accept they are an 
aberration. 

HER HONOUR: No, they weren't. 

MR CASTLE: Your Honour, you've 

HER HONOUR: Oh, Mr Castle, really. I know you are doing 
your job. They are not an aberration. You heard 
the - your client's ·own evidence in relation to them. 
"Cruise control"; "didn't even notice it was an 8e zone". 

MR CASTLE: Your Honour has come to the conclusion that my 
45 client is not a fit and responsible person to hold a 
46 licence, your Honour. My client did - has offered and 
47 sought to be - um, to participate in the traffic 
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re-offenders program. Um, and it might be --

HER HONOUR: She can do that voluntarily. It won't change 
my decision. She has clearly demonstrated 

MR CASTLE: I think she needs actually an order from the 
court to attend, your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: No, solicitors can send off their clients 
before they plead guilty. She can voluntarily take herself 
off there. She would not get a licence back from me even 
if she did it, okay. It may be helpful for her to do it. 
That just sheets home the common sense that we all should 
have in relation to the dangers of drink and driving and 
speeding and any other offence out there. Your client's 
own evidence in relation to these two offences leaves a 
heck of a lot to be desired, and I think that was clear for 
you as well as me, and hopefully now her. Not good enough. 

MR CASTLE: Well I've - I've - I've 

Now why is it that young people seem to think that 
since they live one suburb away from where they work that 
that inconvenience is going to be too great for them to 
bear? Welcome to the real world. We are spoilt, this 
generation, very, very spoilt. She seems to think she is 
hard done by by incurring 9 points - "it's the car's 
fault", "it's the hill", "huge hill in Victoria Road"; I 
don't think so. That's never going to be an explanation. 
Double demerit points - she was aware of it. It was Easter 
time. No merit whatsoever. 

I'm not satisfied on the evidence that Ms Cooper is 
fit and proper person to have a licence. Accordingly, the 
suspension of the appeal is dismissed. Suspension of three 
months will take place as of now, the 26 of June 2009. 
That means you must not drive until after 25th September 
2009. 

MR CASTLE: Your Honour, may - may I ask that the 
suspension start urn --

HER HONOUR: The appeal is dismissed now - now --

MR CASTLE: It's just, my client --

HER HONOUR: -- 5 to 113. 
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MR CASTLE: -- my client drove here, your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: If she has driven to court today, she is a 
very, very foolish young lady. 

MR CASTLE: I did 

HER HONOUR: She'll have to arrange somebody else to drive 
the car. It's taking place as of now, 5 to 10. 

MR CASTLE: As you please, your Honour. 

HER HONOUR: Ms (ooper, where did you park your car? 
We'll escort you to make sure you don't drive it. 

MR CASTLE: I don't think that will be necessary. 

HER HONOUR: Well, I hope not. The police around here 
always catch the persons who only drive for the first and 
only time, driving while suspended. Ms (ooper, you are not 
to drive --

MR CASTLE: I'll wait - I'll wait - I'll wait - I'll wait, 
with my client. 

HER HONOUR: 
ma'am. 

MS COOPER: 
drive now. 

as of now. Ms Cooper, stand up, thank you, 

I'm more then understand, that I'm not to 

HER HONOUR: Not to drive as of now for a period of three 
months, okay? If you drive while suspended - I'm talking 
to you; please stand up. I can't see your eyes at all. 
Very important things I need to say to you, okay. If you 
get caught driving while suspended, it carries 
consideration of a jail sentence. 

MS COOPER: Yes. 

HER HONOUR: Okay. It also carries a mlnlmum period of 
disqualification for 12 months, so do not be tempted at all 
to drive for any reason for the next three months. 

MS COOPER: 

HER HONOUR: 

.26/6/09 

(Indistinct). 

Okay. Now, why you· drove to court today when 
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this'appeal was pending I 
be tempted to drive home. 
arrangements. 

do not know, but certainly do not 
You'll have to make other 

5 MS COOPER: I shall. 
6 

7 HER HONOUR: Yes, thank you, very much now, Mr Castle. 
8 
9 MR CASTLE: Thank you, your Honour. 

10 
11 HER HONOUR: You are excused. 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
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IN THE RYDE LOCAL COURT 

LANE COVE COUNCIL 
(Plaintiff 

v 

PETER MARESCH 
(Defendant) 

BEFORE: Magistrate Jennifer Betts 

On Friday, 9 October 2009 
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1 SERGEANT: One or the people here is Peter Maresch, your 
2 Honour, but I understand the papers are outside. The 
3 matter was put over ror the prosecution to get photos. 
4 have requested them, your Honour. They haven't been 
5 provided by the council. 
6 
7 HER HONOUR: The matter or Peter Maresch. Mr Maresch, you 
8 envisage that you are going to plead not guilty. I have 
9 brought you to court today because I think the Lane Cove 

10 Council had a photograph or you in the loading zone. 
11 
12 SERGEANT: The ticketing indicates that they did take a 
13 . photo. We requested that photo on the last occasion to 
14 
15 HER HONOUR: Now, Mr Maresch, the photograph has been 
16 taken, but it's not with the prosecution rile. Ir that 
17. photograph shows your vehicle in the loading zone and 
18 you're not a vehicle that's supposed to be in a loading 
19 zone you wi II be round gui Ity, okay? So I'm not sure what 
20 the basis or your written plea or not gui Ity is, okay? 
21 
22 
23 

MR MARESCH: We I I, your Honour 

24 HER HONOUR: It is a passenger vehicle sedan, which is not 
25 supposed to be in a loading zone anyway. 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30. 
31 

MR MARESCH: 

HER HONOUR: 
driving? 

Sorry? 

Passenger vehicle sedan is what you were 

32 MR MARESCH: Yes, .it was towing a trai ler, and under the 
33 regulations I'm allowed to park a vehiCle "principally 
34 constructed ror carrying goods". Now, I do it quite orten. 
35 I need a trailer ror business and I use the trailer to 
36 take, on that particular occasion, parcels to the post 
37 orri ce because I've got - my car is ru I I or other sturr ror 
38 my landscaping business. And there seems to be - there 
39 doesn't seem to be an argument about whether or not I was 
40 towing a trailer. It's all about the --
41 
42 HER HONOUR: The only thing in the ticket is the sedan. 
43 They don't mention the trai ler in there and the photograph 
44 is not here, okay? 
45 
46 
47 

MR MARESCH: 

.9/10/09 

Yes. 

2 P MARESCH 
Transcript produced by Merrill Legal Solutions 

102 



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

'- 17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

HER HONOUR: Look, it might be in your interest to make 
representations to Lane Cove Counci I in relation to your 
vehicle being a trailer attached to the sedan and what you 
suggest is a lawrul derence. They may take that into 
account and withdraw the appl ication - the complaint 
against you, okay? 

SERGEANT: Your Honour, could I ask the court's indulgence 
to have the matter stood down unti I arter morning tea. 
There is a (indistinct) and I can try and make an inquiry 
with council in regards to the trai ler, and ir that's the 

. case there might be' a --

HER HONOUR: Okay. I mean, the sergeant might be able to 
make those inquiries today and may be able to get 
instruction rrom the council in relation to it, which wi I I 
mean you don't have to come back, okay? 

MR MARESCH: Right. 

HER HONOUR: So, just bear with me and we' I I try and get 
that sorted out ror you today, okay? I' I I just resume --

MR MARESCH: 

HER HONOUR: 

Okay. I'll just wait here. 

Yep, just wait here, okay. 

(Matter stood down) 

HER HONOUR: Sergeant, any dirriculty with Mr Maresch's 
problem? 

SERGEANT: Your Honour, I've been emai led some colour 
photos. Unrortunately I've only got access to a black and 
white printer, and there's no trailer on the vehicle, and 
unrortunately the sign doesn't clearly show the loading 
zone sign, but the prosecution are instructed to proceed 
with the prosecution or the matter. 

HER HONOUR: Mr Maresch, have you had a look at the 
photos? No trailer. 

MR MARESCH: Yeah, I've had a look at the photos, your 
Worship, but 

HER HONOUR: know, but there's no trai ler there. Let's 
not go to the trailer excuse ror being in a loading zone. 

.9/10109 3 P MARESCH 
TranSCript produced by MerriJl Legal Solutions 

rJ03 



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

. '-" 17 . 
( 18 

19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

MR MARESCH: I obj ect to the actua I cond i t i on of the 
photos on the basis that they don't --

HER HONOUR: No, it's not (indistinct). I mean, I was not 
going to list it for hearing until we found out what the 
situation was. That's the only reason, because if the 
trailer was there, the sergeant has power to withdraw it 
without you having to come back, okay? 

MR MARESCH: Yep. 

HER HONOUR: She's got the photographs. They're not in 
colour. She hasn't spoken to the officer who issued the 
ticket, and the photographs don't show the sign. That 
office~ is able on a hearing to give evidence of where the 
sign is. 

MR MARESCH: Yep. 

HER HONOUR: But that photograph clearly shows there's no 
trai ler, okay, so your defence using trai ler is not going 
to go - take you very far, okay? So really, I wanted you 
to come to court to tel I me what is your defence. You've 
done that, and it appears that the prosecution evidence is 
there was no trai ler attached to it,okay? 

MR MARESCH: Okay. 

HER HONOUR: So if your vehicle i~ parked there as a sedan 
in the loading zone, you wi I I be found guilty, okay? 

MR MARESCH: Yeah. 

HER HONOUR: So what do you want to do? Plead gui Ity now 
with an explanation as to why you blatantly parked your 
sedan in that loading zone or what? . 

MR MARESCH: We I I, you've - I can see - I can see where 
you're leading, but --

HER HONOUR: 
okay? 

MR MARESCH: 

HER HONOUR: 

.9/10/09 

It's an offence of str i ct I i ab iIi ty, sir, 

Yes. 

You are not a lawyer, okay? 
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Yes, I realise that. 

4 HER HONOUR: And I've had a gutful of people such as 
5 yourself coming to this court pleading not gui Ity, having 
6 hearings and getting found guilty as soon as they open 
7 their mouth. That incurs costs on the community having the 
8 officers here, court time taken up, so that's why I wanted 
9 you to come today to give me your explanation as to why you 

10 are pleading not guilty. 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 

MR MARESCH: 

HER HONOUR: 
Okay? 

MR MARESCH: 

With respect, your Honour --

Just listen to me. I haven't finished yet. 

Yes. 

19 HER HONOUR: lam trying to save you time. If the matter 
20 is set down for hearing and you're found gui Ity after all 
21 the evidence is given, the fine will be far greater than it 
22 was issued to you by the officer, okay? I can fine you up 
23 to $2,200. The fact that you have got a particular view is 
24 your own business, okay? I'm trying to assist you because. 
25 you haven't got any legal representation. I'm not going to 
26 list the matter for hearing unless there's a val id defence. 
27 That's what you have' to I d me - "I had a tra i I er attached." 
28 The prosecution have obtained the photograph which clearly 
29 shows no trailer, so that defence may not be available to 
30 you. You have now had an option of seeing that photograph 
31 which may refresh your memory as to the circumstances of 
32 you being in that position on the 21st of Apri I. If you 
33 wish to plead guilty, I can deal with it now. If you wish 
34 to plead not gu i I ty and subsequent I y found gu i I ty, it may 
35 be well and truly a lot bigger fine. I don't know. 
36 
37 MR MARESCH: 
38 Worship? 
39 
40 
41 

HER HONOUR: 

And will you be hearing the matter, your 

Yes, I will. 

42 MR MARESCH: Well, I guess I might as well plead gui Ity, 
43 then, . you know. 
44 
45 
46 
47 

HER HONOUR: 

MR MARESCH: 

.9/10/09 

You're only pleading guilty--

With respect to your Honour, you know, you 
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might have had a gutrul, using your words, or people coming 
and pleading not guilty, but you haven't seen those photos, 
you weren't in the car. 

HER HONOUR: 
manage --

MR MARESCH: 

'HER HONOUR: 

MR MARESCH: 

HER HONOUR: 

I don't need to see them. I'm just try i ng to 

Exactly. 

-- the court time, sir 

Yes. 

-- which need to do. 

MR MARESCH: We I I 

HER HONOUR: Shut - be quiet, please. I need to manage 
court time because we are I isting matters into end or 
February, many months down the track and I'm try i ng to 
br i ng that back and ensure that those matters listed ror 
hearing are genuine pleas or guilty, pleas or not gui Ity 
arter people have had appropriate legal advice. A lot or 
people such as yourselr come berore the court thinking --

MR MARESCH: Such as myselT? 

HER HONOUR: -- pleading not guilty. 

MR MARESCH: Such as myselr? 

HER HONOUR: It's all a question - don't interrupt me. 

MR MARESCH: You don't know me. You don't know me. 

HER HONOUR: . Don't interrupt me, otherw i se you will wa it 
unti I arter do the other hearing, okay? Do not interrupt 
me again, thank you .. 

MR MARESCH: Well, I --

HER HONOUR: I'm trying to assist you. You can wait. 

MR MARESCH: (Indistinct) With respect 

HER HONOUR: You can wait. You can wait. You are showing 
no respect to me. I'm trying to assist, sir, and get you 
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out of here instead"of incurring further costs for 
yourse I f -:. 

MR MARESCH: Yes. 

HER HONOUR: -- if you are subsequently found gui Ity after 
pleading not gui Ity. 

MR MARESCH: In the process you insult me without even 
knowing me, okay. 

HER HONOUR: Sir, you show respect to the court, otherwise 
you wil I be held in contempt. 

MR MARESCH: I'm here and I'm showing respect --

HER HONOUR: No, you're not. 

MR MARESCH: -- but I'm being told you've had a gutful of 
peop I'e like me, a II right. That's what you're say i ng -
you've had a gutful of people I ike me without even knowing 
me. 

HER HONOUR: I've requested you not to interrupt and you 
keep interrupting. If you're going to interrupt anymore I 
wi II wa i t unt i I the end of the hear i ng, okay. What do you 
want to do, plead gui Ity with an explanation or what? 

MR MARESCH: We", if you're handl ing the matter, your 
Worship, I'll plead gui Ity, okay. 

HER HONOUR: 
wish to --

MR MARESCH: 

HER HONOUR: 

MR MARESCH: 
gUi Ity. 

You do it on your own vol ition, sir. Do you 

No, I don't. 

-- plead guilty with an explanation? . 

I'm dOing it under duress and 1'1 I plead 

HER HONOUR: You're making a joke of this. The matter 
wil I be set down for hearing on the 8th of December before 
me. 8th of December at 10am. 

MR MARESCH: I plead gui Ity: 
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1 HER HONOUR: No, I'm not go i ng to accept your plea on that 
2 basis, sir: You're not going to hold me to ransom. The 
3 matter will be listed ror hearing berore the court. The 
4 court record has indicated what you've said, sir. There is 
5 no pOint laughing and shaking your head --
6 
7 MR MARESCH: Oh, dear. 
8 
9 HER HONOUR: saying" I am going to wish to plead gui Ity 

10 under duress"; I wi I I not accept a plea or gu i I ty on those 
11 circumstances. The matter will be dealt with as a hearing 
12 on Tuesday, the 8th or December at 10am. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

MR MARESCH: Oh dear, oh dear, oh dear. 

HER HONOUR: Be here by 10 o'clock, thank you. The court 
record wi II note that he's just gone orr mumbl ing under his 
breath. 

000 
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• 
IN THE MATTER OF 

JUDICIAL OFFICERS ACT 1986 

IN THE CONDUCT DIVISION OF 

THE JUDICIAL COMMISSION OF NSW 

IN THE MATTER OF JENNIFER BETTS 

MAGISTRATE OF THE LOCAL COURT OF NSW 

PARTICULARS OF COMPLAINT 

A. MR CASTLE 

The following complaint is made about the behaviour of the Judicial Officer, Ms Betts while 
acting in the course of her duties at Ryde Local Court on 26 June 2009. 

Pre judgement 

1. The Judicial Officer pre-judged the matter in which Mr Castle was solicitor for the 
defendant. 

Particulars: 

a. At the commencement of the hearing and prior to hearing any evidence or 
submissions, the Judicial Officer prejudged the nature of that evidence and 
submissions: 

MR CASTLE: Ah, Madam, my client does have fairly pressing reasons 
- reasons for a licence. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Won't do it - where she does a traffic attendance in the 
program 15 times. Won't get it. Okay. It makes a 
mockery of the demerit point system if young people 
especially (indistinct) think because they need to get to 
university or school, or whatever; public transport is 
here, available. 

MR CASTLE: University and work, your Honour. 

THE MAGISTRATE: So what? We all do. Okay . . (T2:34-46) 

b. During an early exchange with Mr Castle, the Judicial Officer prejudged the 
nature of that evidence and submissions: 

THE MAGISTRATE: Don't talk to me when I'm talking to you, okay? Double 
demerit pOints are well advertised. But two times your 
client has been caught exceeding the speed limit 
on a provisional 2 licence. Does she want to kill 
somebody? 

./ 
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MR CASTLE: Um -

THE MAGISTRATE: The two (indistinct) one of those is a double demerit 
pOints period. ·So what" is what I am going to say to 
her when she gets in the witness box. 

MR CASTLE: She heard -

THE MAGISTRATE: She will need to explain to me why she blatantly 
committed those two offences and disregarded her 
need for a licence, because that's exactly what she has 
done. (T3:23-40) 

c. When questioning the defendant, the Judicial Officer revealed she had formed 
a view of the defendant's evidence, prior to hearing all the evidence. 

THE MAGISTRATE: 97 in an 80 is what the camera got you at, okay. Those 
signs clearly say 80. Did you see the signs? 

DEFENDANT: I don't know. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Of course you didn't. You don't know that you saw the 
signs? You have to establish evidence to my 
satisfaction that you are a fit and proper person to have 
a licence. The explanation for this does not cut it, okay? 

DEFENDANT: Okay. (T5:30-38) 

THE MAGISTRATE: You are the one who has lodged an appeal. You have 
to establish that you are a fit and proper person to have 
your licence restored to you. . 

DEFENDANT: I am a fit and proper person. 

THE MAGISTRATE: No, you're not. I'm saying (Indistinct) on one offence, 
okay. You've got two speeding offences within a month 
of one another. 

DEFENDANT: Okay. 

THE MAGISTRATE: That's very poor, isn't it? Okay. 

DEFENDANT: I don't believe so. (T6:17-28) 

d. The Judicial Officer did not accept the tender of testimonials and decided the 
matter without giving the defendant a reasonable opportunity at a later time to 
tender those documents (see T4:8-14) 

Use of intemperate language 

2. The Judicial Officer used intemperate language to the defendant while questioning 
her. 

Particulars 

a. THE MAGISTRATE: That's half a kilometre. You've got no idea about the 
road rules, do you, ma'am? You've got no idea that your 
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responsibility is to ensure that you and only you comply 
with the road rules when you are behind the wheel of 
your car. (T7:33-37) 

THE MAGISTRATE: They are there, ma'am, okay, and you are the one who 
has got the speedometer right in front of you. You don't 
seem to want to look at it. You've got evety excuse 
under the sun. You're responsible for these two - two 
offences; nobody else. (T8:3-7) 

DEFENDANT: I do spend a lot of time in the Hills district. That's where 
my fiance lives. Were planning on getting married. 
(T9:16-18) 

THE MAGISTRATE: Big deal, is what I'm going to say to you, okay. I'm 
playing the devil's advocate here, because the 
community have a right just as much as you do in 
relation to your appeal. They want me to consider 
carefully what you are saying to me, not have somebody 
who willingly, knowingly commit two speeding offences 
within a month to be back on the streets driving because 
she lives at Linley Point and works at Gladesville. No, 
sorty. That may be a bit inconvenient to get a bus early 
in the morning; make other alternative arrangements. 
Boyfriend can then come over to see you. 

DEFENDANT: I also have-

THE MAGISTRATE: Big deal. It's three months. (T9:43 - T1 0:9) 

d. Particulars 1(b) are repeated. 

Bullying 

3. The judicial Officer was rude, offensive and bullied the defendant while she was 
giving evidence. 

Particulars: 

a. THE MAGISTRATE: Once again it's another difficulty you have created for 
yourself. Why do we have a demerit point system, 
ma'am? You tell me. 

DEFENDANT: To ensure - well, I think first of all most - it's a revenue 
raising thing, but to make sure -

THE MAGISTRATE: No, no, no. Exactly. Mr Castle has put his head in his 
hand. That's a disgusting response. That is the 
newspaper response, okay. You've committed two 
offences. Why shouldn't you pay a fine for committing 
those two offences -

DEFENDANT: I agree-
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THE MAGISTRATE: Shut-up, please, ma'am. I'm going to talk to yo/.{ now and 

you listen hard. That response is another black mark 
against you, okay - "Revenue raising". That is the most 
ridiculous thing any person can say to anybody else. All 
right? ... I will tell you. It's pretty simple. To act as some 
sort of checking mechanism for all of us to ensure that 
we keep to the road rules when we are behind the wheel 
of a car, to make sure we're going to be safe drivers, 
and if we're not safe drivers, if we inadvertently are not 
concentrating and have one offence, we'll have three 
points deducted, or whatever the paints are. And then 
we know "Okay, for me I've got nine more to go. I must 
make sure - my licence is very important to me. I must 
make sure I do not lose it. But more importantly, I don't 
want to kill somebody out there on the road." That's the 
reason why we have demerit points, okay. Do you 
understand now? Forget about revenue raising; that's a 
disgusting response. Gee, if I had the power to increase 
it, I would. Three months' inconvenience, and you think 
you're god's gift, do you? 

DEFENDANT: No, I don't. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Why are you here wasting my time, because that's 
exactly what you are doing. You've got no idea. You 
have clearly demonstrated that by your own answers 
you've got no idea why we have road rules. You seem 
to think you're exceptional. You're not. 

DEFENDANT: I don't. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Your explanations are pitiful. I don't mean to embarrass 
you, but they are pitiful, and that answer there, I think 
everybody was thinking "My god, what is this young lady 
doing? Putting herself deeper and deeper in a ditch?" 
Exactly you dont. Okay, So you work at Gladesville. 
You live at Linley Point, so that's not a massive journey. 
Okay, church commitments; unfortunately other people 
are going to have to help you out there. You don't 
deserve to be on the road. And hopefully you are going 
to learn how important your licence is to you, which 
obviously you didn't think about on 14 March when you 
had your cruise control on going through the Eastern 
Distributor, or did you, on Victoria Road at Rydalmere, 
think about the consequences of the possibility of lOSing 
your licence? Double demerit points. You were aware of 
that. It was Easter time. 

DEFENDANT: (Indistinct). 

THE MAGISTRATE: You are a very, very foolish young lady. If you don't get 
the message now, after today, you never will. Do you 
understand where I'm' coming from? 

DEFENDANT: I do. Yes, I do. (T1 0: 17 - T11 :32) 

b. THE MAGISTRATE: Shut your mouth because I don't think it's going to do 
any good. Mr Castle is really aiming for you to be quiet. 
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You have your own views on that. The speed cameras 
are there. They do pick up people who offend who 
breach the law. (T12:34-38) 

c. The following exchange occurred between the Judicial Officer and the 
defendant in which the Judicial Officer bullied the defendant by implying that 
she could not be trusted not to drive her car. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Ms Cooper, where did you park your car? We'll escort 
you to make sure you don't drive it. (T15:13-14) 

Not permitting an adequate opportunity to make submissions 

4. The Judicial Officer did not permit the defendanfs solicitor an adequate opportunity to 
make submissions. 

Particulars: 

a. MRCASTLE: -- I'd like you to take into account, your Honour, that 
my client has held a licence for two years. She's had 
two offences. They were both committed-

THE MAGISTRATE: In a month. Within a month. 

MRCASTLE: - committed in close proximity of each other - and --

THE MAGISTRATE: And the explanation is given. 

MRCASTLE: - I'd ask you to accept they are an aberration. 

THE MAGISTRATE: No, they weren't. 

MR CASTLE: 

THE MAGISTRATE: 

MR CASTLE: 

Your Honour, you've-

Oh, Mr Cast/e, really. I know you are doing your job. 
They are not an aberration. You heard your client's own 
evidence in relation to them. "Cruise control'~ "didn't 
even notice it was an 80 zone". 

Your Honour has come to the conclusion that my client 
is not a fit and responsible person to hold a licence, 
your Honour. My client did - has offered and sought to 
participate in the traffic re-offenders program. 
(T13:21 - T14: 1) 

The hearing was not conducted fairly 

5. The Judicial Officer did not conduct the hearing fairly. 

The following particulars are repeated: 

1(a), (b), (c), (d) 
2(a), (b), (c) 
3(a), (b), (c) 
4(a) 
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B. MR MARESCH 

The fol/owing complaint is made about the behaviour of the Judicial Officer while acting in the 
course of her duties at Ryde Local Court on 9 October 2009. 

Pre judgement 

1. Prior to viewing the evidence and after hearing of the existence of photographs from 
the police prosecutor, the Judicial Officer pre-judged the evidence: 

a. THE MAGISTRATE: I know, but there's no trailer there. Let's not go to the 

b. 

trailer excuse for being in a loading zone. 
MR MARESCH: I object to the actual condition of the photos on the basis 

that they don't -

THE MAGISTRATE: But that photograph clearly shows there's no trailer, 
okay, so your defence using trailer is not going to go -
take you very far, okay? So really,' I wanted you to 
come to court to tell me what is your defence. You've 
done that, and it appears that the prosecution evidence 
is there was no trailer attached to it, okay? 

MR MARESCH: Okay. 

THE MAGISTRATE: So if your vehicle is parked there as a sedan in the 
loading zone, you will be found guilty, okay? 

MR MARESCH: Yeah. 

THE MAGISTRATE: So what do you want to do? Plead guilty now with an 
explanation as to why you blatantly parked your sedan 
in that loading zone or what? (T 4:21-37) 

THE MAGISTRATE: And I've had a gutful of people such as yourself coming 
to this court pleading not guilty, having hearings and 
getting found guilty as soon as they open their mouth. 
That incurs costs on the community having the officers 
here, court time taken up, so that's why I wanted you to 
come today to give me your explanation as to why you 
are pleading not guilty. (TS:4-10) 

c. THE MAGISTRATE: Shut - be quiet, please. I need to manage court time 

MR MARESCH: 

because we are listing matters into end of February, 
many months down the track and I'm trying to bring that 
back and ensure that those matters listed for hearing are 
. genuine pleas of guilty, pleas of not guilty after people 
have had appropriate Jegal advice. A lot of people such 
as yourself come before the court thinking -

Such asmyself? 

THE MAGISTRATE: - pleading not guilty. 

MR MARESCH: Such as myself? . 

THE MAGISTRATE: It's all a question - don't interrupt me. 

MRMARESCH: You don't know me. You don't know me. (T6:18-34) 
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Use of intemperate language 

2. The Judicial Officer used intemperate language to the defendant. 

a. Particulars 1(b) and 1(c) are repeated. 

3. Without justification, the Judicial Officer threatened the defendant with, firstly, having 
to wait for his matter to be heard, and secondly, with contempt. 

a. THE MAGISTRATE: Don't interrupt me, otherwise you will wait until after I do 

MR MARESCH: 

the other hearing, okay? Do not interrupt me again, 
thank you. 

Well,l-

THE MAGISTRATE: I'm trying to assist you. You can wait. 

MRMARESCH: (Indistinct) With respect -

THE MAGISTRATE: You' can wait. You can wait. You are showing no 
respect to me. I'm trying to assist,. sir, and get you out 
of here instead of incurring further costs for yourself -

MR MARESCH: Yes. 

THE MAGISTRATE: - if you are subsequently found guilty after pleading not 
guilty. 

MR MARESCH: In the process you insult me without even knowing me, 
Okay. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Sir, you show respect to the court, otherwise you will be 
held in contempt. 

MR MARESCH: I'm here and I'm showing respect -

THE MAGISTRATE: No, you're not. 

MR MARESCH: - but I'm being told you've had a gutful of people like 
me, all right. That's what you're saying - you've had a 
gutful of people like me without even knowing me. 
(T6:36 - T7:22) 

The hearing was not conducted fairly 

4. The Judicial Officer did not conduct the hearing fairly. 

The following particulars are repeated: 
1(a), (b), (c) 
2(a) 
3(a) 

C. MS PASSAS/MR O'REGAN 

The following complaint is made about the behaviour of the Judicial Officer while acting in the 
course of her duties at the Burwood Local Court on 15 August 2003. 

, 
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Use of intemperate language 

1. During the hearing, the Judicial Officer made intemperate comments to the parties. 

a. MS PASSAS: What is happening here, your Worship? I do not 
understand this. Why have the police washed their 
hands of the issue? They initially-

THE MAGISTRATE: Probably because they've got better things to do, Mrs 
Passas. (T5:32-37) 

b. THE MAGISTRATE: Look, I'm not here to answer your questions. This is 
not a government forum; okay? (T5:47 - T6:1) 

c. THE MAGISTRATE: Look, there's no votes to be gained by making your 

d. 

little speech from your platform there, ma'am. 

THE DEFENDANT: Your Worship, I'm not given the opportunity to show 
what I have. I'm led to believe the police took out the 
A va. Now, I have legal representatives here -

THE MAGISTRATE: I have not. dealt with the matter, ma'am. Do you wish 
to hear me further or do you wish to make another 
political statement? 

THE DEFENDANT: It's not a political statement, your Worship. I have-

THE MAGISTRATE: If you want to whinge, you whinge outside. I've got 
many people here 1 have to deal with -

THE DEFENDANT: Well, this is why 1-

THE MAGISTRATE: I resent spending one more second on your matter. 
You have not outlined sufficient grounds, no change of 
circumstances. 

THE DEFENDANT: I'm not an experienced legal person -

THE MAGISTRATE: The application is revoked. 

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, your Worship. 

THE MAGISTRATE: The application is dismissed to revoke. I'm not 
satisfied there's any change of circumstances being 

. outlined. . 

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, your Worship, but you will not give me the 
chance to ask why it was taken out or to show you 
proof that this woman has no fear? 

THE MAGISTRATE: Ma'am, get out ofthis courtroom, ma'am, please. It's 
not my function to do all that; okay? (T7:2-41) 

MR O'REGAN: You've been denied justice. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Sir, you just come back here, thank you, sir. 

MR O'REGAN: Yeah,l'1f come back. 
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THE MAGISTRATE: Who are you? Who are you, sir? 

MR O'REGAN: My name is Jack O'Regan. 

THE MAGISTRATE: And what did you just say to me? 

MR O'REGAN: And I'm disgusted to see the way that lady has been 
treated. She came here to present a case on her own. 
She got no help and she (indistinct) -

THE MAGISTRATE: Sir, I suggest that before anybody comes to this court, 
they get appropriate legal advice in relation to what 
they're dOing. 

MR O'REGAN: I beg your pardon? 

THE MAGISTRATE: You have no legal training, I take it? 

MRO'REGAN: No which? 

THE MAGISTRATE: You have no legal training? 

MR O'REGAN: . No, that's true, but I have a good sense of justice. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Well, make sure you get your facts right in relation to it. 
The matter has been determined because there's no 
proper ground as in accordance with the legislation. 
Your friend-

THE DEFENDANT: You haven't allowed the grounds to be submitted. 

MR O'REGAN: But may I just say this: please give me one -

THE MAGISTRATE: Go downstairs. Get somebody downstairs to -

MR O'REGAN: I apologise, just give me one minute. 

THE MAGISTRATE: -- try and explain to these people who are holding up 
this court. Otherwise I'll have you both charged with 
contempt of this court. Ian, take them downstairs, get -
get somebody downstairs to explain it to them. (T8:1 -
T9:5) 

D. MRFARAGO 

The following complaint is made about the behaviour of the Judicial Officer while acting in the 
course of her duties at the Ryde Local Court on 22 June 2007. 

Discourtesy 

1. The Judicial Officer was discourteous to the defendant in relation to the provision of 
authorities. 

Particulars 

a. THE MAGISTRATE: The matter was adjourned for today. Legal argument 
was foreshadowed in relation to the question of "road­
related area". I requested that any submission to be 
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relied upon to be forwarded to the court well before 
today. I don't consider 1.34 yesterday being well before 
today. 

I don't remember you saying "well before today", your 
Honour. You asked for-

THE MAGISTRATE: Well, let's (indistinct) I sat till quarter past 5yesterday. 

MR FARAGO: Yeah. 
THE MAGISTRATE: Okay? 

MR FARAGO: Well, in fact the reason it wasn't sent earlier was that I 
mistakenly -

THE MAGISTRATE: And nothing was sent to the prosecution at all? 

MR FARAGO: No, that's correct. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Well, why not? 

MR FARAGO: Well, I've got copies for the prosecutor. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Yeah, I know, but do you expect her to spend time today 
when she's got another hearing as well? It's just general 
courtesy. This has been foreshadowed since 

MRFARAGO: 

1 June. It's been from the outset "road-related area ", 
being the car park at the vet's shop allegedly. I don't 
know. I haven't seen any facts, but, you know, that's 
been foreshadowed, and I get this when I leave last 
night, took it home, read it in my own time. ' 
The prosecutor was handed a copy by me at 11.30, 
because she hadn't heard anything, and no doubt you're 
going to expect me to make a ruling on it. Buckley's and 
none, I can tell you now. It's not good enough -
professional courtesies. (T1: 1 -42) 

But, the authorities would normally get handed up at the 
hearing, your Honour. You asked for them earlier than 
that. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Yes, I know. I asked for them so we could try and save 
time today because I am not a machine. I work every 
day. 9.30, I started today. When am I supposed to 
consider this if you fax it through yesterday at 1.30? 
And I sat to quarter past 5 last night? When is the 
prosecution going to have time'to consider what you've 
written if you're going to throw it in front of her face at 12 
o'clock today? Not at all. So I'm asking any practitioner, 
if they're going to rely on law, to give the courtesy to the 
court and to the other side, whoever it is; likewise the 
prosecution, if they're relying on any legal argument, to 
provide the court with a copy and the other side well 
before the hearing date so court time does not need to 
be taken up with being off the bench in my chambers for 
five hours; okay? That's the point I was making. 
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MRFARAGO: I was trying to explain to you that -

THE MAGISTRATE: This matter will be stood down until I can deal with the 
other matter. 

MR FARAGO: Can I just explain why it was as lilfe as it was? I did try 
to explain that to you. 

THE MAGISTRATE: No, there's no need. I'm going to start the other matter 
because it has priority. It's an earlier offence. We well 
get to your case whenever we can, Mr Farago. 

MR FARAGO: . Not before 2 o'clock. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Not before, I can safely say, 2 o'clock, thank you. 

MRFARAGO: Thank you. (T3:2-40) 

The JUdicial Officer was discourteous to the defendant's solicitor when he made 
submissions. 

Particulars: 

a. THE MAGISTRATE: That's not what I'm worried about here, "public place" in 

MR FARAGO: 

the Motor Traffic Act down in the ACT. It's talking about 
''public place" means "an off-street parking area", blah, 
blah, blah. It's a completely different conversation, 
completely different. 

Well, I don't think it's completely different, but-

THE MAGISTRATE: It is. 

MR FARAGO: -- if you're of that view, 1-

THE MAGISTRATE: It is. We~e falking about '~oad-related area meaning", 
meaning that: It is not a road that is open to or used by 
the public for driving, riding or parking vehicles. 

MRFARAGO: Parking vehicles. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Isn't that what the carpark to the vet's is, a carpark used 
by the public for parking vehicles? Are they exclusive 
persons that are parking in the carpark of the Riverview 
vet hospital? That's really what you should be focusing. 
on, Mr Farago, because that's what the authorities are 
tending to suggest. 

MRFARAGO: The case that does deal with that very section is the 
Court of Appeal case Ryan v the Nominal Defendant, 
and that deals with this issue at some length. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Once again it's not looking at the same authority; it's 
looking at the civil - the Compensation Act or something. 

MR FARAGO: The wording, as far as I can see, is--
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THE MAGISTRATE: The Motor Accidents Compensation Act and the Motor 

Accidents Act, one of them is identical and one of them 
is not. Under the Motor Accidents Act "road" is the 
same definition. It means: An area that is opened to or 
used by the public and is developed for, and has as one 
of its main uses the driving or riding of motor vehicles. 
And really it's "road-related area" that we~e concerned 
with here and the definition under that Act is in identical 
terms to section 3 of the Road Transport (General) Act, 
which is the law that I need to worry about. 

MR FARAGO: Yes. What I think that that case shows is that these 
cases need to be determined on their particular facts 
and the particular facts are different. Perhaps if I 
could read from "Traffic Offences and Accidents", which 
is-

THE MAGISTRATE: A textbook? 

MR FARAGO: Yes. This is what it has to say about this question of 
carparks. It says: In ordinary parlance, few motorists -

THE MAGISTRATE: Well, let's get on to that. When was it written? Who is it 
written by and what is it talking about, because I 
understand that that's talking about legislation in other 
states as well as New South Wales? 

MR FARAGO: It's dealing with the issue that in circumstances where 
the legislation in other states --

THE MAGISTRATE: You're quoting fourth edition, University of Sydney 
library. When was it printed? It doesn't say, on what 
you provided to me. 

MR FARAGO: It's the most current edition that's available. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Fourth edition; I don't know when it was printed. It may 
have been printed in 1910. 

MRFARAGO: I can't say the exact date of its publication but it's the 
current edition that's available. 

THE MAGISTRATE: It may be a current edition, but is it current in relation to 
the current law? That's the problem. 

MRFARAGO: Well, I think, yeah, it is by implication. 

THE MAGISTRATE: No, not - no, it is not a question of saying "I think it is"-

MR FARAGO: I can't prove that, your Honour. You seem to be so 
against me with this that I'm --

THE MAGISTRATE: No, I'm not. I'm suggesting if you~e going to make 
submissions to the court, you make sure, if you're going 
to quote stuff, you get it right. Number 2, if you~e going 
to send up copies of textbooks, to ensure that it is valid 
for today's law. 

201000223 02011/97347 
'. 



, , 

DATED: 

() 

( , 

13 
MRFARAGO: Yeah. 

THE MAGISTRATE: Not just hand up photocopies of the front page and then 
the pages in between; okay? 

MR FARAGO: . Yeah, yeah. 

THE MAGISTRATE: I'm not going to do the homework for you sir. I don't 
have the time. 

,-
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